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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BV R SR

Mr. LI Yang =[5 £ &£

Chairman and executive Director

ETRRATES

Dear Shareholders and Partners,

In 2024, the second full year since the listing of Beauty Farm Medical
and Health Industry Inc. (2373.HK), we sustained our robust growth
trajectory, continued to lead industry consolidation, and further
expanded our market share. We navigated the evolving capital
markets with agility throughout the year, steadily gaining recognition
from the investment community following our initial year of market
adaptation post-listing. Supported by stellar operational results, we
proactively returned value to our shareholders while consistently
optimizing capital structure. The Company’s market capitalization
surged throughout 2024 despite industry headwinds, rising by an
impressive 60%, underscoring our healthy fundamentals and immense
potential.

As we embark on this new chapter, we stand prepared to take the
next leap, embracing fresh challenges and opportunities ahead.
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FOCUSING ON MEMBER VALUE, DELIVERING
EXCELLENCE IN “CRAFTSMANSHIP SERVICE"
PROGRAM

The "customer-centric” philosophy is at the heart of Beauty Farm'’s
mission. As the “Top Brand in Premium Beauty Services in China, ™%’
we are committed to defining “premium beauty services,” earning
market recognition through our signature “Beauty Farm Quality.”

To that end, we upgraded the "Craftsmanship Service” program,
striving to precisely capture our customers’ needs and meet their
expectations. Our goal is to deliver a thoughtful and attentive
experience at every service touchpoint. With women across China’s
top-tier cities facing the dual challenges of societal and family
expectations, we remain dedicated to serving as their partner in their
pursuit of beauty and health. We consistently track market dynamics
for deeper insights into modern women'’s evolving needs, taking the
lead in industry innovation and empowering women to express
themselves confidently. At the beginning of 2024, we identified a
growing demand among women for both “pain management” and
"body sculpting,” driven by today’s increasingly stressful lifestyles. To
address this demand, we reached a strategic cooperation with LPG of
France to exclusively develop a tailor-made LPG BF+ Program, once
the project was launched, it quickly exploded in the market, with 12
monthly sales exceeding 100 million.

Note 1: As measured by market share in 2023, the number of direct stores
as of June 2024, certified by Frost & Sullivan in July 2024 based

on its survey on China’s premium beauty services market.
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In 2024, we also achieved a major milestone in advancing our
medical expertise with our unique CellCare “two-category, five-tier
physician team training system.” This system has produced a
multi-disciplinary talent team consisting of over 90 senior physicians
and over 100 professional nursing and technical personnel, enabling
us to provide safe, natural, and premium aesthetic medical service
experiences for all our members. To deliver industry-leading medical
quality, we also developed a standardized “three-tier medical quality
control management system” comprising over 130 quality control
protocols, surpassing industry standards and strictly complying with
relevant requirements at every stage of our aesthetic medical services.

In our subhealth medical services, we identified profound and
growing demand among women for gynecological anti-aging solutions
and have focused on addressing this pain point while advancing
women'’s overall health care standards. We developed two core
offerings, functional medicine and our Women'’s Special Care Center,
to deliver comprehensive health management solutions tailored to
women'’s unique needs. After five years of dedicated research and
development, we are proud to announce that our Women's Special
Care Center has successfully developed a proprietary professional
gynecological anti-aging solution, which has garnered high acclaim
from customers. Furthermore, we are now expanding this solution
into a full-service product line. In 2024, revenue from our Women's
Special Care Center increased by more than 300% year-over-year.

2024%F  BMEBESEENERFTEANETER
BB o BIFTIEHHE T T CellCare[ MR A E
SEBIEERR]  BEE X HBINERE
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EEREBFREGIH  RASESBRIZEEF
MIMRERRBR R BLBEEPREH LB RN
HEEN MR BRKF AV ERTT - RPVBIBIRM I BEBE 22
B ER OMARZORE  BLUERERTM
MEFEEERASTR -ESBHNE KBLFHE
B ZMERERORINERT B T ENFEEER
NMRBATR IRHEEE2RIME BETER
FRERA 20245 » ZEBRAER WA R LLIE
£300% °
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CAPITALIZING ON KEY INDUSTRY
CONSOLIDATION OPPORTUNITIES

The beauty industry is currently undergoing a significant
transformation and realignment. Against this backdrop, Beauty Farm
has embraced an "agile adaptation” development strategy,
maximizing the golden opportunity of industry consolidation by
strategically shifting from a purely internal growth-driven approach to
a dual-engine model fueled by “internal growth and mergers and
acquisitions.”

In 2024, we reached a pivotal landmark in Beauty Farm’s M&A
journey with the complete acquisition of the Guangzhou Naturade
brand, making waves across the industry. With Naturade stores
seamlessly integrated into the Beauty Farm brand family, our business
rapidly expanded across key cities within China’s Greater Bay Area
and its surrounding regions, significantly strengthening the Group’s
market share and overall competitiveness in the health sector. This
strategic move drove the number of our stores to 554, further
consolidating our market leadership.

With the addition of the Naturade brand, we comprehensively
upgraded our business model from our previous “tri-beauty”
approach to a fully integrated, well-rounded “dual beauty + dual
wellness” model, which significantly expanded our traffic channels.
The newly acquired traffic is expected to synergize with our
value-added aesthetic medical services and subhealth medical services,
driving the Company’s growth to new heights. In the second half of
2024, we welcomed 233,000 client visits at Naturade's direct stores
and converted 34,000 of them to active Beauty Farm members,
contributing  RMB290 million in revenue to the Group. This
outstanding performance fully validated our exceptional capabilities in
large-scale acquisitions and consolidations.
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Looking ahead, we will continue to pursue opportunities for both
horizontal and vertical industry consolidation. To expand horizontally,
we will amplify our member base and increase our market share
within the beauty industry. Vertically, we will explore opportunities for
acquisitions or partnerships with upstream skincare brands and
enhance our brand strength. We remain committed to advancing our
strategic upgrade from purely internal growth to a dual-engine
approach fueled by “internal growth and mergers and acquisitions.”

EVOLVING FROM DIGITALIZATION TO
DATA-DRIVEN INTELLIGENCE

Over the past five years, Beauty Farm has invested hundreds of
millions of RMB in building its digital capabilities. Following our
evolution from |[T-based systems to digitalization and now to
data-driven intelligence, we are committed to reshaping our
traditional offline service franchise into a modern service franchise
powered by data-driven intelligence.

In our phase 1.0 (2016-2020) featuring IT-based systems, we built an
IT infrastructure platform tailored to Beauty Farm’s business
development needs. We constructed the underlying framework
necessary for the synergistic growth of multi-brand, multi-business
operations, enabling full integration of business and financial
management. In our digitalization phase 2.0 (2021-2024), we
developed our digital capabilities across customer digitalization,
business digitalization, and organization digitalization in line with the
Company’s strategic goals, holistically enhancing the Company’s core
competitiveness.

With the rapid development of Al technology, China is accelerating
the deep integration of Al into application scenarios across all
industries. Beauty Farm is entering our data-driven intelligence phase
3.0 this year, building on our long-accumulated digital strengths to
propel continuous business innovation and operating efficiency
enhancements.

Moving forward, we will focus on the innovative application of Al
technology in the field of “beauty and health.” As we drive the
development and implementation of smart beauty industry solutions
and optimize the Company’s operational decision-making mechanisms,
we will spearhead a new chapter in the digital and intelligent
upgrade of the beauty industry.
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CONSISTENTLY ENHANCING MARKET
CAPITALIZATION AND SHAREHOLDER
RETURNS

Since its IPO, Beauty Farm has not only achieved steady growth but
also consistently prioritized sharing the Company’s success with its
shareholders. The Company has adhered to a prudent cash dividend
policy, issuing high-ratio dividend payments in both years following its
listing.

To further enhance the Company’s market capitalization and
shareholder returns, the Group officially announced three strategic
initiatives in March 2025. First, with respect to rewarding shareholders
for their trust, the Company has established a long-term shareholder
return mechanism. The Company intends to distribute no less than
50% of the annual net profit attributable to the parent company’s
shareholders as dividends over the next three complete fiscal years,
meaningfully sharing the Company’s growth with shareholders.
Second, in terms of optimizing the shareholder structure, the
Company will continue to bring in long-term strategic investors,
focusing on increasing the proportion of outstanding shares and
boosting market trading activity, while building a healthier and more
diverse shareholder ecosystem. Third, regarding its management
incentive program, the Company will leverage its equity incentive plan
to align the management team’s interests with the Company’s
development. This program’s performance targets will cover both
future revenue growth and profit improvement over the next three
years, establishing a sustainable development mechanism that drives
the shared growth of management and shareholder value.

Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on both scaling and
profitability improvement, sharing the long-term benefits of the
Company’s growth with our shareholders. Meanwhile, we will
motivate and engage our team with a deep sense of purpose to
propel the Company’s ongoing progress.
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PREPARING FOR THE NEXT LEAP FORWARD IN
OUR JOURNEY

After an extraordinary 31 years in business, Beauty Farm stands at a
pivotal moment that transcends market cycles. | am confident that,
internally, we will continue to strengthen our core competitive edge
through consistent refinements. Meanwhile, we will remain keenly
attuned to the external opportunities of the times, boldly confronting
market headwinds to actively expand our market share. Guided by our
long-term vision, we remain deeply committed to fulfilling our
responsibilities as a publicly-listed company — delivering exceptional
beauty and health service experiences to our customers, generating
substantial returns for our shareholders, providing growth
opportunities for our employees, and creating long-term value for
society.

We have laid a solid foundation for inclusion in the Hong Kong Stock
Connect. A new journey unfolds before us, and we are poised for the
next leap.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Year ended December 31,

BZ1N2A3MBLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
202445 20234 20224 20214 20204F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTET ARBTT ARBTT AREBTRT

Revenue I ON 2,572,199 2,145,068 1,635,414 1,780,740 1,503,296
Gross profit EN 1,189,995 977,102 717,842 833,786 700,024
Gross profit margin EH=E 46.3% 45.6% 43.90% 46.80% 46.60%
Net profit pERlbE 252,478 230,139 110,532 208,341 152,185
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR¥T AR®ETT AR T AR T AR

Earnings per share BRAEN
— Basic — ®HR 0.99 0.94 0.52 0.97 0.76
— Diluted — #E 0.99 0.94 0.52 0.97 0.76

As of December 31,
®R12A318

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023%F 20224 20214 20204F
Total assets BEME 4,276,480 3,302,006 2,495,389 2,477,312 2,103,188
Total equity EHAE 975,240 834,233 203,109 262,536 140,708

Total liabilities BEEE 3,301,240 2,467,773 2,292,280 2,214,776 1,962,480
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, leveraging our 31-year legacy of steady operational success,
a highly influential public company brand, and long-term excellence in
customer relationship management, Beauty Farm adeptly navigated
economic cycles and industry consolidation trends, winning the loyalty
and trust of a wide range of users. Amid an evolving economic
environment, the Company embraced an “agile adaptation”
development strategy, propelling growth through a dual-engine
approach fueled by internal growth and external expansion. This
strategy has led to substantial progress in mergers and acquisitions
("M&A").

In the first half of 2024, Beauty Farm agreed to acquire a 70% stake
in the core assets of Naturade for RMB350 million and in the second
half of the year, we absorbed the remaining Naturade stores into its
network through a franchising model, achieving a comprehensive
brand integration and upgrade. This acquisition not only cemented a
powerful alliance between industry leaders but also marked a
milestone as Beauty Farm’s official foray into the wellness sector,
unlocking immense growth opportunities for the Company’s future
advancement. Naturade was officially consolidated into the Group's
financial statements in the second half of 2024. With the addition of
the Naturade brand, we upgraded our business model from our
previous “tri-beauty” approach to a fully integrated, well-rounded
"dual beauty + dual wellness” model. This transformation significantly
expanded our traffic channels, laying a strong foundation for growth
across our value-added services. The expected influx of new
customers will propel the Company’s revenue and profit growth,
driving steady improvements in performance.

We are committed to thoroughly understanding and meeting
customer needs, fostering strong and enduring customer relationships,
and enhancing customers’ trust in Beauty Farm. This, in turn,
translates into a loyal membership base. In 2024, Beauty Farm
welcomed 1.52 million client visits at direct stores, up 20.4%
year-over-year. The number of active members of our direct stores
surged to 137,027, an impressive increase of 46.3% year-over-year.
Driven by our business model’s distinct advantages, in 2024, 24.9%
of our beauty and wellness members purchased aesthetic medical
services or subhealth medical value-added services, of which, 28.7%
of premium beauty services members purchased value-added services,
reflecting a year-over-year increase of 3.7 percentage points in
penetration rate.

AND ANALYSIS

FHE R

2024%F - EEBABERENHBRELHREER
BEFENN ETAR@ME  UWREEPBENE
e gER BELBESEBHRETEEARE
BETRZRAPNEREERE - IRELERHRE
NERE [ERME ] REE - RERTREE
RESNERREH B R EHE R - LERE
HAG (OB )BEEG TEELER -

2024F FHF - XEHERENUARKEIS0EET
WERI R OEEMNTO%IIE - W T EF U
RREm AR BRI RRGBPIERMAET BHEM
EHEEESEAL - RKRBETERRTITESE
FEEENERES  EREBEARLERSZRE
¥BEEHMNERE  ARABKRKRERFARTEMEE
e 204F THF ST ERMARRGAE
K -BERmAREONA  BMOARTEEND
¥ER - BRENZEEX ] 2EARBEX+E
REINTEFEREX - E—2EBAAETREEA
O AEEEBHEITRENERER - EHMIE
REBFELSRARMKAEBFBERGE - REjE
BT Lo

BPBRORAARRTMEBERTH R BEEBEM
BANEBFPEAER HABETHETEHEEE #M
HARMMELESERE -2024F FEREE
HEEMEERIS2BEEALR  RLER204% °
BEEMEEREEAZRRBAZ137,027% F ALLEER
RiEL6.3% c IR MBENAERXES - 2024
Fr29%MERMRBECERBE TEEEAKD
REEEEERE  EP287%amERRENE
ERETIHAERY  2EERLEAITEESE -



-
¥

S

- F’

20245 EHEBEREREFXERAAF 13

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2024, the Company once again achieved record highs in both
revenue and profit. For the full year, total revenue amounted to
RMB2,572 million, an increase of 19.9% year-over-year. Our
cornerstone beauty and wellness services continued to gain
momentum with full-year revenue of RMB1,443 million, up 20.9%
year-over-year, laying the groundwork for vibrant growth in our
value-added services. Revenue from aesthetic medical services reached
RMB928 million throughout 2024, up 9.1% year-over-year. Notably,
our subhealth medical services emerged as a standout, with revenue
surging to RMB201 million, a remarkable increase of 98.9%
year-over-year. As our revenue steadily increased, the benefits of scale
became increasingly evident, driving our gross margin to 46.3%, a
0.7 percentage points year-over-year increase. Net profit increased by
9.7% year-over-year to RMB252 million. In 2024, the Company’s net
cash flow generated from operating activities reached RMB797
million, expanding 27.4% vyear-over-year. The total amount of cash
and cash-like items grew to RMB1,831 million, representing a net
increase of RMB257 million year-over-year. Our strong financial
performance and healthy cash flow provided us with the agility to
navigate evolving market dynamics, enabling us to actively pursue
strategic investments and expansion-driven consolidations.

To propel our store network expansion, we continued to execute our
effective dual-engine, internal growth and external expansion strategy.
Internally, we focused on increasing single-store revenue while
strategically opening new stores. Externally, we actively pursued
consolidation and expansion opportunities. As of December 31, 2024,
we operated 554 stores in total, including 275 direct stores, with a
net increase of 74 stores, and 279 franchised and managed stores,
with a net addition of 80 stores. These accomplishments not only
further solidify Beauty Farm’s market leadership but also highlight the
Company’s deepening penetration and expanding footprint in key
tier-one cities, such as Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, and Shenzhen.
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For the year ended December 31,
BZE12B31BLEE

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%

Beauty and Wellness Services ERNFREE R
— Direct stores — HEE 239 171
— Franchised stores — MEJE 276 199
Aesthetic Medical Services BEEARY 28 23
Subhealth Medical Services DR BERY 11 7
Total &5t 554 400
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For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LLFE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

Tier-one Cities — Rk T 165 93
New Tier-one Cities r—mmm 85 83
Others Hi 25 25
Total &5t 275 201

With the rise of women'’s social standing and economic power, female
consumption patterns are diversifying and evolving, accompanied by a
profound shift in consumer mindsets. Demand has shifted from
satisfying basic material needs to deeper emotional and spiritual
fulfillment. Female consumers increasingly prioritize the emotional
experience of “self-indulgence,” gravitating toward services and
experiences that align with their values and nurture emotional bonds.
Beauty Farm has captured this trend with a targeted approach that
deeply engages the high-level female market in China. By catering to
the full spectrum of our customers’ beauty and health needs, we have
meticulously curated a premium service experience that offers
exceptional value while exceeding women’s growing expectations.

Throughout 2024, our cornerstone beauty and wellness services
achieved steady growth despite challenging market conditions.
Internally, we increased single-store revenue, while externally, we
actively pursued M&A opportunities across the industry, notably
elevating the Group’s market share. In 2024, the Company acquired
Naturade, the Al-powered wellness brand, China’s second-largest
beauty services player by revenue. This acquisition meaningfully
deepened our penetration in the wellness sector and elevated our
“lifestyle beauty services” to a more comprehensive “beauty and
wellness services” category, unlocking new avenues for customer
acquisition and marking a pivotal milestone in Beauty Farm’s M&A

journey.

In 2024, our beauty and wellness services achieved revenue of
RMB1,443 million, an increase of 20.9% year-over-year. This notable
increase in revenue has come growing economies of scale. The gross
profit margin grew to 40.7%, an increase of 1.1 percentage points
year-over-year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The sustainable expansion of our customer base has been powered by
three key drivers: long-term membership management capabilities,
digital marketing expertise, and industry consolidation and acquisition
prowess. In 2024, the number of client visits to our beauty and
wellness services' direct stores totaled 1.4 million, up 19.5%
year-over-year. The number of active members of our direct beauty
and wellness stores reached 130,961, an increase of 44.8%
year-over-year. In 2024, the number of members of our franchised

SR o B A
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beauty and wellness stores soared to 61,447, up 57.9%
year-over-year.
For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Number of client visits of direct stores HEMERR 1,400,010 1,171,876
Number of active members of direct stores HE2MEETRE8 AHK 130,961 90,468

As the “Top Brand in Premium Beauty Services in China”" ' certified
by Frost & Sullivan, Beauty Farm is committed to defining “premium
beauty services.” In pursuit of this vision, we have established three
key strategic initiatives: dedicating to member value, delivering
excellence, and strengthening the brand influence. In 2025, the
Company will launch its “Craftsmanship Service” brand upgrade
program. Our restructured “Craftsmanship Service Process 2.0" will
integrate our accumulated professional expertise with sincere and
customer-centric values, setting new service benchmarks for the
industry. We are committed to delivering our premium service quality
to every customer, from their first visit to becoming their lifelong
beauty companion. Our full lifecycle quality, personal touch, and
genuine service, elevates Beauty Farm from a “premium choice” to

consumers’ “go-to brand.”

Note 1: As measured by market share in 2023, the number of direct stores

as of June 2024
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Women across China’s top-tier cities face the dual pressures from
work and family. Harnessing our profound insights into customer
needs, we have been driving industry transformation through
innovation, providing robust support for women'’s self-empowerment.
To that end, the Company launched a body wellness product suite in
2024. The Company has reached a strategic cooperation with LPG of
France, thus the LPG BF+ Program tailored for the customers of
Beauty Farm was launched on the International Women’s Day. This
program quickly captured market attention due to its notable effects.
Its first-year sales exceeded the RMB100 million milestone, emerging
as a phenomenal best-seller that significantly boosted customer
loyalty. To further enhance the professionalism of our beauty services,
we will deploy professional Al-powered skin diagnostic devices in all
of the Group’s beauty and wellness stores in 2025. By offering a
tech-driven, straightforward assessment of our customers’ skin needs,
these devices will provide scientific support for the development of
precise, personalized, integrated solutions for lifestyle beauty and
aesthetic medical services. Notably, Naturade, the Group’s premium
Al-powered wellness brand, was ranked by Frost & Sullivan as the

"Top Al-Powered Wellness Brand in China"™°®* 2 in May 2024.
Naturade has been deeply focused on traditional Chinese
medicine-based wellness services for eighteen years, creating a unique
technical system featuring “acupuncture without damaging the skin,
non-combustible moxibustion, pain-free gua sha, and highly effective
massage.” This system organically integrates traditional Chinese
medicine theories with modern technologies. In 2025, Naturade will
continue to solidify its four core project advantages while adding
three new specialized offerings to its traditional Chinese medicine
lineup: internal organ balancing, dampness-removal wellness, and qi
and blood harmonizing. These additions will further extend Naturade’s
product matrix, continuously expanding its leading edge in the
traditional Chinese medicine-based beauty and wellness market.

Note 2: As measured by the total number of visits (in 10,000 persons) for
testing, diagnostic and care services in mainland China provided
by direct stores under Al-Powered Wellness Brand from January

2023 to December 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since our cornerstone business currently stands as the only traffic
entry point for our “dual beauty + dual wellness” business model, we
have consistently prioritized improving customer acquisition efficiency.
In 2024, the number of new members in our beauty and wellness
services segment grew by 27.1% year-over-year, largely attributable to
the Company’s strong brand influence, superior digital marketing
capabilities, and outstanding industry acquisition and consolidation
capabilities. In 2024, we achieved breakthrough growth in digital
customer acquisition from online private domains. Through a mix of
private-domain strategies, including tiered marketing, referral-driven
growth, and livestreaming on WeChat Channels, the proportion of
new members of the Group (excluding Naturade) acquired from
private domains increased to 34%, effectively lowering customer
acquisition costs. In 2024, our average customer acquisition cost of
active members at direct stores decreased by 8.9% year-over-year. In
terms of public domains, we will further solidify our strategic
partnership with local lifestyle service platforms and actively expand
collaborations with e-commerce livestreaming key opinion leaders,
continuously expanding our customer touchpoints.

In 2024, competition in the aesthetic medical service industry further
intensified. On the upstream product front, continued capital injection
accelerated product approvals and enriched the product pipeline.
Consumers now have access to more diverse options, while aesthetic
medical service institutions have gained greater bargaining power.
Aesthetic medical service institutions consistently enhanced service
quality and efficiency by restructuring their refined operational
systems. Against this backdrop, leading brands, with their advantages
in scaled operations, high-precision customer acquisition capabilities,
and efficient business models, are driving an increasing concentration
of industry players.

Revenue from aesthetic medical services reached RMB928 million for
the full year 2024, up 9.1% year-over-year. The gross profit of
aesthetic medical services reached 52.3%. We upgraded our two
aesthetic medical clinics in Chengdu and Nanjing and integrated three
of Naturade’s aesthetic medical clinics in Guangzhou and Shenzhen
during the year. As of December 31, 2024, the number of the direct
aesthetic medical clinics was 25 and the number of the managed
clinics was 3.
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In 2024, the number of client visits at the direct stores of our
aesthetic medical services reached 90,612, up 26.2% year-over-year.
The number of active members served at our direct stores grew to
33,630, an increase of 37.4% year-over-year.

2024F - BEEREBHEZEMIERMR0,612 AR -
FRLLLER262% E2METREEH=ZET
33,6304 © AL K37.4% °

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Number of client visits of direct stores HEMERR 90,612 71,814
Number of active members of direct stores HEMETRE8 AHK 33,630 24,474

CellCare, our aesthetic medical brand, continued to lead the industry

with

its exceptional quality, premium aesthetic medical services.

Integrating the physicians’ ethos of care with advanced medical
technologies and our exclusive TimeSo “Differentiated Aesthetics”
philosophy, CellCare delighted customers with an emotionally

engaging, personal

service experience. This signature approach

consistently sets industry benchmarks for superior service. In 2024,
the Group made great strides in advancing its medical expertise,
creating the unique CellCare “two-category, five-tier physician team
training system.” This system has produced a multi-disciplinary talent
team, led by over 90 senior physicians and over 100 professional

nursing and technical personnel, providing safe,

reassuring, and

natural experiences for clients on their beauty journey. To ensure the

highest standards of medical

quality, we have developed a

standardized “three-tier medical quality control management system,”

implementing more than

130 quality control protocols, ensuring

above industry standards at every stage of execution. CellCare also
achieved notable results in terms of medical technology innovation,
expanding its patent portfolio to 58, a significant increase of 44

patents compared to last year,

position in the
technologies.

highlighting the brand’s leading
research and development of aesthetic medical

Embracing the philosophy of “Minor Tweaks, Major Transformations,”
we fully upgraded our TimeSo “Differentiated Aesthetics” system in
2024. Building upon eight years of diligent advancement, we
successfully addressed 150,000 customers’ beauty needs through our

commitment to

restoring women’s “innate beauty.” To ensure

premium service quality, we have consistently refined our service

processes and enriched membership benefits,

always striving to

provide a more thoughtful, emotionally engaging service experience
with a personal touch.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As part of our digital transformation, we officially launched the
CellCare self-developed aesthetic medical business management
system in May 2024. This system enabled seamless integration and
highly efficient collaboration across our businesses under the dual
beauty model, significantly enhancing operating efficiency at the store,
employee, and customer management levels. In December 2024, we
launched an aesthetic medical service mini-program featuring smarter
user analytics, laying a solid foundation for meeting the diversified
and highly personalized individual needs of customers.

The Group’s subhealth medical services focus on functional medicine
and gynecological anti-aging solutions. Currently, with this market still
in its infancy, we are strategically seizing opportunities to accelerate
our business expansion.

In 2024, the number of our subhealth medical service clinics
increased to 11. We successfully opened new clinics under the
Neology brand in Chengdu and Nanjing and strategically integrated
Naturade’s subhealth medical service resources, opening new clinics in
Guangzhou and Shenzhen. Client visits at our direct stores reached
27,079 client visits, up 62.5% year-over-year. The total number of
active members amounted to 7,552, surging by 80.2%
year-over-year, while the active member penetration rate from our
beauty and wellness direct stores improved to 6.1%, of which, the
penetration rate of subhealth medical services purchased by members
of premium beauty services reached 7.2%, up 2.8 percentage points
year-over-year. Fueled by the dual drivers of market momentum and
traffic growth, revenues from our subhealth medical services achieved
a substantial leap, reaching RMB201 million, a remarkable increase of
98.9% year-over-year. Gross profit margin reached 58.2%, a
significant increase of 11.5 percentage points year-over-year.
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For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LEFE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

Number of client visits of direct stores HEMERR 27,079 16,662
Number of active members of direct stores HEMETRZE A 7,552 4,191
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Turning to our product line development, we further advanced
innovation in 2024 by launching “Energy Drip,” a personalized
nutrition service matrix based on functional medicine. We significantly
expanded our product offerings from 6 to 31, spanning six key
categories, offering consumers a broader and more diverse range of
options. Meanwhile, we accelerated the penetration of our one-stop
gynecological anti-aging and wellness services through our Women's
Special Care Center. In 2024, revenue from our Women's Special Care
Center exceeded RMB100 million, increasing over 300%
year-over-year, with active members rising by more than 200%
year-over-year.

Confronted by macroeconomic headwinds and constrained capital
exits, China’s beauty industry is consolidating at an unprecedented
pace. 2024 marked a new era of industry consolidation and a pivotal
year for Beauty Farm as we elevated our industry consolidation
strategy to the Group level.

During the year, we successfully completed the acquisition of
Naturade and consolidated it into the Group's consolidated financial
statements, creating a powerful alliance between the two leading
brands in the beauty industry. With our exceptional operational
performance throughout the year, we once again demonstrated the
Group's robust post-acquisition integration capabilities. In the second
half of 2024, Naturade recorded 232,860 client visits at its direct
stores and 34,252 active members at our direct stores, contributing
RMB287.3 million in revenue to the Group. The post-integration
boost in Naturade's performance and efficiency was largely driven by
a notable increase in single-store revenue from our core Al-powered
wellness services, the full empowerment of value-added services, and
the effective synergies achieved through the consolidation of our
middle office departments.

Looking ahead, we will consistently advance our industry consolidation
initiatives, pursuing opportunities for both horizontal and vertical
consolidation. To expand horizontally, we will continue to drive
acquisitions within the beauty industry to amplify our member base,
increase our market share, and further leverage the benefits of
economies of scale. Vertically, we will explore opportunities for
acquisitions or partnerships with upstream skincare brands, aiming to
boost our beauty business’s gross profit margin, expand our franchise
business, and further enhance our brand influence, thereby solidifying
and increasing our market share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

After weathering market fluctuations in its first year of the Listing,
Beauty Farm achieved a powerful rebound and remarkable
transformation in 2024. Driven by stellar results, proactive shareholder
return strategies, and a consistently optimized capital structure, the
Company’s market capitalization surged throughout the year despite
industry headwinds, rising by an impressive 60%.

To further enhance the Company’s market capitalization and
shareholder returns, the Group officially announced three strategic
initiatives in March 2025. First, with respect to its shareholder return
commitment, the Company has established a long-term shareholder
return mechanism. In the absence of special circumstances, the
Company intents to distribute no less than 50% of the annual net
profit attributable to the parent company’s shareholders as dividends
over the next three complete fiscal years to meaningfully return the
Shareholders for their trust and share in the Company’s growth. For
further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
March 26, 2025. Second, in terms of optimizing the Shareholder
structure, the Company will continue to bring in long-term strategic
investors, focusing on increasing the proportion of outstanding shares
and boosting market trading activity, while building a healthier and
more diverse shareholder ecosystem. Third, regarding its long-term
management incentive program, the Company continues to leverage
its equity incentive plan in order to align the interests of the
management team with the Company’s development. The
performance metrics will cover both future revenue growth and profit
improvement over the next three vyears, establishing a sustainable
development mechanism that drives the shared growth of
management and shareholder value.

Looking ahead, we have mapped out our business objectives for the
next three vyears, prioritizing both scaling and profitability
improvement. Additionally, we have launched an equity incentive plan
closely tied to the interests of our management team, aiming to boost
the team’s motivation and sense of purpose while propelling the
Company to new heights.
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Strategically, we remain firmly committed to driving growth through a
dual-engine, internal growth and external expansion strategy, and we
will strive to further enhance this approach. Internally, we will focus
on developing four core capabilities — expanding customer base,
further refining operations, visionary product research and
development, and advancing digital capabilities — to comprehensively
increase single-store revenue and improve the Group’s overall
operating efficiency. Externally, we will leverage the integration of the
Naturade brand to build a framework for large-scale acquisitions and
integrations, accelerating the alignment of this segment’s net profit
margin with the Group’s overall standard and maximizing synergies.
Meanwhile, we will keenly observe market cycle shifts and seize
optimal opportunities for industry consolidation, actively pursuing both
horizontal and vertical M&A opportunities to build a strategic moat
for the Company’s long-term, sustainable advancement. In an era of
accelerating digital and intelligent transformation, we will make use of
the advantages we have accumulated through our long-term
investment in digitalisation to focus on the innovative application of
Al technology in the field of “beauty and health.” We aim to drive
the research and development of smart beauty industry solutions,
optimize the Company’s operational decision-making mechanisms, and
spearhead a new chapter in the digital and intelligent upgrade of the
beauty industry.

Our vigorous execution of these strategic initiatives, alongside the
enhancement of our market capitalization, will significantly bolster the
Group’s market appeal, setting the stage for achieving our milestone
goal for inclusion in the Hong Kong Stock Connect.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group generates revenue primarily from three service offerings
including beauty and wellness services, aesthetic medical services and
subhealth medical services. In 2024, the Group firmly executed its
business development strategy driven by both internal growth and
external expansion, and the Group’s revenue increased by 19.9%
from RMB2,145 million in 2023 to RMB2,572 million in 2024.
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BRI BERRREREBAROK GBS &
R AA T R A B 0T o EBCR(L IR E
KR RASHBEARABRFCAERNE
2 BEARMAEI SRR E AN ERS S A
o HBESXEXMRTENTEZL  BERA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by
service offerings for the periods indicated:

L o BT

TREFIAEBRN PR ARILIREEB 25 8 RA
R4

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31ALLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Percentage Percentage
Revenue of revenue Revenue  of revenue Change
WA WAL L WA WAt b=
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % %
AR¥T T % AR¥EFIT % %
Beauty and wellness services =& MR & iR 75 1,443,301 56.1 1,193,675 55.6 20.9
— Direct stores — B 1,305,745 50.8 1,079,866 50.3 20.9
— Premium beauty services —— &ifnEA RS 1,143,647 44.5 1,079,866 50.3 5.9
— Premium Al-Powered — I EEEESR
wellness services Rz %% 162,098 6.3 — —
— Franchisee and others — InEEnE Kk E A 137,556 5.3 113,809 5.3 20.9
Aesthetic medical services BEEEARY 927,917 36.1 850,356 39.7 9.1
Subhealth medical services TREBERYE 200,981 7.8 101,037 4.7 98.9
Total &5t 2,572,199 100.0 2,145,068 100.0 19.9
Note: ffE -

Premium beauty services are offered to customers by the Group’s beauty
service stores under the Beauty Farm brand and Palaispa brand. Premium Al-
Powered wellness services are offered to customers by the beauty service stores
under the Naturade brand.

Beauty and Wellness Services — Direct Stores

The Group’s revenue from beauty and wellness services of direct
stores increased by 20.9% from RMB1,080 million in 2023 to
RMB1,306 million in 2024. Among them, premium beauty services
bucked the trend of revenue growth by 5.9% from RMB1,080 million
in 2023 to RMB1,144 million in 2024 as a result of higher single-
store revenue. In addition, with the completion of the Group’s
acquisition of the Al-Powered wellness brand Naturade, China’s
second largest traditional beauty service player by revenue, the Group
further strengthened the expansion of its business footprint in the
wellness sector. Since July 2024, when Naturade was consolidated
into the Group, premium Al-Powered wellness services generated
revenue of RMB162 million.
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Beauty and wellness services — Franchisee and Others

The Group mainly sells care products, instruments and equipment and
consumables as well as operation support services, etc. to its
franchised stores. The revenue of the Group’s beauty and wellness
services generated from franchised stores and others increased from
RMB114 million in 2023 to RMB138 million in 2024, up 20.9% year-
over-year, primarily due to the Group’s integration of the remaining
69 stores of Naturade into its network under a franchise model in the
second half.

Aesthetic Medical Services

The Group's revenue from aesthetic medical services increased by
9.1% from RMB850 million in 2023 to RMB928 million in 2024,
primarily due to the growth in revenue from aesthetic medical
services as the increase in membership brought by internal growth
and external expansion strategy, the Group realized an increase in
penetration from beauty and wellness services to aesthetic medical
services through refinement of its operations, and the increase in
clinics.

Subhealth Medical Services

The Group's revenue from subhealth medical services increased by
98.9% from RMB101 million in 2023 to RMB201 million in 2024,
primarily due to the rapid growth in revenue from subhealth medical
services as increased members brought by internal growth and
external expansion strategy, increase in penetration and the growth in
the number of clinics, alongside the continuous innovation in medical
services of Women's Special Care Center business.

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

The cost of sales and services of the Group primarily consists of (i)
costs of products and consumables used and related costs,
representing the costs of procuring skincare products, injection
materials and other services; (i) staff costs, representing wages,
benefits and bonuses for our business operation personnel; (iii)
depreciation and amortization charges, which primarily include
depreciation and amortization of leased properties and equipment;
and (iv) operation related expenses, which primarily include property
management fees, rental expenses for short-term leases and costs for
utilities.

ERMRERS — MERREMD

AEBETERMBAPIEHEERER  BEREM
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HiMEAFREIRFEWAH2023FHARE114
BELIEINE2024FWAREI138EE L IBRE
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BT R In LR 69 R PR MAE TEE ©
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8S50E B LK 1% E2024F H AR ¥O28FH B
T FEHRAEEREINEERTRNHEEAK
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of
sales and services by nature for the periods indicated:

TRETIAEBRN PR RIRILE 8 D8 E MR

TR BRAR

For the

year ended

December 31,
BZ12A3181LtEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Products, consumables used and related cost EREM - ERMmEEEKA 506,687 419,365
Staff costs 8T 393,483 327,555
Depreciation and amortization charges TEREHER 328,565 293,547
Operation related expenses ZIEMRERX 140,430 116,355
Others Hth 13,039 11,144
Total @t 1,382,204 1,167,966

The cost of sales and services of the Group increased from RMB1,168
million in 2023 to RMB1,382 million in 2024, mainly due to (i) the
increase in products and consumables used, reflecting the business
growth and the increase in service offerings; (i) the increase in staff
costs as a result of the business growth; (iii) the increase in
depreciation and amortisation charges which was due to the increase
in leased properties as a result of store network expansion and store
decoration and renovation; and (iv) the increase in operation related
expenses, as a result of the increase in property management fees
and costs for utilities.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

AREBERHEERREKANA2023FHARE,168
BETEME20245MARB132BE8 T £ 2
BRGERERKERAMEMN  REBEKER LR
TETEB N : (B TR ABEEISE R MG ¢ (i)
EREEEREN RARHEMERMEAEKE
RAREEBF MG Rv)&ERBEMAZEM
RRARYMEERBERARRBEKAEN -

EHNREBRE

For the year ended December 31,

BZNANBLERE

2024 2023

20245 2023%F
Percentage of Gross  Gross profit Percentage of Gross  Gross profit
Revenue revenue profit margin Revenue revenue profit margin
KA WAL EY] EF kS WA e £ ERE
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETR % AR®TR % ARETR % ARETR %
Beauty and Wellness Services FARNRERE 1,443,301 56.1 587,351 40.7 1,193,675 55.6 472,163 396
— Direct stores —HERE 1,305,745 50.8 511,199 39.1 1,079,866 503 405,978 37.6
— Premium Beauty Services — BRERRE 1,143,647 45 435,529 381 1,079,866 503 405,978 3756
— Premium Al-Powered Wellness Service — BB REERY 162,098 6.3 75,670 46.7 - - - -
— Franchisee and others — MEFREM 137,556 53 76,152 5.4 113,809 53 66,185 58.2
Aesthetic Medical Services BEEARE 927,917 36.1 485,621 52.3 850,356 39.7 457,740 53.8
Subhealth Medical Services SRERERK 200,981 18 117,023 58.2 101,037 47 47,199 467
Total A3t 2,572,199 100.0 1,189,995 46.3 2,145,068 100.0 977,102 456
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The gross profit increased by 21.8% from RMB977 million in 2023 to
RMB1,190 million in 2024. The overall gross profit margin increased
by 0.7 percentage point from 45.6% in 2023 to 46.3% in 2024. The
increase was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in gross profit
margin of direct store business under beauty and wellness service
segment by 1.5 percentage points from 37.6% in 2023 to 39.1% in
2024 as the gross profit margin of the new premium Al-Powered
wellness service acquired in the second half of the year reached
46.7%; (i) the dilution of fixed charges due to the scale effect
brought by the significant increase in revenue from subhealth medical
services by 98.9%, as such, the gross profit margin increased by 11.5
percentage points from 46.7% in 2023 to 58.2% in 2024.

SELLING EXPENSES

The selling expenses primarily consist of (i) staff costs, representing
wages, benefits and bonuses for sales and marketing personnel; (ii)
promotion and marketing expenses, primarily include service fees paid
to the third-party marketing service providers and brand ambassador
to promote brands of the Group and acquire new customers; (iii)
travelling and office expenses incurred by sales and marketing
personnel; (iv) miscellaneous expenses incurred to greet customers; (v)
depreciation and amortization, which primarily comprises amortization
of customer resources; and (vi) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s selling
expenses for the periods indicated:

EFH2023FMARKEI7T7TEE T INE2024F )
ARBE1190E BT BK21.8% c BEEFEH
20234 H945.6% 1% & F 20244 1946.3% * 1€ K0.7
BEDE - ZERETZHR() TEEFEN S
BeEBERBENEED46.7%  FHEEDARE
RIS E &G £ BTN R 2023F137.6% £FK1.5
B & D ZHE2024F#939.1% + (ii) 30 fid B 58 /2% AR 7% UL
AKIEIERI8.9% + {15 H [ElF & A B E &
BE - FILERMRH2023F046.7% EiE11.5EE
D EE2024F H58.2% ©

HEMX

HERSEZRE - MBEIKRA  BHEREHEA
EMIE @A RIELAL: (VHEREREHERAS  +2
BEENTEZFEHRBHER RS ANRE
g PUHEASEBENmEREIFER  (INHEE R
EHABMERENARE : (WRHAOEETEF®H
WMERS  WITERBHEFIZEART P ERENE
Rz (vi) B, o

TR B A LB R PR R A 85 S 5 R

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BILLEE

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBEF T

Staff costs BIRAE 278,186 225,475

Promotion and marketing related expenses HE RS AR 51,073 44,140

Travelling and office expenses ERRFARE 45,040 35,973
Miscellaneous expenses related to customer BFRGMARBEMIEBRZ

services 32,652 31,564

Depreciation and amortization charges e R 26,038 17,346

Others Hith 28,759 23,674

Total st 461,748 378,172
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The selling expenses of the Group increased from RMB378 million in
2023 to RMB462 million in 2024, primarily due to (i) the increase in
staff costs, as a result of increase in sales and marketing personnel
brought about by our M&A activities to support business expansion;
and (ii) the increase in depreciation and amortisation due to higher
amortization of customer relationships brought about by our M&A
activities.

R&D EXPENSES

The R&D expenses primarily consist of (i) staff costs, representing
wages, benefits and bonuses for our R&D staff; and (ii) depreciation
and amortization charges. The R&D expenses increased from RMB34
million in 2023 to RMB36 million in 2024, primarily due to the
Group’s continuous increase in investment in R&D on digitization.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The general and administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff
costs, representing wages, benefits and bonuses for our general and
administrative staff as well as share-based compensation expenses; (ii)
depreciation and amortization, representing depreciation and
amortization charges in relation to our properties and equipment; (iii)
consulting expenses, comprising consulting expenses incurred in
relation to audit services, legal services, and consulting technology;
and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s general
and administrative expenses for the periods indicated:

L o BT

ANEEREER T H2023FMARK378HETIE
mzE2024F M ARB462EE L TEHNOEL
ARG REAAKHEEBFRNHEEREHA
BAZIE MU S E IR R ()& R m -
REAMHEESEROTLEREHS TN -

R X

MEMLEFEEE: )EIRA  EHEETINT
BEBAREL RWITEREBHEER - AL
M2023FMAREI4EEITL LFRE2024FHARE
36EETL  TZHRAEBERBENRE ST
BIGA o

—RRITEAX
—RETBEAXEIZEEOE TKRA 55— R ET
HETITHWTE  &H RAEAL AR 32 6 R B A
Mo (irEREE  EEMERRERBEOTER
BEER: (IRARAX BRERBEFRSE EZ2R
% RARMEENBARX - Riv)Ed -

TRETIAREB AR E — AR BT B SRR -

Year ended December 31,

BHZ12A318LLEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Staff costs BT 328,265 272,877
Depreciation and amortization e R 18,757 13,973
Consulting expenses RS 22,314 16,952
Others Hth 18,753 14,550
Total et 388,089 318,352

The general and administrative expenses increased from RMB318
million in 2023 to RMB388 million in 2024, primarily due to the
increase in staff costs brought by M&A.

— M RATEFA T A2023F M ARBE318E &
EHE2024FMARKE388EHE L TE RIS
AR B T A A hnsE Ak o
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OTHER INCOME

The other income primarily consists of (i) government grants,
representing business development-related support funds from local
governments, as well as value-added tax incentives provided by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation; and (ii)
rental income primarily derived from the owned properties. Other
income decreased from RMB30 million in 2023 to RMB19 million in
2024, primarily due to the maturity of value-added preferential policy.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The income tax expenses of the Group increased from RMB58 million
in 2023 to RMB65 million in 2024, primarily due to the increase in
the profit before income tax resulting from the business growth.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the above, net profit of the Group increased from
RMB230 million in 2023 to RMB252 million in 2024, representing an
increase of 9.7%.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement the consolidated financial statements of the Group
presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Company has presented
adjusted net profit and adjusted net profit margin as non-HKFRS
measures, which are not required by or presented in accordance with
HKFRS. The Company believes that adjusted financial measures
provide useful information to the Shareholders and potential investors
to understand and evaluate the consolidated statement of profit or
loss of the Group and assist the management of the Company in its
decision making. The Company believes that by eliminating the
effects of items that it believes are not indicative of the Group’s
operating performance, such adjusted financial measures assist the
management of the Company and investors in evaluating the financial
and operating performance of the Group for different periods on a
comparable basis. However, these non-HKFRS measures should not be
considered independently or as a substitute for financial information
prepared and presented in accordance with HKFRS. Shareholders and
potential investors should not independently evaluate such adjusted
results or regard it as a substitute for, or comparable to, performance
reported or forecasted by other companies, as they may use similar
terms with different meanings. In addition, these non-HKFRS measures
have their limitations as analytical tools and may differ from similar
measures used by other companies.

H At YA

HMWAFEBREOBGHE - BT B ES
HMEBFREENKEES BRI HGE
RBHETHEBERRKERS  MEELBEME
HESWA - MR ARH2023FHARKEI0OEETT
TRRZE2024FHAREIOEEL - TEHPIBEM
EEBEE AT -

PR <

REBAFAEHAXM20235MARKESSHE TIE
IME2024FMARB6SEE T TERNEKIER
BHBRTSR ARG o

F A FHE

AR Ll RE - AEBEFRER2023FHARE
230 BB NE2024FHAREE252H E T - 1818
ZEFN9.7% °

FAERMBRELERTE
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TR R RS R] B E A R B AT ER RSk TR B ) AR
B AETAERENER - 1N ZFFHE
B BREERNM B EE/IIT T ABEERS -
AR REEEMRRMANELUFES TRANES
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AR BHREATREINE R AS KR EIET B MBI
EREAFE R EITERR -

information for

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Profit for the period BRI F)E 252,478 230,139

Adjusted for: THE

Share-based compensation expenses VAR 19 2 4<F /9 S BN A s (384) 10,900
Adjusted profit for the period (non-HKFRS EABBHAFE GER BB

measure) REERFE) 252,094 241,039

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group's principal use of cash was for working capital purposes as
well as for store expansion and acquisition. The main source of the
Group's liquidity was generated from cash flows from operations.
Going forward, the Group believes that its liquidity requirements will
be satisfied with a combination of cash flows generated from
operating activities, bank facilities and net proceeds from the Global
Offering. As of December 31, 2024, cash and cash-like items reached
RMB1,831 million in total, representing an increase of RMB257
million or 16.3% as compared to RMB1,574 million in the same
period in 2023. In particular, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and term deposits with initial terms of over three months amounted
to RMB456 million and RMB464 million, respectively. In addition, the
Group also held financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
RMB911 million.

CASH FLOWS

The table below sets out specific figures from the Group’'s
consolidated cash flow statements for the years indicated:

RBEEREXRER

AEENBESETERELEESULPYERERRIK
o AEBNRDESTERALLHERERE ©
REXREK  AEEHEE AEENRBHESFTRKE
HELRHABRERE BIREREREEH
BRIEFBEARRBE - HZE2024F 128310 BE
MR SBEEAFEIARKIS31EE L R
2023 FEHARBI 574G B TIERARKE2ZS7TEE
JCc WIRER16.3% c Eh - AEEMNRE S KRS
EEYMNBEAPBB=EANTHEZ S AA
RE4s6 BB TLMAREA4ABETT » o KEE
BEERAABEFABENEHEEBAREIN

e —

BETTe

BE®RE
TRBFIAEERATEENEEREREROE
IR

For the year ended
December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREETF T

Net cash generated from operating activities RETEB SR 796,627 625,510

Net cash used in investing activities KEEEATAESFH (340,851) (711,185)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing MEZBAE (A ES

activities HER (223,363) 133,741

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FUVReRREEED
of the year 224,277 164,120
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FXRE SRR EEHEY 456,158 224,277
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Benefiting from the strength of the business model, the Group's cash
generated from operating activities increased from RMB626 million in
2023 to RMB797 million in 2024, representing a year-on-year increase
of 27.4%, demonstrating the Group's sufficient operating cash flow
and efficient operation and management capabilities.

INDEBTEDNESS

The indebtedness of the Group mainly included lease liabilities and
bank borrowings. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had lease
liabilities and outstanding interest-bearing bank borrowings of
approximately RMB581 million and RMB150 million, respectively. The
Group's bank borrowings are at variable interest rates and are
denominated in RMB.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank loans and
other borrowings by the total equity as at the end of the year. As of
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, the Group’s total cash
and cash equivalents and time deposits with initial terms of over three
months are greater than other interest-bearing liabilities and gearing
ratio is therefore not applicable.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had capital commitments of
RMB4.0 million, primarily in connection with leasehold improvements
(2023: RMB10.4 million).

ASSETS PLEDGED

As of December 31, 2024, the equity interest to certain subsidiaries
were pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group in the value of
RMB150 million. Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group
have not pledged other major assets during the Reporting Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s subsidiaries had provided
guarantees and equity pledge with respect to the Group’s borrowings
for acquisition of Naturade. The Directors believe that the subsidiaries
have sufficient financial resources to settle their debts. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Group has no other material
contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

On March 26, 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an investment agreement with Naturade Health
Technology Co., Ltd., pursuant to which, the Group acquired 70% of
the entire equity interest of Naturade at a consideration of RMB350
million. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated March 26, 2024, April 17, 2024, April 18, 2024 and
August 27, 2024, respectively. The Group has completed the
acquisition of Naturade and has incorporated it into the Group's
consolidated financial statements in July 2024.

SBaREERANEDR  AEELETHMFHES
#2023FMARKEG26EE L ERE2024FH AR
797 EEBTT  RIER27.4% @ BIREHAE®EFTD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group subscribed for
certain wealth management products issued by SPD Bank and ICBC,
the value of which at fair value through profit or loss accounted for
5% or more of the Group's total assets as at December 31, 2024:

Fair value as at

SR o B A

HE2024F 12 A3 BIEFE - ANEEBHERITA
THRTABETEVER ZSBVERELAR
BEFABSOEBEEAREBER2024F12A43104
BEMS% ML :

Performance/ Size relative to

Principal December 31, gain for year the Company’s

amount 2024 2024 total assets

202445 HE AL T

1283122 20245 E2 % wmEEZ

Name of bank RITEB & ANE & W A
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%)

(ARBTT) (ARBT®T) (AREBTT) (%)

SPD Bank HEARTT 250,000 251,315 1,315 5.9%
ICBC TE4RT 250,000 250,918 918 5.9%

All of the aforesaid bank wealth management products subscribed by
the Group are structured deposit products, which refer to deposits
embedded with financial derivatives. Such products allow investors to
obtain corresponding returns on the basis of assuming certain risks by
being linked to the fluctuations of financial market indicators such as
interest rates, exchange rates, indices, or the credit status of the
entities. The Group considers that the aforesaid bank wealth
management products generate better returns than the nominal
interest provided by ordinary bank accounts. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the wealth management products from SPD
Bank and ICBC generated effective return rates of approximately
2.05% to 2.34%. Further, all the aforesaid bank wealth management
products subscribed by the Group are labelled with risk level “PR1”,
meaning that their risk level was at the lowest level in similar
products offered by banks.

As of December 31, 2024, save as otherwise disclosed by the
Company, the Group did not make any significant investments,
acquisitions or disposals of any subsidiaries, associated companies or
joint ventures.

EXCHANGE RATES AND ANY RELATED
HEDGING

The Group mainly operates in mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risks arising from currency exposure with respect to
U.S. dollars and HK dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities. The
Group does not hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FUTURE PLAN OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
OR ACQUISITION OF ASSETS

Save as disclosed in prospectus of the Company, during the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Group had no plans for any
significant investment or acquisition of capital assets in the future.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 5,609
employees. In 2024, the total employee welfare expenses amounted
to RMB1,029 million (including Directors’ emolument and share-based
compensation expenses), higher than RMB854 million in 2023,
primarily due to the Group’s internal growth and external
development strategy.

We have established a multi-dimensional promotion and training
system for our employees, offering them dual career development
options along both professional and managerial paths. For frontline
staff, we conduct comprehensive evaluations based on their
performance and customer satisfaction, among other criteria, with
outstanding performers eligible for more bonus incentives. For middle-
level and frontline management staff, we have designed a clear career
development system and a comprehensive training mechanism for
them. Meanwhile, we have additionally set up regional employee
share ownership platforms to retain and reward exceptional
employees. As for the senior management team, we have continued
to refine our incentive methods throughout the year. The Group made
adjustments to some of the incentives in the 2022 share incentive
plan (the “Share Incentive Plan”) on December 30, 2024. The
adjustment of the Share Incentive Plan aims to further align the
interests of the management team with the development of the
Company. The revised assessment indicators cover the operating
revenue and profit requirements for the next three years, and to
establish a sustainable development mechanism for the management
team to grow together with the shareholders’ value. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, 6,185,568 Shares were granted to the
management team under the Share Incentive Scheme.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. LI Yang (ZB3), aged 66, joined our Group in January 2003. He
was appointed as our Director in February 2022 and was
redesignated as our executive Director in March 2022, and as the
chairman of our Board in March 2022. Mr. Li is primarily responsible
for the overall management, business, and strategy of our Group and
oversight of the commercial suitability and sustainability of our
Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from April 1987 to March 1992, Mr. Li
was the deputy general manager at Hainan Development Construction
General Company (BFSAREAQF]). From April 1992 to August
1996, he was the general manager at Hainan Real Estate
Development General Company (R4 EEZ A F]). Immediately
prior to joining the Group, he was the deputy director at the
State-owned Assets Management Office of Hainan Province (84 &
BEEEBRRAE).

Mr. Li has also served as a director for a number of our principal
subsidiaries. Since August 2006, he has been an executive director of
Shanghai Beauty Farm Development Co., Ltd. (F/EEERAEERERE
AR A 7], "Shanghai Beauty Farm Development”) (PRC). Since April
2004, he has been the chairman of the board of Shanghai Beauty
Farm. Since July 2010, he has been an executive director of Shanghai
Yigao Industrial Co., Ltd. (E/B2=EZEABR AT, “Shanghai Yigao”).
Since November 2017, he has been an executive director of Shanghai
Xiukeer Clinic Co., Ltd. (LE/BFARPIZEER AT, “Shanghai
Xiukeer”). In May 1987, Mr. Li obtained his master's degree in
engineering from the Department of Electronic Engineering of RWTH
Aachen University (222 T2 K& in Aachen, Germany. Mr. Li is the
father of Ms. LI Fangyu, the non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. LIAN Songyong (E#23k), aged 54, joined our Group as our
director and general manager of Shanghai Beauty Farm in November
2015. Mr. Lian was appointed as our Director in February 2022 and
was redesignated as our executive Director in March 2022, and as
vice chairman of our Board in March 2022. He is primarily responsible
for the overall management of our Group, and decision-making in
respect of major matters such as overall strategies.

Mr. Lian has over ten years of experience in the cosmetics industry.
Prior to joining our Group, from October 2004 to December 2008,
Mr. Lian was the deputy general manager at Henan Plastic Surgery
Hospital Co., Ltd. (A EEFERER AR A F]). From January 2009
to August 2015, he was the general manager at Beijing Mansimei
Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (Jt RE BEBEERIMER A ).

Mr. Lian obtained his master’s degree in business management from
Tsinghua University (/& % X2 in Beijing, PRC in January 2003.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Tenghe (# B #8), aged 53, has been the managing director
at CPE (CPEJRIZ) since 2008. He has accumulated more than 20
years of practical experience in capital markets and investment. He
has led the team to complete the controlling investment in beauty
and medical beauty enterprises such as Beauty Farm, Hairology (%13
&%) and Yonghe Medical, tourism enterprises such as Zhongjingxin
Group (FS{=%E), Kaiping Diaolou (FF##£) and Chikan Ancient
Town (FRIXTEH ), as well as Xi‘an Character Early Childhood
Education Group (FAZmi&4)Z &L E). He has also led equity
investments in Mixue (ZZEk¥), Aier Eye Hospital (B ®EREE}), Huaxia
Eye (EEEMRH), Guotai Liquor (B1&H), Prairie Red Sun (BJR4IKES),
Wangfujing International, Red Star Macalline, Kuaijishan (&%),
Trendy International (#%Z Bl #), Shaanxi Coal, and YouBo
Pharmaceutical (&%), among others. Before his involvement in private
equity investments, Mr. Hu had 11 years of experience in the
securities industry, including as an executive director of CITIC
Securities Company Limited (F{57& %A B2 7F]), and presided
over the issuance and sponsor work of stocks, corporate bonds,
convertible bonds and funds.

Mr. Hu obtained his bachelor’'s degree in philosophy from the
Hangzhou University (f1J X&) (currently known as Zhejiang
University C#TAK28)) in 1995, and he further obtained his master’s
degree in economics from Renmin University of China (FFEI AR KE2)
in 1998. He obtained his executive master of business administration
from the China Europe International Business School (FFEXEIR T 2
B2) in 2011.

Mr. GENG lJiaqi (BXE ), aged 54, joined our Group in December
2013 and was subsequently appointed as our Director in February
2022 and was redesignated as our non-executive Director in March
2022. He is primarily responsible for decision-making in respect of
major matters such as formulating overall strategies, advancing
mergers and acquisitions, as well as managing corporate financing.

Mr. Geng has over 20 years of experience in investment and
management industry. Since October 2020, Mr. Geng has been an
investment director of Beijing Panmao Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. (At REHEIEEEEERAF]). In addition, since September 2020,
he has been a director of Yonghe Medical Group Co., Ltd. (ZEREE
S£BERAF]), a hair transplant and treatment healthcare service
provider which is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2279),
and was subsequently re-designated as a non-executive director in
June 2021. Since September 2022, he has been a director of Inner
Mongolia Prairie Red Sun Food Co., Ltd. (A HERLAABE RN
BABR2A7F]), a company primarily engaged in the R&D, production, and
sale of condiments. Mr. Geng has been employed by companies
affiliated with CITIC PE and does not participate in the day-to-day
operations and management of the Group.
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From April 2005 to August 2008, Mr. Geng was an investment
manager at Actis Investment Beijing Representative Office (HEfI%E
LR EKEE). From September 2008 to March 2010, Mr. Geng was a
senior investment manager of Beijing Hony Future Investment Advisor
Ltd. (tRaLBEFILERBMBMRAF]). From December 2011 to
December 2018, he was an investment director of Shanghai Panxin
Equity Investment Management Limited (/B2 {ZBREREETEER
‘A@]). He was a director of Wangfujing Group Co., Ltd., (3t REFFH
BE(E£E)RMHAERRAT), a company listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600859), from December 2016 to December
2019. From January 2019 to September 2020, Mr. Geng has also
been an investment director of Tianjin Panmao Enterprise
Management Limited Liability Partnership (RIEZHEPEETRS B
(BR&R)).

Mr. Geng obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting & finance and
business administration & management from Oxford Brookes
University, the United Kingdom, in 1996 and his master’s degree in
business administration from State University of New Jersey, the U.S.,
in January 2001.

Ms. LI Fangyu (Z5 ) (with former name LI Fanggian (&35 %)),
aged 35, joined our Group as a business manager in May 2016. She
was appointed as our Director in February 2022 and was
redesignated as our non-executive Director in March 2022, and in this
capacity she is primarily responsible for the overall management,
business, and strategy of our Group and oversight of the commercial
suitability and sustainability of our Group.

Ms. Li obtained her undergraduate degree in science majoring in
management from the London School of Economics and Political
Science (fRFHHUALLEEPT) in London, United Kingdom in July 2012.

Ms. Li is the daughter of Mr. Li Yang, the Chairman of the
Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FAN Mingchao (E#8i#), aged 47, was duly appointed as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company since the Listing
in January 2023 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to our Board.
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Mr. Fan has over 16 years of experience in arbitration and
management. Mr. Fan currently serves as a deputy director of the
Shanghai Arbitration Commission (/&£ Z &), an arbitrator of
the Arbitration Commission of the China Commission of Arbitration
for Sport (FEEEHHZEE) and the Court of Arbitration for
Sports (BB EE B (R FT). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fan was a
lecturer and associate professor for over 10 years and once served as
the deputy director of the International Affairs Office at Shanghai
University of Political Science and Law (_E/&BUEERR), the Director of
Arbitration and ADR for North Asia of the International Chamber of
Commerce, and was the chief representative of its Shanghai
Representative Office. Mr. Fan holds his doctorate’s degree and
bachelor’s degree in international law from East China University of
Politics and Law (ZEEREUAAE) in Shanghai, and the master's degree
in international commercial law from the University of Manchester in
the United Kingdom.

Mr. LIU Teng (2/B), aged 56, was duly appointed as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company since the Listing
in January 2023 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Liu has extensive experience in financial management and
investment banking. He worked at China Ping An Insurance (Hong
Kong) Co., Ltd. from June 1999 to September 2007. He worked at
Taikang Asset Management (Hong Kong) Company Limited from
August 2008 to October 2010. He then worked as an executive
director in China Orient International Asset Management Limited from
February 2012 to March 2015. From October 2015 to September
2018, he worked at China Universal Asset Management (Hong Kong)
Company Limited with his last position held as a deputy chief
executive officer. Since September 2018, he has been the chairman
and SFC licensed responsible officer at China Eagle Asset
Management Limited, primarily responsible for overall investment
research, compliance risk control, and financial operations.

Since December 2020, Mr. Liu has also been an independent
non-executive director at Raily Aesthetic Medicine International
Holdings, a medical beauty company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2135), where he is the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the remuneration committee.

Mr. Liu obtained a Master of Arts in Professional Accounting and
Information Systems from the City University of Hong Kong in
November 2004. He was admitted as a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in October 2006, and became a
certified public accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in February 2007.
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Mr. JIANG Hua (JI#), aged 63, was duly appointed as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company since the Listing
in January 2023 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of experience in academics and plastic
surgery. Prior to joining the Group, he was the director of plastic
surgery at The Second Affiliated Hospital of the Second Military
Medical University (56 —E 8 K2 —KEEFT) (currently known as
Shanghai Changzheng Hospital (/& &AE%FT)). Since 2019, Mr. Jiang
has been a chief physician and professor at Shanghai East Hospital

(EBmRTTE).

Mr. Jiang received his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from the
Second Military Medical University of the Chinese People’s Liberation
Army (55 —FE B KEZ) in Shanghai, PRC in July 1985. He further
received his postgraduate’s degree in medicine from the National
University of Singapore in Singapore in January 2000. Since May
1999, he has been certified as a qualified surgeon by the People’s
Liberation Army General Logistics Department.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Yang (ZR3), aged 66, is our executive Director and chairman
of the Board of Directors. For further details, please see the
paragraphs headed “Directors and Senior Management — Directors
— Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. LIAN Songyong (E#JK), aged 54, is our executive Director,
vice chairman of the Board of Directors, and our chief executive
officer. For further details, please see the paragraphs headed
“Directors and Senior Management — Directors — Executive
Directors” in this section.

Ms. ZHOU Min (FA#), aged 56, joined our Group as our chief
financial officer since March 2015 and has served as a joint company
secretary since March 2021. She is primarily responsible for financial
planning of our Group, including financial accounting, internal audit,
legal affairs, investment and merger and acquisitions, as well as
investor relations.

Ms. Zhou has over 30 years of experience in financial management of
chain enterprises, investment and acquisitions. Prior to joining our
Group, Ms. Zhou Min served in the supermarket business department
of Bailian Group Co., Ltd. as well as the head of the financial
department of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd. for more than
15 years. Bailian Group Co., Ltd. was at the time listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (600827.SH), and Lianhua Supermarket
Holdings Co., Ltd. is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 980).
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Ms. Zhou obtained her master's degree in business administration
from the Arizona State University W.P. Carey School of Business (g2
FIZBOIN 2 KE 3R EFE) in July 2013. Since December 2004, she
has been a certified public accountant, recognized by the Provincial
Department of Finance (& BfEE2). Since April 2007, she has been
certified as a senior accountant by the Provincial Human Resources
and Social Security Department (& #& A4LEBF9). Since June 2009,
Ms. Zhou has been certified as a tax agent by the State
Administration of Taxation (R4 8).

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. ZHOU Min (F#), aged 56, was appointed as a joint company
secretary of our Company on March 24, 2022. Ms. Zhou is also a
member of the senior management of our Company. For further
details, please see the paragraphs headed “Directors and Senior
Management — Senior Management” in this section.

Ms. KWOK Siu Ying Sarah (E8Jk#8), aged 41, was appointed as a
joint company secretary of our Company on March 24, 2022.
Ms. Kwok is currently a manager of corporate services of Vistra
Corporate Services (HK) Limited. She has over eight years of
experience in the corporate services industry.

Ms. Kwok obtained a bachelor's degree in Business Studies from
University College Dublin, National University of Ireland in June 2012
and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University (/& #8€ X2) in November 2017. She has
been an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom since 2018. She is also an affiliate
member of The Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners.

Ms. Kwok is currently the company secretary of NVC International
Holdings Limited, a Main Board listed company in Hong Kong (stock
code: 2222) and the joint company secretary of Shanghai Bio-heart
Biological Technology Co., Ltd., a Main Board listed company in Hong
Kong (stock code: 2185), Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology
Corporation Limited, a Main Board listed company in Hong Kong
(stock code: 6609) and Black Sesame International Holding Limited, a
Main Board listed company in Hong Kong (stock code: 2533).

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, as of the date of this annual report, the
Directors confirm that no information is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board firmly believes that corporate culture is the
foundation for long-term growth and sustainable development
of a group’s performance. The corporate culture of the group
continuously strengthens its organizational capabilities through

the

layered decomposition and implementation of the

company’s vision, values, and strategy, providing a robust
organizational guarantee for its business development.

(1)

Corporate Vision

With the vision of “Leading the way in beauty and
health”, the Company has established its operating
cornerstone and core values on this basis, thus deriving
the corporate strategy.

Corporate Values

The core values of Beauty Farm lie in our unwavering
pursuit of long-term corporate growth and our
commitment to building enduring relationships with
customers. By deeply understanding and fulfilling
customer needs, we establish solid and lasting client
relationships, fostering trust that transforms customers
into our loyal membership base.

The core values of Beauty Farm are (1) customer
orientation: it means that products, operations, and
services all focus on satisfying the needs of our
customers or users, and we can provide our customers
with customized and differentiated services; (2)
continuous innovation: it includes innovation in products
and services, business model, organizational structure and
many other aspects; (3) synergy: it enables collaborative
support among businesses, headquarters, regions and
stores, departments and departments, without
prevarication and internal friction, achieving a 1+1>2
synergy effect; (4) working and sharing together: it refers
to the struggler-oriented, and the Company allocates
resources to the outstanding employees and successful
teams with excellent performance.
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(3) Corporate Strategy

In 2024, we introduced the business philosophy of “agile
adaptation” at our strategic management conference,
placing greater emphasis on operational efficiency and
profit growth. We adjusted organizational performance
evaluations to prioritize profitability and efficiency metrics,
while further increasing the proportion of revenue growth
driven by mergers and acquisitions. Additionally, with the
acquisition and consolidation of the Naturade brand, we
upgraded our business model from our previous
“tri-beauty” approach to a fully integrated, well-rounded
"dual beauty + dual wellness” model.

(4) Corporate Culture Practices

To deepen the influence of our corporate culture, we
implemented initiatives such as corporate culture
certification, outstanding employee recognition,
roundtable discussions, and the dissemination of
exemplary stories. In 2024, we completed 173 corporate
culture certifications, achieving 100% coverage among
frontline managers. Through roundtable discussions, we
shared 144 corporate culture stories and recognized 48
regional-level outstanding practitioners, from which 7 role
models were further selected. Their achievements were
highlighted in corporate culture newsletters, along with 4
exemplary individuals who were honored at our annual
Leadership Summit.

The Board considers that the Company culture aligns with
the Group’s operational cornerstone, vision, core values,
and strategy, and our corporate culture values may ensure
effective practice and sustainable development.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has adopted the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code as its own corporate
governance practices.

In order to strengthen information disclosure and transparency,
the Company regularly publishes financial reports, operating
conditions and other information, fully discloses them to
Shareholders, employees, business partners and the public
through website of the Company and investor relation public
account, as to improve information transparency.
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To the best knowledge of the Board,

the Company had

complied with all applicable criteria and code provisions set out
in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company will continue to review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the
corresponding provisions.

(1)

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding dealings by the Directors and
the Group’s senior management who, because of his/her
office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to Company or its securities.

Having made specific enquiries to all the Directors, they
have confirmed that they had complied with the Model
Code during the Reporting Period. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the
Model Code by the senior management of the Group
during the Reporting Period.

Board of Directors
As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises

two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors,
and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Yang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. LIAN Songyong (Chief Executive Officer,
Vice Chairman of the Board)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Tenghe (appointed on August 27, 2024)
Mr. GENG Jiaqgi

Ms. LI Fangyu

Mr. ZHAI Feng (resigned on August 27, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FAN Mingchao
Mr. LIU Teng
Mr. JJANG Hua
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Mr. HU Tenghe was appointed as a non-executive
Director on August 27, 2024. In compliance with Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules, Mr. Hu obtained legal advice
from the legal advisers of the Company as to Hong Kong
law on August 27, 2024 and has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a Director of a company
listed on the Stock Exchange under the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the current Directors are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no any
relationship (including, financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) between the Board
members.

During the Reporting Period, the Board always met the
requirements of Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise and the
appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board. Among the
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Liu Teng
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company were Mr. Li
Yang and Mr. Lian Songyong respectively. The Company
had fully complied with the principles and Code Provision
C.2.1 as set out in the CG Code.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers for,
the management and operations of the Company's
business and preparation of financial accounts. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for
day-to-day management and operation of the Group to
the senior management of the Group. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company's affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. To effectively advance sustainable
development, the Group has established a comprehensive
governance framework for environmental, social, and
governance (“ESG”) and climate change management.
This structure connects various functional departments
and operational centers through the Climate and ESG
Management Committee and the ESG Working Group,
enabling top-down oversight of ESG development to drive
strategy implementation, while facilitating bottom-up
reporting and feedback on ESG matters.

The Board has delegated to the Board committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference. All Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to perform their duties. All Directors
are expected to ensure they discharge their duties in
good faith, comply with applicable laws and regulations,
and consistently act in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders.

Board Independence

The Company recognizes that Board independence is
essential to good corporate governance. The Company
has in place effective mechanisms that underpin an
independent Board and independent views. The current
composition of the Board, comprising more than one
third of the independent non-executive Directors and
more than two third of the members of the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors,
which comply with the independence requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are all
chaired by independent non-executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee must strictly abide by the
Nomination Policy and the independence assessment
criteria for the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive Directors set out in the Listing
Rules. Each independent non-executive Director is also
required to notify the Company as soon as possible of
any changes in his personal information that may have a
material impact on his independence. The Nomination
Committee is authorized to assess the independence of all
independent non-executive Directors annually in
accordance with the independence criteria set out in the
Listing Rules to ensure that they can continue to make
independent judgments.

The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is
subject to a regular review to maintain their competitiveness
and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload.
The independence of each independent non-executive
Director is assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their possible direct or
indirect interests in proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at the Board meetings and
abstain from voting, where appropriate. External
independent professional advice is available to all
Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
where necessary. The independent non-executive Directors
have consistently demonstrated strong commitment and
ability to devote sufficient time to discharge their
responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through
formal and informal means whereby independent
non-executive Directors can express their views in an
open manner, and in a confidential manner when
necessary.
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Confirmation of Independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in
respect of his independence in compliance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing over one-third of the Board with
one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Directors’ and Senior Managements Liability
Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
for Directors and senior management to indemnify them
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis
and necessary adjustments will be made based on the
review results.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code,
each newly appointed Director should be provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

Mr. Hu Tenghe who was appointed as the non-executive
Director on August 27, 2024, has received the necessary
induction training and information to understand the
Company’s operations and business, as well as his
obligation as a director of a company listed on the Stock
Exchange.

20245 FEHEBEREREFXEGRAAF

.

4

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(

r

J\

ST

) BIMIFRITE SR E L IEHER

ARREWEN GBI IERITERRERN
HBUMMEMFERR  FECLD
HRADEINGETRENB LIS -
ARBRBRAEBULIFNTEEHASR
B -

EHREHE EFgRMB(LETR
ADFEREREL =R BIUIFNTE
= RXEFFBE=D2z— HEP—
FHEBEEENEEXERAETANABT
BEEEXMBHENL -

EERERERENEERREK
FERE
ARBRCREFNEREEABLHE
ENEIRR  REFENARASHRE
BABERAREBTELENETRHE
B - RREZHESEFETEEYLR
BESERETLENHE -

) EENRHERE LR
RIEREEA TR TANRXEC4
- FBEEEAZNHFEERHER @
JR& K 5B R EL AN M iR - ARER AR
EAB2EEARYAMBNERTY
EFEFHER -

RIBDEERT AT RIEXECA
G FIAMEEMNESEERHOED
ANBEI R ER  BREZETHAR
B EE R EB AR B R ARG X
Bl RAIOER THEE

AR L AN 2024 F8 A27T HEZR T A
FPTEE  DEIVBEHAREIIR
BER UNTHEARRINEERER U
REEABI ETMAGRESENET -

5



46 Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
1 56 3R

During the Reporting Period, all Directors, namely Mr. Li
Yang, Mr. Lian Songyong, Mr. Zhai Feng (resigned on
August 27, 2024), Mr. Hu Tenghe, Mr. Geng lJiagi, Ms. Li
Fangyu, Mr. Fan Mingchao, Mr. Liu Teng and Mr. Jiang
Hua have completed the relevant trainings provided by
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. All
Directors have been updated with the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors of the Company
has entered into a contract with the Company which
contains provisions in relation to, among other things,
compliance of relevant laws and regulations, observance
of the Articles of Association and provisions on
arbitration.

The initial term for their respective appointment letters
shall commence from the Listing Date and continue for a
period of three years subject always to re-election as and
when required under the Articles of Association, until
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the
other not less than 30 days’ prior notice in writing.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall submit himself/herself to the Shareholders for
election at the next following general meeting of the
Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/
herself to the Shareholders for re-election at the next
following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment. The procedures and process of appointment,
re-appointment and removal of Directors are set out in
detail in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and succession
planning of Directors, in particular the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.
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Mr. Hu Tenghe, Mr. Li Yang, Mr. Jiang Hua and Mr. Fan
Mingchao will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has
a service contract that is determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Board Committees

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to various
Board committees. In accordance with the relevant
applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules, we have established an
audit committee, a remuneration committee, and a
nomination committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is
established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of each of these committees are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee currently consists of two
independent non-executive Directors and one
non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu Teng, Mr. Fan
Mingchao and Ms. Li Fangyu, with Mr. Liu Teng being
the chairperson of the committee.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist
our Board in providing an independent view of our
financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management system, overseeing the audit process and
performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
our Board, including but not limited to:

o proposing to our Board the appointment and
replacement of external audit firms;

o supervising the implementation of internal audit
system;
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o coordination between our internal audit department
and external auditors;

o reviewing our financial information and related
disclosures; and

o other duties conferred by our Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee
reviewed the Company’s annual financial results and
reports for the year ended December 31, 2023, the
interim results and reports for the period ended June 30,
2024, significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function, anti-corruption policy and whistle-
blowing policy, reappointment of external auditor and
engagement of non-audit services and relevant scope of
works connected transactions, as well as reviewing the
corporate governance compliance.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee also
met the external auditor at least twice. Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules requires the Audit Committee to comprise a
minimum of three members with independent non-
executive Directors in majority and at least one member
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
composition requirement of the Audit Committee under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee currently
consists of two independent non-executive Directors and
one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Fan Mingchao,
Mr. Jiang Hua and Mr. Hu Tenghe with Mr. Fan
Mingchao being the chairperson of the committee.
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The primary function of the Remuneration Committee is
to develop remuneration policies of our Directors,
evaluate the performance, make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of our individual
executive Directors and senior management and evaluate
and make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements, including but not limited to:

o establishing, reviewing and making recommendations
to the Board on our policy and structure concerning
remuneration of our Directors and senior
management;

o determining the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each Director and senior management;

o reviewing and approving performance-based
remuneration in accordance with the corporate
goals as determined by the Board from time to

time;

o reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;
and

o other duties conferred by our Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and made recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the performance and the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters during the
Reporting Period.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the model set out
in item (i) under the Code Provision E.1.2(c) of the CG
Code that the emoluments of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are decided by the Board with
reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The
emolument of each Director and senior management of
the Group is covered by their respective service contracts.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director for
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Remuneration by band of the senior management
(including two executive Directors) of the Group for the
Reporting Period are set out below:

REMUNERATION BANDS (RMB)

RIps R FHE AR S W AEES
BERE (REMAHTES) FHE5
W :

NUMBER OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

FHER (AR%T) EREEEAR
0-1,000,000 1
1,000,001-2,000,000 1
2,000,001-3,000,000 1
TOTAL 3
M5t

Nomination Committee

Our Company has established the nomination committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee currently
consists of two independent non-executive Directors and
one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Fan Mingchao,
Mr. Jiang Hua and Ms. Li Fangyu, with Mr. Fan
Mingchao being the chairperson of the committee. On
March 26, 2025, Mr. Lian Songyong, an executive
Director, ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee, and Ms. Li Fangu, a Non-executive Director,
was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to our Board in relation to the
appointment and removal of Directors which includes but
not limited:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition of our
Board on a regular basis and making recommendations
to our Board regarding any proposed changes;

o identifying, selecting or proposing to our Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

o assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors;

o making recommendations to our Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment, re-appointment

and removal of our Directors; and

o other duties conferred by our Board.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee will consider various aspects as well as factors
set out in the Company's Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss and agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and recommend to the Board for adoption when
necessary. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates
to serve as Directors, the Nomination Committee will
consider the relevant criteria for candidates that are
complementary to corporate strategy and necessary to
achieve diversity on the Board, as set forth in the
Nomination Policy, and then make recommendations to
the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, considered the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for election at the annual general
meeting, recommended suitable candidates to the Board
to fill a casual vacancy in the office of director and other
related matters. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the
Board is maintained.

Nomination Policy

The Company has established a director nomination
policy (the “Director Nomination Policy”) in accordance
with the relevant requirements. The Director Nomination
Policy sets out the selection criteria, process and the
Board succession planning considerations in relation to
nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall identify, consider and
recommend to the Board appropriate candidates to serve
as Directors and to make recommendations to the
Shareholders. The ultimate responsibility for the selection
and appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the nomination and appointment of new Directors in
accordance with the following procedures and process:
(@) the Nomination Committee shall first review and
assess factors relating to the diversity of the Board from
time to time, including but not limited to professional
experience, skill, knowledge and length of service,
gender, age, cultural and education background, and give
consideration to the candidate’s willingness to devote
adequate time to the Board and independence of each
independent non-executive Directors based on the
requirements of the Listing Rules; and (b) the Nomination
Committee shall then nominate suitable candidates to the
Board based on the then current and anticipated future
leadership needs of the Company, with a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

For the re-election of Directors at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Directors, including its attendance at Board meetings,
Board committee meetings and general meetings (if
applicable), and his/her level of participation and
performance on the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall require the nominee to submit updated biographical
information and the consent to be re-elected as a
Director; and should review and determine whether
retiring Directors still meet the criteria for Director
selection.

The Nomination Committee shall then make
recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
Directors. The Nomination Committee shall also monitor
and review the implementation of the nomination policy,
as appropriate from time to time, and will report to the
Board annually.
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(15) Board Diversity Policy (ThESgZTbE

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the
Nomination Committee (or the Board) shall have a policy
concerning diversity of board members, and shall disclose
the policy on diversity or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report.

We have established a board diversity policy (the
“Diversity Policy”) to enhance the effectiveness of our
Board and to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, in
reviewing and assessing suitable candidates to serve as a
Director of the Company, our Nomination Committee will
consider a range of diversity perspectives with reference
to our Company’s business model and specific needs,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience and
knowledge. Furthermore, our Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the diversity of our Board,
reviewing the Diversity Policy from time to time,
developing and reviewing measurable objectives for
implementing the Diversity Policy, and monitoring the
progress on achieving these measurable objectives to
ensure that the Diversity Policy remains effective. The
Board Diversity Policy will be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee annually.

We incorporate diverse perspective in nomination and
appointment of Board members in full consideration of
such factors as gender, age, professional background,
industry experience and skills and adhere to merit-based
principle to enhance the decision-making quality and
innovation of the Company. To promote gender diversity
and improve corporate governance, we will keep close
eye on background diversity of board members, increase
individuals with sustainable development experience and
identify appropriate female candidates.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and
skills, including but not limited to overall business
management, finance and accounting, research and
development, investment and industry experience. They
obtained degrees in various majors including engineering,
business management, science, accounting and finance,
international law, and clinical medicine.
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As at the date of this annual report, our Board consists
of seven male members and one female member.
Further, our Board consists of 1 director aged between
31 and 40 years old, 1 director between 41 to 50 years
old, 4 directors between 51 to 60 years old, and 2
directors between 61 to 70 years old. Our Company has
reviewed the membership, structure and composition of
the Board, and is of the opinion that the structure of the
Board is reasonable, and the experiences and skills of the
Directors in various aspects and fields can enable our
Company to maintain a high standard of operation.

The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of
female representation and will continue to take steps to
promote gender diversity at the Board of our Company.
Our Group will identify and select several female
individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and
knowledge in different fields from time to time, and
maintain a list of such female individuals who possess
qualities to become our Board members, which will be
periodically reviewed by our Nomination Committee in
order to develop a pipeline of potential successors to our
Board to promote gender diversity of our Board.

Workforce Diversity

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group
employed a total of 5,609 employees, of which 5,307
were female and 302 were male. Due to the nature of
the Company’s business, most of our employees who
provide services to customers in front-line stores are
composed of women, among whom the front-line service
staff in beauty and health service stores are all women,
resulting in a higher proportion of female employees in
the Company compared with companies in other
industries.

At Beauty Farm, employees are not just staff members —
they are key partners in the Company’s growth. We are
committed to building for employees a professional
development platform that empowers them to enhance
their personal value, firmly believing that the shared
growth of employees and the Group is the cornerstone
of long-term, stable development.
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Through internal training and development programs, the
Group provides employees with ongoing learning and
growth opportunities, encouraging them to actively
participate in industry exchanges and academic research,
engage in in-depth discussions with industry
professionals, and continuously improve their expertise
and skills — contributing to the advancement of the
industry. We also place particular emphasis on the career
development of female employees, striving to break down
gender barriers by offering fair promotion and
development opportunities, and fostering a just and equal
work environment where women can unleash in full their
potential and talents.

The Group has made continuous efforts to pursue equal
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination, and is
committed to creating a fair, respectful and inclusive
working environment. We make decisions on hiring,
training, opportunities for advancement, dismissal and
retirement policies without regard to the age, gender,
marital status, pregnancy, family status, disability, race,
color, ancestry, national or ethnic origin, national origin,
religion or any other non-work-related factors. Even
though the nature of the industry and the business scope
of the Company generally employ more female
employees, gender does not affect how we treat our
employees. In our middle and back-office functions and
management teams, we give consideration to gender
balance and gender does not affect the way we treat our
employees. Both male and female employees are placed
in appropriate positions and receive corresponding
treatment according to their rank, work experience and
performance. We value the ability and contribution of our
employees, and through a scientific and reasonable
promotion system, every employee should enjoy equal
opportunities and fair treatment. The Group has
established a dual-channel career development system,
which comprises two sequences, being management and
professional. Positions with different functions, such as
“sales, technology, middle and back office functions”,
can be developed through the above channels, giving
employees diversified career development options.

The construction of female leadership is a core issue for
the development and nurturing of employees at Beauty
Farm. In 2024, we took a significant step by officially
becoming a global signatory member of the UN Women'’s
Empowerment Principles (WEPs).
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The Group will be committed to achieve gender diversity
in the workforce and categories diversity in the
employment. For further details of gender ratio and
employee category, please refer to the disclosure in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

Corporate Governance Function

The Group's Chairperson leads the Board and ensures the
effective operation and fulfillment of responsibilities by
the Board. As the core of corporate governance, the
Board is responsible for managing and operating the
business, as well as executing the functions stipulated in
Article A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed:

o the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

. code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors;

o the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

o training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management including the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a
company listed.

Board Meetings, Committee Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
board meetings should be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals with active
participation of the majority of the Directors, either on
site or through electronic means of communications.
Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code requires that the
Chairperson should at least annually hold meetings with
independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors.
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The Company adopts the practice of holding Board
meetings regularly, at least four times a year, and at
approximately quarterly intervals. Both the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee shall meet
at least once every year; and the Audit Committee shall
meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen and seven days are given for all Board and
committee meetings respectively to provide all Directors
or committee members with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. The
agenda and accompanying board papers are dispatched
to the Directors or committee members at least three
days before the intended date of the meeting to ensure
that they have sufficient time to review the papers and
be adequately prepared for the meeting. When Directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairperson of the Board or the committee members
prior to the meeting.

Minutes of meetings are kept by the Joint Company
Secretaries with copies circulated to relevant Board or
Board Committee for comments and records. Minutes of
the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Board or committee
members and dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes
of each Board meeting and committee meeting are sent
to the relevant Board or committee members for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

During the Reporting Period, six Board meetings; three
Audit Committee meetings; one Remuneration Committee
meeting; one Nomination Committee meeting were held
and the Chairperson held one meeting with independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

The Company expects to continue to convene at least
four regular meetings in each year in accordance with
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, and to hold a
meeting between the Chairperson and the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors in accordance with code provision C.2.7 of the
CG Code.
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A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at TERIFNEENEETGSRREZERY
Board meetings and committee meetings is set out in the O F RS E
following table below:

Number of meeting(s) attended/number of meeting(s)
held during the year ended December 31, 2024
HEEHRE BZ2045 12831 LEEETHNERNE

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee
Espsg Exg ERZEEE FMEESE REZEE
Executive Director HTES
Mr. Li Yang Bk N/A N/A N/A
6/6 TERA TERA TEA
Mr. Lian Songyong ERAXEE N/A N/A
6/6 TiEA TiEA 11
Non-executive Directors FYTES
Mr. Hu Tenghe (Note 1) TRl E (Rat1) N/A N/A
212 TERA 0/0 TERA
Mr. Geng Jiagi NEEEE N/A N/A N/A
6/6 TERA TERA TEA
Ms. Li Fangyu FHREt N/A N/A
6/6 3/3 TiEA TiEA
Mr. Zhai Feng (Note 2) BEEE (MF2) N/A N/A
3/4 TERA n TERA
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Fan Mingchao BHEEE 6/6 33 1/1 1/1
Mr. Liu Teng - N/A N/A
6/6 3/3 TiEA TiEA
Mr. Jiang Hua LELE N/A
6/6 Nl 1 1
Notes: B 5T
1. Mr. Hu Tenghe has been appointed as a non-executive 1. B ES L A B N2024F8 A27THEZ
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee ERIFPTEZRFMHEEGKE -
on August 27, 2024.
2. Mr. Zhai Feng resigned as a non-executive Director and a 2. BT EN202458 A27 BB EIEH
member of the Remuneration Committee on August 27, TEERFHEZESHKE -

2024
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R A
(19) General Meeting (T RERE
Two general meeting were held during the Reporting REBRE - BITTMAREARE ©
Period.
A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at TRHEFNESHRE RS KL FE L8
general meeting is set out in the following table below: 2
Number of general
meeting(s) attended/
number of general
meeting(s) held
during the year ended
December 31, 2024
HESERRE
B £2024F12A31H
LEERTHERREY
Name of Director General Meeting
BEEnA BRRAE
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Li Yang FGEE 2/2
Mr. Lian Songyong KA 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Hu Tenghe (Note 1) HARE S St A (P EE1) 0/0
Mr. Geng lJiagi BB LA 2/2
Ms. Li Fangyu FHREE 2/2
Mr. Zhai Feng (Note 2) B SE (H5E2) 0/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. Fan Mingchao SRR A 12
Mr. Liu Teng 2P % £ 2/2
Mr. Jiang Hua LS AE 0/2
Notes: P& -
1. Mr. Hu Tenghe has been appointed as a non-executive 1. RS L A B N2024F8 A27HES
Director on August 27, 2024. ERIERITES -
2. Mr. Zhai Feng resigned as a non-executive Director on 2. B EN202458 A27 B EHEIEH

August 27, 2024 TEE -
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to ensure that
the Group maintains sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems, and make annual review on the
effectiveness of such systems, in order to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets at all times.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading management
and supervising the design, implementation, and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has established a clear risk management and
internal control structure covering organizational duties,
authority limits, reporting methods to identify and manage
potential risks and safeguard the assets of the Group. The
Board of the Group take full responsibility for overall risk
control, and the Chairperson of the Group and subordinate
departments are responsible for risk management of functional
departments. Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the
audit department, financial center, legal department and
medical affairs department collectively form the internal control
and risk management system.

In 2024, the Company further emphasized the strategic value
of external mergers and acquisitions (M&A) and restructured its
top-tier organizational framework by establishing an Investment
Management Committee. This committee conducts thorough
feasibility assessments for investment projects, and all major
investment initiatives must be approved by its resolution. The
Company has implemented a more scientific and systematic
approach to managing the pre-, mid-, and post-stages of
investment and M&A projects to mitigate investment risks. In
the field of medical expertise development, the Group created
the unique CellCare “two-category, five-tier physician team
training system.” This system has produced a multi-disciplinary
talent team, led by over 90 senior physicians and over 100
professional nursing and technical personnel, providing safe,
reassuring, and natural experiences for clients on their medical
beauty journey. To ensure the highest standards of medical
quality, we have developed a standardized “three-tier medical
quality control management system,” implementing more than
130 quality control protocols, ensuring above industry standards
at every stage of execution.

PR B 422 %I A R B i 3R
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The Company has also established an “Internal Audit
Management System” that adheres to national audit regulations
and formulates internal audit implementation guidelines suitable
for the Group to safeguard shareholders investments and the
Group’s assets. Meanwhile, the system also conducts regular
checks, evaluations, and feedback on the soundness,
reasonableness, and effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system. Each year, the internal audit department
develops an annual internal audit plan for the Group and its
subsidiaries based on the annual work plan of the Group. The
department conducts checks, evaluations, and feedback on the
soundness, reasonableness, and effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group and its subsidiaries and submits an
annual internal audit report to the Board.

The audit department further monitors the financial position,
use of assets, business activities and contractual agreements in
the course of corporate operations on a daily basis to identify
bottlenecks and inefficiencies in the business processes, and
then proposes actionable and targeted implementation steps,
expected results, possible risks and countermeasures in the light
of the actual business situation, so as to help the organisation
to improve its operational efficiency and reduce costs.

In 2024, the Company conducted a review of the working
mechanism of the Procurement Committee and iteratively
revised it based on the original 4.0 mechanism, releasing the
Procurement Committee Working Mechanism V5.0. After the
revision, project objectives were aligned to the performance
appraisals of project responsible persons, the approval processes
for changes and terminations were clarified, and a project
review mechanism was established to ensure procurement
activities comply with the Company’s relevant regulations.
Regarding sales management, a special investigation was
conducted on the Company’s travel expenses, prompting the
Group to refine the granularity of travel control and implement
reasonable cost management. This effort assisted the
management department in issuing the Beauty Farm Employee
Travel Management Policy 3.0. For inventory management, the
audit department organized a surprise year-end inventory check
at the Qingpu warehouse, covering products from Beauty Farm,
Palaispa, and aesthetic medical inventory products. The audit
identified weaknesses in inventory management and provided
rationalization suggestions, submitting the Warehouse Inventory
Report to management for review.
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The Company’s internal audit department is responsible for
independently auditing the adequacy and effectiveness of our
risk management and internal control systems, reporting the
findings and improvement recommendations to the Audit
Committee. As of the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee has reviewed and confirmed to the Board that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate. With the support of the Audit
Committee and its reports, the Board reviewed these systems as
of December 31, 2024, and deemed them effective.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

In respect of anti-corruption, we have formulated specific
policies and procedures. The management and Audit Committee
oversees the design and implementation of anti-corruption
policies and procedures. Relevant policies are set out in the
Employee Handbook and Code of Conduct. We do not tolerate
bribery of any kind. We have also established whistleblower
procedures, dedicated hotlines and email addresses to receive
named or anonymous corruption reports and rigorous
investigation procedures. If employees are found to violate
relevant anti-corruption policies, their employment will be
terminated. Further details on our anti-corruption and
whistleblower policies are disclosed in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report”. All such discussions form part
of this report.

Our Directors are of the view that our enhanced internal
control system is adequate and effective for our current
operations. As at December 31, 2024, the Company was not
subject to any government investigation or litigation with
respect to claims or allegations of monetary and non-monetary
bribery activities, and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
none of our employees were involved in any bribery or kickback
arrangements.

The Company has designated responsible personnel to monitor
our ongoing compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
govern our business operations, and to oversee the
implementation of any necessary measures. Meanwhile, we plan
to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and updates
regarding the relevant laws and regulations on an annual basis,
with a view to proactively identifying any issues or concerns
relating to any potential non-compliance. We believe that we
have established adequate internal procedures, systems and
controls as to ensure anti-corruption and anti-bribery law
compliance.
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V.

VL.

VII.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to internal procedures and policy so as to
ensure inside information remains confidential until the
disclosure and publication of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is
efficiently and consistently made.

The Board is responsible for approving the policy on disclosure
of inside information which aims at providing guiding principles,
practices and procedures to assist employees and officers of the
Group in (i) relaying inside information to the Board to enable
it to make timely decisions on disclosure, if necessary; and (ii)
communicating with the Group’s stakeholders, in ways which
are in compliance with the SFO and the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for reviewing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

As of the date of this report, the Directors were not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified
Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor as
the auditors for the Reporting Period. A statement by
PricewaterhouseCoopers about their reporting responsibilities for
the financial statements is included in the Independent
Auditors’ Report of this annual report.
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Details of the fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, R E MR TR RIEFARBE T EN
in respect of the audit and non-audit services for the Reporting BARNEIZEEN B ABRMEN T & -

Period are set out in the table below:

Service category RMB’'000
PR % 38 Bl AR¥T T
Audit services: BT R

— Annual audit service — FEERS 3,486

Permissible audit related and non-audit services: EFFHETHEMIEZTH R :

— Audit related services — TR AR 106
— Non-audit services (including tax advisory and — FEARB(REVBLERR
other consulting services) HthA RS 2,072

Total #Et 5,664
VIIl. COMPANY SECRETARY AND PRIMARY NFRRFREMERTEBREA

CONTACT OF THE COMPANY

The Company engaged Ms. Kwok Siu Ying, Sarah, the manager N2 A BE F Vistra  Corporate  Services (HK)

of Corporate Services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited Limited (—R A B WERBHER) W ER

(a company secretarial service provider), as a joint company TR IR SBI & L+ AR R AR EEE R A

secretary of the Company. Ms. Zhou Min, is another joint E o AR T RARRS —LIHBEATWME -

company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Zhou, the chief financial officer and a joint company AR ERVEERBERATWERLL A
secretary of the Company, is the primary corporate contact LLTRARANEZLERBAEA -

person of Ms. Kwok at the Company.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of BT ETARE3 291K RIRSHIM - A%
Ms. Zhou Min and Ms. Kwok Siu Ying, Sarah undertook not ZTRBKEZTHELETDLRI5/NER
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update MBS - LAEFRSORRE KA -

their skills and knowledge during the Reporting Period.



IX.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for
each substantially separate issue at Shareholder meetings,
including nomination and election of individual directors. All
resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each Shareholder meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one member which is a recognised clearing
house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21
days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit
of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to
propose resolutions may follow Article 12.3 of the Articles of
Association for requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting
and including a resolution at such meeting. The requirements
and procedures of Article 12.3 are set out above.

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to
Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election to
the office of Director at any general meeting unless during the
period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and ending no later than
seven days prior to the date of such meeting, there has been
given to the Secretary notice in writing by a member of the
Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given,
of his intention to propose such person for election and also
notice in writing signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected.

Inquiries to the Board

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or
requests to the Company as follows:

Address: Unit 1206, 12th Floor, No. 1089 Dongdaming
Road, Hongkou District, Shanghai, PRC

Email: ir@beautyfarm.com.cn

Telephone: 021-60953299

Enquiries will be dealt with in a timely and informative manner.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company recognizes the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
contribute Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.

The Company adopted the shareholders communication policy,
which set out the framework the Company has put in place to
promote effective communication with Shareholders so as to
enable them to engage actively with the Company and exercise
their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner. The
shareholders communication policy has been reviewed on a
regular basis by the Board of the Company.

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors and
other stakeholders. These include (i) the publication of interim
and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and
other announcements; (ii) the annual general meeting or
extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for
Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with the
Board; (iii) updated and key information of the Group available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website;
(iv) the Company’s website offering communication channel
between the Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s
share registrar in Hong Kong serving the Shareholders in
respect of all share registration matters; and (vi) convening
investor meeting and/or analyst briefings, which led by our
investor relations team with existing and potential investors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company convened one
extraordinary general meeting on February 20, 2024 and one
annual general meeting on June 27, 2024, respectively.

The Company considers that the shareholders’” communication
policy was effectively conducted during the Reporting Period.
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XI.

XIl.

DIVIDEND POLICY

While achieving steady performance growth, we have always
prioritized sharing the Company’s development outcomes with
our shareholders. To genuinely reward shareholder trust and
distribute the fruits of our progress, on March 26, 2025, the
Board approved the amendment to the dividend policy, where
the Company will, in the absence of special circumstances,
make distribution by way of ordinary dividend per annum over
the next three full financial years and will distribute no less
than 50% of the Company’s net profit attributable to owners
of the Company during such year.

Any declaration and distribution of dividends must comply with
the articles of association of the Company and the applicable
Cayman Companies Law. The Company further noted that the
dividend payments also depend on the availability of dividends
received from its subsidiaries in China, which are subject to
restrictions under applicable regulations and accounting
standards in China.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to the special resolution passed at the Company’s
extraordinary general meeting on February 20, 2024, the
Company resolved to amend the articles of association of the
Company for the purpose of updating and bringing the Articles
of Association in line with the amendments to Listing Rules’
which mandate the electronic dissemination of corporate
communications by listed issuers to their securities holders from
December 31, 2023 onwards, as well as other housekeeping
amendments.

There is no other change in the Articles of Association during
the Reporting Period. The currently valid Articles of Association
is available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors is pleased to submit this report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended December 31,
2024 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Yang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. LIAN Songyong
(Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chairman of the Board)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Tenghe (appointed on August 27, 2024)
Mr. ZHAI Feng (resigned on August 27, 2024)
Mr. GENG Jiaqgi

Ms. LI Fangyu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FAN Mingchao
Mr. LIU Teng
Mr. JIANG Hua

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

The Company has received written confirmation from all independent
non-executive Directors regarding their independence as required
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February
10, 2022, as an exempted limited liability company under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on January 16, 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Beauty Farm is a leading beauty and wellness service brand in the
PRC. We are committed to providing high-quality beauty and wellness
services, aesthetic medical services as well as subhealth medical
services according to the individual needs of customers. The activities
of the Company’'s subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Company’s revenue and operating profit for the
year by principal activities is set out in the section headed
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required under
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), comprising a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year, and an indication of likely future development in the business of
the Group are provided in the section headed “Chairperson’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Report of
the Directors” of this annual report. All such discussions form part of
this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Certain key risks and uncertainties we face include: (i) any negative
public perception of our brand or reputation will have a material
adverse effect on our business; (i) we face customer complaints,
claims and legal proceedings in the course of our daily operations; (iii)
we may not be able to obtain, hold or renew all permits, licenses,
certificates and other regulatory filings; (iv) China’s ongoing regulatory
reform of the beauty and health management services industry is
unpredictable, and we may be subject to new or more stringent
regulations, which may result in significant additional expenses for
which we may be subject to penalties; (v) in an environment of
greater economic difficulties and challenges, laws and regulations in
China may be more stringent with respect to the prepaid card
business and the franchise business, which may result in a decrease in
cash flow, an increase in pre-positioned funds and our vicarious
liability for the liabilities of our franchisee’s customers; (vi)the market
of the beauty and health management services may not grow as
expected, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition; (vii) our business
performance may be adversely affected by the negative public
perception of the beauty and health management services industry as
a whole; and (viii) we are exposed to the risk of impairment losses
related to goodwill recognized on acquisitions, whereas impairment
losses related to intangible assets could have a material impact on our
profitability.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to operating its business in compliance
with applicable environmental protection laws and regulations and has
implemented relevant environmental protection measures in
compliance with the required standards under applicable PRC laws
and regulations.

The Company does not involve in factory operations or consumes any
hazardous chemicals in its business process. As a result, we believe
that there will be no significant impact on the environment and
natural resources in the business operation of the Group. The main
impact is mainly the greenhouse gas generated when the stores and
offices use electricity, medical waste discharge and certain beauty
equipment and product suppliers are located outside China, the
greenhouse gas may be generated during the transportation and
certain waste packaging generated from the Group’s operation and
suppliers’ products may aggravate global warming.

Therefore, the Company not only reduces energy consumption, water
consumption, greenhouse gas emissions and waste disposal through
the use of energy-saving facilities and equipment, simplifies product
packaging, advocates paperless office, promotes the use of electronic
documents instead of traditional paper documents, uses intelligent
remote sockets in the office place, remotely controls power switches
through mobile phone applications, and monitors the energy
consumption of electrical appliances in real time, but also actively
supports the green transformation in the supply chain and requires
suppliers and partners to adopt sustainable production and
transportation methods to ensure that the entire value chain plays a
role in environmental protection.

Further details of the Company’s environmental policies and
performance are disclosed in “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”. All such discussions form part of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended December 31, 2024, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group
for the Reporting Period are set out in the section headed
“"Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. As at December
31, 2024, the Group had no material contributions available to
reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future years.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in social security schemes operated
by the local government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the social security
schemes. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the social security
schemes. There are no provisions under the scheme whereby forfeited
contributions may be used to reduce future contributions.

Details of the contributions to the pension schemes of the Company
are set out in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this Annual Report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

In 2024, the purchases from the top five suppliers amounted to
RMB122.46 million, accounting for approximately 28.4% of our total
purchases. In 2024, the purchase from the largest supplier amounted
to RMB38.11 million, accounting for approximately 8.9% of our total
purchases. During the Reporting Period, we did not encounter any
supply disruptions, supply shortages, early termination of supply
agreements or inability to obtain sufficient supplies that would have
any material adverse impact on our business or results of operations.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
Shareholder of the Company (who, to the knowledge of our
Directors, owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company) has any interest in any of five largest suppliers of the
Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, our customers mainly consisted of
individual clients and franchisees. Sales to the top five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for less than 1.0% of our total
revenue during the Reporting Period.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Details of our relationship with various stakeholders (including
customers, suppliers, partners, employees and shareholders) are
disclosed in the "“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the
Company.

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company is not aware of
any changes in Directors’ information that is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors of the Company has entered into
a contract with the Company which contains provisions in relation to,
among other things, compliance of relevant laws and regulations,
observance of the Articles of Association and provisions on
arbitration.

The initial term for their respective appointment letters shall
commence from the Listing Date or the applicable appointment date
for the relevant Director (as the case might be) and continue for a
period of three years subject always to re-election as and when
required under the Articles of Association, until terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letter
or by either party giving to the other not less than 30 days’ prior
notice in writing.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have entered into any
service contract with any member of the Group (excluding
agreements expiring or determinable by any member of the Group
within one vyear without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).

20245 FEHEBEREREFXEGRAAF 73

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
e

TERF

RBEHAR  BENEFPIE2REBEATPLLME
e RBREHARAIAARTPIELEHES L4
WADTR1.0% e

HNSZMEELTNERZBE
RMEREES  (EE  AEBHE  EIREE
=& FIz BT B EE  BENARAMN R

B-HakBERABE]-

EERCSREEERE

BERAARRRNBEHANEERSRERENER
HEERAFRIEZRSREEE] 4 -

EZERNEH

MARFERAPEEI AR ANBEETERN
EREEHBREFEETHRBEI1351BOMEIEHBE -

EESNRBKELN
ARRBRRATDGUAPTES - FNTEERSD
SHEBITEETLREBE - P REEWN(HEe
1) BT RRDAR AR - M TARERERRRR
HRETENRE -

REZXENZEENVHRBRIGE T A LA
EE7ERZERYBRBERME) EAH=%F " 8
EEMIER TERRABERAMR MR EBEET
BEERBZEENEREGHEIHET—TRS—
FEETDPRIOAMNEAEEEMTARERLLE -

MEEFRAEETMKERBIEAI LSBT ZIE
AIRBAEH (R—FRERXA AR EBEEIMKE
REIRMNIEE CEERERIN) MR LERHHERIN) o



74 Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
e

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended December 31, 2024 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate; and none
of the Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of
18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The aggregate amount of remuneration and benefits in kind
(including any possible payment of discretionary bonus and equity-
settled share-based compensation expense) which were paid by the
Group to our five highest paid individual (including both employees
and Directors) for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 were RMB23,141,000, RMB29,881,000 and RMB24,046,000,
respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended December 31,
2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions
and Connected Transactions” below, during the Reporting Period,
there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party
and which were material to the business of the Group and the
Directors directly or indirectly have material interest.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions
and Connected Transactions” below, during the Reporting Period,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries entered into any
material contract with its controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries in respect of the provision of any services.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Li Yang, Ms. Li Fangyu, Mr. Lian Songyong, Ms. Niu Guifen,
Mr. Cui Yuanjun and Ms. Yuan Huimin (each being the controlling
shareholder of the Company) have entered into a non-competition
undertaking for the benefit of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder Non-Competition Undertaking”). Pursuant to the
Controlling Shareholder Non-Competition Undertaking, the
above-mentioned controlling shareholders undertake that they will not
and will use their best efforts to procure that their respective
associates (except any member companies of the Group) will not,
directly or indirectly or as principal or agent on their own account or
jointly with or on behalf of any person, firm, company or entity,
conduct, engage in, invest in, participate in, attempt to participate in
any competing business or investment activities which is the same or
similar to any of our core business (i.e. provision of beauty and
health management services (i.e. beauty and wellness services,
aesthetic medical services, and subhealth medical services)) (the
“Restricted Business(es)”), hold any rights or have any financial
interests in or otherwise participate in or have an interest (financial or
otherwise) in such business(es) (whether alone or jointly with other
persons, whether directly or indirectly or on behalf of or assisting or
acting in concert with any other person).

Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell Anti-aging Hospital Co., Ltd. (“Hainan
Qiyan”) has also entered into a non-competition undertaking for the
benefit of the Company (the “Hainan Qiyan Non-Competition
Undertaking”). Pursuant to the Hainan Qiyan Non-Competition
Undertaking, Hainan Qiyan undertakes that it will not and will use its
best efforts to procure that its associates (except any member
companies of the Group) will not, directly or indirectly or as principal
or agent on their own account or jointly with or on behalf of any
person, firm, company or entity, conduct, engage in, invest in,
participate in, attempt to participate in any competing business or
investment activities which is the same or similar to the Restricted
Business(es), hold any rights or have any financial interests in or
otherwise participate in or have an interest (financial or otherwise) in
such business(es) (whether alone or jointly with other persons,
whether directly or indirectly or on behalf of or assisting or acting in
concert with any other person).

.
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According to the annual statement on compliance with the above
non-competition undertakings provided by each party in the
Controlling Shareholder Non-Competition Undertaking and Hainan
Qiyan Non-Competition Undertaking, which is dated February 23,
2025, they confirmed that they have complied with the undertakings
made in the above non-competition undertakings during the period
from January 1 to December 31, 2024 (the “Relevant Period”). The
independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed
them in the annual review. In summary, the independent non-
executive Directors have confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain,
the above-mentioned persons have not violated their non-competition
undertakings. Save as disclosed above, none of the directors is
interested in any business which competes, or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly with the Company’s business.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions
and Connected Transactions” below, no contracts relating to
management and administrative affairs of all or any major part of the
businesses of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had entered into
certain non-exempt continuing connected transactions as set out
below. Other material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024, which do not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, are disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, during the year ended December 31, 2024 the
Company had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Contractual Arrangements

The Special Administrative Measures for the Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2021) (4N & EHE ARSI
(B mEE)(20214 Hk)) (the “Negative List”) promulgated
jointly by the MOFCOM and the NDRC, the Negative List
stipulates industries in which foreign investments is restricted
and prohibited. According to the Negative List, the operation of
medical institutions falls within the “restricted category”, and
therefore may not be held 100% by foreign investors. On
September 7, 2024, the MOFCOM, the National Health
Commission and the National Medical Products Administration
issued the Notice of the MOFCOM, the National Health
Commission and the National Medical Products Administration
on Launching Pilot Projects to Expand Opening up in the
Medical Field (B BIREEIEREZHNREERENEREE
120 58 R 4 K B B B T8 AN) (MOFCOM Letter [2024] No.
568, the “Notice”). According to the Notice, the relevant
authorities intend to permit the establishment of wholly
foreign-owned hospitals in specific cities and regions (excluding
traditional Chinese medicine hospitals and public hospital
acquisitions) in Beijing, Tianjin, Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou,
Fuzhou, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hainan Island. Specific
conditions, requirements and procedures for the establishment
of wholly foreign-owned hospitals will be announced separately
by the relevant authorities. After the issuance of the Notice, the
Company consulted the windows of the market supervision and
management departments in Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen and
other places. As at December 31, 2024, the aforesaid
authorised departments indicated that the industrial and
commercial registration procedures involved in the
establishment of wholly foreign-owned hospitals have not yet
been opened, and the relevant business will be further opened
to the public upon the implementation of the business handling
rules. In addition, after checking the Negative List (2024),
medical institutions are still limited to joint ventures only, and
the restrictions on foreign investment in medical institutions
nationwide have not been adjusted compared with the Negative
List (2021).
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According to the Provisional Measures for the Administration on
Sino-Foreign Equity and Cooperative Medical Institutions (9 #h
BB AEEERBEIEETIE and the above updated
information, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more
than 70% equity interest in a medical institution. As part of
our business, our Group operates medical institutions which
offer medical services including aesthetic medical services
(including a limited amount of surgical aesthetic medical
services that are classified as low-risk Grade | medical
procedures according to the applicable laws and regulations)
and subhealth assessment and intervention services (the
“Relevant Businesses”). The operation of such medical
institutions fall into the scope of the “restricted” category of
the Negative List. As such, Relevant Businesses are operated in
accordance with above-mentioned restrictions by the Group.

Shanghai Liernuo and the contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) entered into with members of our
Group are therefore necessary for us to hold part of our
interest in the Relevant Business. During the Reporting Period,
we generated approximately RMB291.16 million in revenue from
the Contractual Arrangement, representing approximately
11.32% of our revenue during the Reporting Period, and the
net asset subject to the Contractual Arrangement was
approximately RMB76.99 million, representing approximately
7.89% of our net asset during the Reporting Period. Please
refer to note 2.1.4 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this annual report for further details of the
Restricted Medical Institutions which are partially held by
Shanghai Liernuo.

Save as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated June
13, 2024 and herein, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group, Mr. Li and/or Shanghai Liernuo during the
Reporting Period. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under
which they were adopted during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound on the basis that none of
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements had been removed. As of the end of the
Reporting Period, the Company had not encountered
interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in
operating its businesses under the Contractual Arrangements.
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The Contractual Arrangements applies to the equity interest of
Shanghai Liernuo, which in turn holds minority interest in the
Group’s Restricted Medical Institutions.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of
economic benefits from our Restricted Medical Institutions to
our Group as stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:

.
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Mr. Li is the registered shareholder of Shanghai Liernuo.

"4—»" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the
equity interest.

"4 - " denotes contractual relationship.

" denotes the entities that are subject to the Contractual

Arrangements.

A brief description of the specific agreements that comprise the
Contractual Arrangements is set out below.
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Exclusive Operation Services Agreements

Mr. Li, Shanghai Beauty Farm, Naturade (together with
Shanghai Beauty Farm, the “Group Entities”) and the
Restricted Medical Institutions have entered into exclusive
operation services agreements with Shanghai Liernuo on
various dates between 2022 and 2024, to ensure that
both the existing and new medical institutions that
require VIE arrangements are covered by the contract,
pursuant to which, the Restricted Medical Institutions,
Mr. Li and Shanghai Liernuo agreed to engage Shanghai
Beauty Farm and Naturade as their exclusive provider of
technical support, consulting services and other services in
exchange for a service fee.

Under the agreement, the services to be provided include
but are not limited to (i) business, financing and
investment, (ii) medical technology related consultation,
medical resources sharing and medical professionals
training, (iii) human resources management, (iv) market
research, (v) strategies for marketing and business
expansion, (vi) supplier and inventory management, (vii)
operation and marketing strategy formulation and
monitoring, (viii) medical service quality control, (ix)
internal management and (x) other services relating to
management and operation of medical institutions. Each
of Shanghai Beauty Farm and Naturade has proprietary
rights to all the intellectual properties developed or
created by itself from the performance of these services,
respectively. During the term of the exclusive operation
service agreement, the relevant Group Entities may use
the intellectual property rights owned by Shanghai
Liernuo and the Restricted Medical Institutions free of
charge and without any conditions.

The service fee payable shall be an amount equal to the
distributable net profit of the Restricted Medical
Institutions of a given audited financial year, after
deducting losses from the previous financial years (if any)
and any statutory provident fund (if applicable). Apart
from the service fees, Shanghai Liernuo and the
Restricted Medical Institutions shall reimburse all
reasonable costs, reimbursed payments and out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by Shanghai Beauty Farm and Naturade
respectively in connection with the performance of the
exclusive operation services agreement and provision of
services.
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Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements

Between 2022 and 2024, the relevant Group Entities,
Mr. Li, Shanghai Liernuo, and the Restricted Medical
Institutions entered into exclusive purchase option
agreements to ensure that both the existing and new
medical institutions that require VIE arrangements are
covered by the contract.

Pursuant to the agreements, (i) Mr. Li irrevocably and
unconditionally grants an exclusive option to the Group
Entities which entitles the relevant Group Entities to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity interest
in Shanghai Liernuo itself or through its designated
person(s), (ii) Shanghai Liernuo irrevocably and
unconditionally grants an exclusive option to the Group
Entities which entitles the relevant Group Entities to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or part of the assets of Shanghai
Liernuo itself or through its designated person(s), (iii)
Shanghai Liernuo irrevocably and unconditionally grants
an exclusive option to the Group Entities which entitles
the relevant Group Entities or its designated person to
elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by the
then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity
interests held by Shanghai Liernuo in the Restricted
Medical Institutions from Shanghai Liernuo itself or
through the relevant Group Entities’ designated person(s),
(iv) the Restricted Medical Institutions irrevocably and
unconditionally grants an exclusive option to the Group
Entities which entitles the relevant Group Entities to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity
interests of the Restricted Medical Institutions, and (v) the
Restricted Medical Institutions irrevocably and
unconditionally grant an exclusive option to the Group
Entities which entitles the relevant Group Entities to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or part of the assets of the
Restricted Medical Institutions from the Restricted Medical
Institutions directly or indirectly attributable to Shanghai
Liernuo themselves or through the relevant Group
Entities’ designated person(s), the relevant Group Entity
may appoint designated person(s) in its sole discretion
when exercising its option. The transfer price of the
relevant equity interests and assets shall be the minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law, and each of
Mr. Li, Shanghai Liernuo and the Restricted Medical
Institutions will undertake that he/it will, subject to
applicable PRC laws, return in full the consideration
received in relation to such transfer of equity interests or
assets to the relevant Group Entity and/or its designated
person(s).
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i) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements

Between 2022 and 2024, the relevant Group Entities,
Mr. Li, Shanghai Liernuo and the Restricted Medical
Institutions entered into the shareholders’ rights
entrustment agreements to ensure that both the existing
and new medical institutions that require VIE
arrangements are covered by the contract. Pursuant to
the agreements, (i) Mr. Li irrevocably agree to authorize
the relevant Group Entity (and its successors or
liquidators) or a natural person designated by the relevant
Group Entity to exercise all of its rights and powers as a
shareholder of Shanghai Liernuo, including the rights to
vote at a shareholders’ meeting, sign minutes, and file
documents with the relevant companies registry, (ii)
Shanghai Liernuo irrevocably agrees to authorize the
relevant Group Entity (and its successors or liquidators) or
a natural person designated by Shanghai Beauty Farm to
exercise all of its rights and powers as a shareholder of
the Restricted Medical Institutions (as applicable),
including the rights to vote at a shareholders’ meeting,
sign minutes, and file documents with the relevant
companies registry. Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements, the power of attorney granted
in favor of the relevant Group Entity and actions it takes
in relation to the Contractual Arrangement will only be
decided by officers or Directors other than Mr. Li (being
a registered holder). As the relevant Group Entities is a
subsidiary of the Company, the terms of the
shareholders’ rights entrustment agreements will give the
Company control over all corporate decisions of the
Restricted Medical Institutions and 100% equity interests
of Shanghai Liernuo.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Between 2022 and 2024, Shanghai Liernuo, Mr. Li, the
relevant Group Entities and the Restricted Medical
Institutions entered into equity pledge agreements to
ensure that both the existing and new medical
institutions that require VIE arrangements are covered by
the contract. Pursuant to the agreements, (i) Mr. Li agree
to pledge all of his equity interests in Shanghai Liernuo,
and (ii) Shanghai Liernuo agrees to pledge all of its
equity interests in the Restricted Medical Institutions to
the relevant Group Entity to secure performance of all
their obligations and the obligations of Mr. Li, Shanghai
Liernuo and the Restricted Medical Institutions under the
agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements.
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Spousal Undertakings

The spouse of Mr. Li has signed an undertaking to the
effect that she has no right to or control over such
interests of the respective persons and will not have any
claim on such interests under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Risk Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are the certain risks that are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements, including:

if the PRC government deems our Contractual
Arrangements does not comply with PRC regulatory
restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant
industries, we could be subject to penalties or be forced
to relinquish our interests in those operations.

we rely on Contractual Arrangements to exercise control
over Shanghai Liernuo and Restricted Medical Institutions,
which may not be as effective as direct ownership in
providing operational control.

contractual Arrangements we have entered into may be
subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and may
adversely affect our tax liabilities.

Shanghai Liernuo or its shareholder may fail to perform
their obligation and/or might have conflicts of interest
with the Group in relation to the Contractual
Arrangements.

substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of foreign investment
law in the PRC.

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation of our Group with the implementation and
compliance of the Contractual Arrangements:

major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;
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o our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in its
annual reports and interim reports to update our
Shareholders and potential investors; and

o our Company will engage external legal advisers or other
professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and the legal compliance of the relevant
Group Entities, Shanghai Liernuo and the Restricted
Medical Institutions to deal with specific issues or matters
arising from the Contractual Arrangements.

The Hainan Qiyan Cooperation Agreement

Shanghai Beauty Farm has entered into a cooperation
agreement dated December 31, 2024 with Hainan Qiyan (the
“Cooperation Agreement”), for a term commencing from
January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2027. Pursuant of which,
based on the provision of overall solutions of beauty and health
to customers, Shanghai Beauty Farm will join hands with
Hainan Qiyan to provide services to customers. Shanghai Beauty
Farm is responsible for providing consultations to our clients,
coordinating and scheduling of meeting between the client and
Hainan Qiyan, client relationship maintenance and other
administrative tasks required to facilitate the cooperation.
Shanghai Beauty Farm will only provide clients’ information to
Hainan Qiyan with the client’s consent. In addition, Hainan
Qiyan will also join hands with the Group to provide services to
its patients in need of diagnostic services, including functional
assessment and sub-health assessment services for overall health
conditions, chronic disease, mental health screening and
electrical impedance analysis on the digestive system (the
“Diagnostic Service Referral”). Prior to the signing of the
aforesaid agreement, Shanghai Beauty Farm and Hainan Qiyan
had entered into a 3-year cooperation agreement dated
January 1, 2022, which expired on December 31, 2024, in
relation to the aforesaid cooperation.
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Pricing and Annual Cap

Shanghai Beauty Farm shall receive a cooperation fee, the
amount of which will be settled on an order basis separately
according to the costs and expenses incurred by Shanghai
Beauty Farm in providing services, including but not limited to
labor, travel, venue rental, ancillary care and products, brand
use and Hainan Qiyan shall charge such clients fees in
accordance with the price list applicable to all clients. Clients
will be charged no other fees in relation to services provided by
Hainan Qiyan and if the above clients service are provided by
the franchised stores, part of the cooperation fee will be paid
directly to the franchised stores. The «calculation of the
cooperation fee was determined through arm’s length
negotiation between Hainan Qiyan and Shanghai Beauty Farm
with reference to similar cooperation arrangements and is no
less favorable to the Group than cooperation fee that the
Group charges the Independent Third Parties who sought
similar services from the Group.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into between Shanghai
Beauty Farm and Hainan Qiyan on December 31, 2024, the
total amount the total amount of the cooperation fees under
the Cooperation Agreement for the years ending December 31,
2025, December 31, 2026, and December 31, 2027, should not
exceed RMB49 million, RMB51 million and RMB54 million,
respectively. During the Report Period, the amount of
cooperation fees payable pursuant to the cooperation
agreement was RMB36.99 million and the annual cap is
RMB44.10 million.

The Hainan Qiyan Property Lease Agreement

Hainan Meirui entered into a property lease agreement dated
December 31, 2024 with Hainan Qiyan (the “Property Lease
Agreement”) for a term commencing from January 1, 2025 to
December 31, 2027. Pursuant to which, Hainan Qiyan leases
from Hainan Meirui for business operation and dormitory space
in Bo’Ao, Hainan province with an aggregate area of 4,618
sq.m. Prior to the signing of the aforesaid agreement, Hainan
Meirui and Hainan Qiyan had entered into a 3-year property
lease agreement dated January 1, 2022, which expired on
December 31, 2024, in relation to the aforesaid property lease.
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Pricing and Annual Cap

The rent to be charged is RMB7.41 million, RMB7.78 million
and RMB8.17 million per annum for the year 2025, 2026 and
2027, respectively. The rent was determined by Hainan Qiyan
and our Group through arm’s length negotiation based on a
number of factors including but not limited to the prevailing
market rent of similar property located in the vicinity and the
terms of the lease and the rent payable is exclusive of utilities
usage which Hainan Qiyan pays directly to the relevant utilities
service provider.

During the Report Period, the amount of rent payable pursuant
to the lease agreement was RMB7.06 million and the annual
cap is RMB7.06 million.

Mr. Li is directly interested in 0.01% of Hainan Qiyan’s
registered share capital and the remaining 99.99% of Hainan
Qiyan's registered share capital are held by Shanghai Qishi
Commercial Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/&
MHEmEEEABREE(BRAER)), a limited partnership that
is in turn controlled by Mr. Li and Ms. Li. Hainan Qiyan is
therefore regarded as a connected person of our Company.
Therefore, the aforementioned transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions of our Company as Mr. Li
and Ms. Li are connected persons of the Group.

We have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock
Exchange has granted, (i) a waiver from strict compliance with
the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.105 of the
Listing Rules in relation to the Cooperation Agreement and
Property Lease Agreement, and (i) a waiver from strict
compliance with the announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 14A.105, the
requirement of setting an annual cap under Rule 14A.53 and
the requirement limiting the term of the transaction to three
years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules in relation
to the Contractual Arrangement. The aforementioned waiver in
relation to the Contractual Arrangement is subject to the
following conditions:

o no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

o no change without independent Shareholders’ approval,
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o the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable our
Group to receive the entire economic benefits derived by
the Restricted Medical Institutions and Shanghai Liernuo;

o the Contractual Arrangements may be renewed and/or
reproduce (i) upon expiry or (i) in relation to any
existing, newly established or acquired wholly foreign
invested enterprise or operating company (including a
branch company) engaging in the same business as that
of our Group which the Group might wish to establish
when justified by business expediency, without obtaining
Shareholders’ approval, on substantially the same terms
and conditions as the Contractual Arrangements; and

o our Group will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

The Cooperation Framework Agreement

On August 27, 2024, Shenzhen Naturade entered into a
cooperation framework agreement with Guangzhou
Beiminsheng for an initial term of three years with effect from
September 1, 2024 permitting beauty and wellness service
stores operated by Guangzhou Beiminsheng to be operated
under the Naturade brand in accordance with the terms of the
cooperation framework agreement and each specific franchising
agreement entered between the Guangzhou Beiminsheng
Group and Shenzhen Naturade. It also provides for the use of
equipment, systems and products supplied by Shenzhen
Naturade and payment to be made in connection with
cooperation between the franchisee stores and the Group.

20245k XEBHEBERREXBFRAR 87

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
o 3 7 9

. BRIV B B AN 5 B U AR ) B8

BRER LEBREELNZHEER

. (VERALHERE - H(NERAEE
FIREH R AR I A B AR AR [E
e =M R EBRER IR A HFR LK
BRI EBEELEIKERT (BED
RAE)  ZAHRB ARG ER]
FENBER MREREANRFAREHER
BV IR RGBSR ER] R

. AEERFERBESORHFNFE -

ATEER B

M2024F8A278  FIIEmTHEMNERER
FIVAEERERGE VIHRBERA=F " 8
2024 F9ORTHRBER  ATEMERERLE
HEARRBRBFIERES EERGZ R
BMNEEREEER)IRIGEZRTUNSTER
BT EHENGRE  URInRmELEE -
ZHENRERY R E T RENRE - B4
MEGNER REBMNEERRNEBREE
Z M-



"

88 Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
i 3 7 94

Pricing and Annual Cap

The annual cap of the fees payable to and from the Group in
connection with the cooperation framework agreement is set
forth below:

EERFELR

RAFERBREAAREINREAEHE
SN ERHFE EREINMT

Period from Period from
September 1, January 1,
2024 to  Year ending  Year ending 2027 to
December 31, December 31, December 31, August 31,
2024 2025 2026 2027
2024F9R1AH BZ2025F  HZ2026F 2027F1A1AH
£2024F 12A31H 12A31H £2027F
1283104 LEEE LFEE 8A31AHMA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Fee payable to the Group ENEEEER
Franchising Fee, System Usage Fee, MMEBEEF - Z&i(F B
Backend Support Fee and BRH BETZEER
Training Fee Ri%31 % 10,000 20,000 22,000 15,000
Product Supply Fee EmtEE A 1,000 2,000 3,000 2,000
Total wet 11,000 22,000 25,000 17,000
Fee payable by the Group rEBESER
Cooperation Fee SEEH 14,000 32,000 36,000 28,000

Franchising Fee, System Usage Fee and Training Fee

The Guangzhou Beiminsheng Group shall pay Shenzhen
Naturade and/or other members of the Group a franchising fee,
system usage fee, backend support fee and training fee and in
exchange, they shall be permitted operate under the Naturade
brand, utilize systems and receive training from Shenzhen
Naturade in accordance with the arrangement under specific
franchising agreements entered into pursuant to the
cooperation framework agreement.

Product Supply Fee

The Guangzhou Beiminsheng Group shall pay a product supply
fee for equipment and products procured by them in
connection with operating the franchise stores.

IBER  ZREHEA 5 EF

BEMNERREBARMRYIRG R R LAE
BEMKEARXMNINBER ZRERE
A #axXBERREINIER  ERZH - K
EREAERBREAFERBATLHAR
RRFEEmEER TR AR R mEL
2 ERRIRERZNEGREZRINRG

SEENEEF o

EmitEEH

EMNERREEARERBHELENAE
BRNEBREMNERTRERER -



Cooperation Fee

Based on the provision of overall solutions for beauty and
health to customers, the Guangzhou Beiminsheng Group will
jointly provide services to customers with the Group’s aesthetic
medical and sub-health medical businesses to provide services,
refer customers to the aforesaid two businesses, and provide
services such as customer consultations, coordination and
arrangement, maintenance of customer relationship and
customer management and other services in the course of the
referral process, which incurred necessary costs, as a result of
which the Group will pay the corresponding service cooperation
fee to Guangzhou Beiminsheng Group in respect of the above
customer referrals.

The transactions under the Cooperation Framework Agreement
was determined between the parties based on arm’s length
negotiation after having considered a range of factors based on
the specific nature of each category of transaction. The
franchising fee will be determined based on the overall business
plan and expected operational scale (which will take into
account its level of staff, customer base and the operating area
of the stores), estimated sales to be generated from franchised
store and the support that will be required from Shenzhen
Naturade to implement the franchising arrangement. The
product supply fee will be determined based on the “cost-plus”
model in accordance with the cost of the equipment and
products procured by the franchise stores, whereby Shenzhen
Naturade will charge a price reflecting a margin over its cost.
The cooperation fee will be determined based on a referred
client’s actual spending with the Group, whereby the Group will
charge such referred clients in accordance with price list that is
applicable to all its clients.

The annual cap for each category of transaction was
determined in accordance with (i) the volume of business that
the franchise stores of the Guangzhou Beiminsheng Group is
expected to generate accounting for their current and expected
future performances, and (ii) the Group’s cost for undertaking
the services and goods to be provided under the cooperation
framework agreement.

During the period between September 1, 2024 to December
31, 2024, the amount of franchising, system usage fee and
training fee payable pursuant to the cooperation agreement
was RMB8.88 million, the product supple fee payable pursuant
to the cooperation agreement was RMB0.86 million, and the
cooperation fees payable pursuant to the cooperation
agreement was RMB2.81 million.
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The Lease Framework Agreement

On August 27, 2024, Naturade Health and Naturade entered
into a lease framework agreement with the term between
September 1, 2024 and June 30, 2026 agreeing a framework
of the terms on lease on which any member(s) of the
Guangzhou Naturade Group may enter into and renew any
lease agreement in respect of the properties held by the
Naturade Health Technology Company Limited and its affiliates
from time to time as may be necessary for the future business
needs of the Guangzhou Naturade Group.

Pricing and Annual Cap

The annual cap of the rent payable by the Group under with
leases entered into pursuant to the lease framework agreement
is as follows:

5. MHEEZEWE
N2024E8A27H » BRI REEERIERE
—MHEEELERG BIRBE2024F9A1HE
2026F6 A308 « A1F THERGHIESR - &
o BENREREBNEAKERARHARH
SERRERMEERARLEBB AL
EHMETR Y REETMHAERZ (M
Z)  UmREMNEmREERKEBT K-

EEBRFRE LR
REBERBHEERHEITLONEE - BN
HEMFEE LRIOT
Period from
September 1, Period from
2024 to Year ending January 1,
December 31, December 31, 2026 to June
2024 2025 30, 2026
202459814 BE2025F 2026F1H1H8
ZF2024F 12A31H 2026
12A31HH™ tHEE 630 HIMA
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETT ARBETT

Lease agreements under the Lease HEERBHRETZ
Framework Agreement HE W=

The annual caps are determined after taking into account,
amongst others, (i) the estimated total transaction amount for
the year ending December 31, 2024 representing the estimated
transaction amount of for the four months ending December
31, 2024, principally based on the terms of agreements; (i) the
projected demand and the expected rent for properties leased
by the Guangzhou Naturade Group from the Naturade Health
Technology Company Limited in the future; (iii) the weighted
average lessees’ incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities; and (iv) the expected market rental rate for premises
of comparable size, usage and location.

During the period between September 1, 2024 to December
31, 2024, the amount of rent payable under the lease
framework agreement was RMB2.38 million.

2,400 7,000 3,500

FELFREEE(EPEE) ()EHZ2024412
A3MBILFEBEARSHEE  DEBRER
FIEREENEZE2024F12 8318 1H418 A
WEFRSEE: (VENERTZEEREAR
FmREENEERARNAENENTENT
JREHAS  (NEARBEERGEMINET
HEA A EERFE RGWATLLARAE - A
BRRNBNYENETTSHESEERT -
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Naturade Health Technology Company Limited is a substantial
shareholder of Naturade and a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level and Guangzhou Beiminsheng
and Naturade Health are associates of Naturade Health
Technology Company Limited. Accordingly, the Cooperation
Framework Agreement and the Lease Framework Agreement
constitute connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Since the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
annual cap for the aforementioned cooperation framework
agreement and the lease framework agreement exceeds 0.1%
but is less than 5%, the transactions contemplated thereunder
are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but were exempt from the circular, independent financial advice
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions as set out in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
Auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of these continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in the Annual Report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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The independent non-executive Directors, upon review of the
overall performance of and compliance with the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that (other
than the Contractual Arrangements), the non-exempt continuing
connected transaction for the Reporting Period were: (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of the Company’s business; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better to the Company; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. In relation to the
Contractual Arrangements, the independent non-executive
Director confirmed that: (i) the transactions carried out during
the Reporting Period have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (i) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by Shanghai
Liernuo which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group; and (iii) saved as disclosed herein, no
new contract has been entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and Shanghai Liernuo during the Reporting
Period during the Reporting Period.

The Company has complied with the disclosure and other
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and the relevant waivers in respect of the
aforementioned transactions.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of our Company in any of the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including any interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
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HEZR AR

HE2024F128318  EFLARARSTHAE
RARBIHEREEE (TEREFRBEKRIE
XVEB) B 5 $Bﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁé:ﬁﬂh%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁwﬁm
%&Hﬂiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ%XV*B%NSZ%S"*B%H A
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provisions of the SFO) or which were recorded in the register required Eﬁﬁf‘i‘iﬂfﬂ}ﬂfﬂﬁaﬁﬁ’]ﬁé*&u\ﬁ jz;ﬁ TR
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or ESFRIAE@ARR KB ZFTayER AR T ¢
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Number of issued share
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest Shares held™ capital®
HERITRABLY
BEEgR B REmME FiERHEED REBDLL®
Li Yang Interest in a controlled corporation® 2,000,000 0.85%
5 REEEE R
Adviser of a trust® 35,560,000 15.08%
{EFERR@
Interest jointly held with another person® 77,427,000 32.84%
HE—AATHERBFENERO
Spouse® 27,000 0.01%
=R
Li Fangyu Beneficial owner 7,000 0.003%
FHW EnliEA
Adviser of a trust?” 42,400,000 17.98%
EREERE
Interest jointly held with another person® 72,580,000 30.78%
HBE—ZATHAFAENHERS
Lian Songyong Adviser of a trust® 35,020,000 14.85%
EIRIK EETEMRE©
Interest jointly held with another person® 79,967,000 33.91%
HBE—ZATHAFAENHERS
Notes: B
(1) Unless otherwise indicated, shareholding set forth herein are long (1) MREEHRBEIN KRV RABE20245F121

positions held as at December 31, 2024.

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s
235,795,568 Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

31THMETFE °
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3)

)

(5)

Mr. Li is interested in the entire share capital of LIY Holdings Limited
which holds 2,000,000 Shares in the Company.

Mr. Li is the power holder of Tiantian Trust and is able to exercise the
voting rights of 35,560,000 Shares held by LIY Management Holdings
Limited, which is in turn owned as to 99.99% by LYBF Management
Holdings Limited and is wholly owned by Tiantian Trust.

Mr. Li, Ms. Li, Mr. Lian, Niu Guifen, Cui Yuanjun and Yuan Huimin have
entered into a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted
in concert in the management, decision-making and all major decisions
of our Group, as such, each of them are deemed to be interested in
the Shares each other is interested in. They are collectively interested in
the voting rights of 114,987,000 Shares.

Mr. Li's spouse, Ms. Chen Xiaomei, beneficially owns 27,000 Shares in
the Company.

Ms. Li is the power holder of Meimei Trust and is able to exercise the
voting rights of 42,400,000 Shares held by LIFY Management Holdings
Limited, which is in turn owned as to 99.99% by LFYE Management
Holdings Limited and is wholly owned by Meimei Trust.

Mr. Lian is the power holder of EffieA Trust and is able to exercise the
voting rights of 35,020,000 Shares held by Meiyao Holdings Limited,
which is in turn owned as to 69.63% by LIANSY Family Holdings
Limited and is wholly owned by EffieA Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, so far as it was
known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

()

B E XTI EEE SN -

Z 4 A FALIY Holdings Limited #9255 B 7 #E A
% v %A RIFEAE AR A R)2,000,000 8% B 5

Z 5 A& ATiantian TrustBI D3 E A - BETTEELY
Management Holdings Limited f7$5 35,560,000 0% %
P EYIZHE - LY Management Holdings Limited
FLYBF Management Holdings Limited % 99.99%
# 25 - YA Tiantian Trust2 & A ©

ThE Tt BRE FES ETEBERLE
BEIL—BITHATHZE  BRESHRASERN
B REEAMMBEARKEFRN—]ITE A
It HESEBWEANEBIARERREN RN
FiEE R - HEHRHES 114,987,000 % 8% 17 /3%
FhEEm o

2 5t O BEAB - R AT 4+ B 25 K A 727,000
BB o

F4+ AMeimei TrustlIENIFAE A - BEHITEELIFY
Management Holdings Limited fT#342,400,000 % %
B I ZERE - MLIFY Management Holdings Limited
FLFYE Management Holdings Limited# 75 99.99%
%  WhMeimei Trust2 &% A ©

B A BEffieA TrustENH B A @ BEHITE
Meiyao Holdings Limited FfT#535,020,000A% A% 15 &9
% ZEHE - MMeiyao Holdings Limited FLIANSY
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EffieA Trust2 & A °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As of December 31, 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
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HZE2024F128318 BEEMH - THAL(E
ERARARSITERABBRIN RAQ AR k8
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Company

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Number of issued share
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held™ capital®
HEBITRE
A R
®E/ER 27V 331 FiEROBEM BOL®
Chen Xiaomei Beneficial owner 27,000 0.01%
PRizE1E EalEEA
Interest of your spouse 114,987,000 48.77%
L
Niu Guifen Interest jointly held with another 114,987,000 48.77%
person®
FRE BE - AT HAFENERY
Cui Yuanjun Interest jointly held with another 114,987,000 48.77%
person®
Bk HE - AT HAFENERY
Yuan Huimin Interest jointly held with another 114,987,000 48.77%
person®
BB BE—AATHAFENERS
LIY Management Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 35,560,000 15.08%
EnBERAY
LYBF Management Holdings Limited Interest of corporation controlled 35,560,000 15.08%
by you®
REEEE N ERY
LIFY Management Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 42,400,000 17.98%

BRBEAAY
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Number of issued share
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held™ capital®
HEBITRE
AR
HE/ER E87Yg $:3:3-1 FEROBAEM BAL®
LFYE Management Holdings Limited Interest of corporation controlled 42,400,000 17.98%
by you®
REEEB A ERY
Meiyao Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 35,020,000 14.85%
ERBEAAY
LIANSY Family Holdings Limited Interest of corporation controlled 35,020,000 14.85%
by you®
REZEENERY
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited Interest of corporation controlled 112,980,000 47.91%
by you®
BREX(FE)BRLAA REEEE N ERY
The Core Trust Company Limited Trustee® 12,948,026 5.49%
EREFER AT XEEAO
TCT (BVI) Limited Interest of corporation controlled 12,948,026 5.49%
by you®
REZEERNERS
Beijing Xinyu Meiye Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 57,939,000 24.57%
EnlEAANC
Shanghai Xinzhi Yuyuan Enterprise Management Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
Partnership (Limited Partnership), by you®
("Shanghai Xinzhi Yuyuan”)
FEEHEECEXEREROE(BRAR) REEEE RO
(I EEEsEER]D
Tianjin Yanzhao Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
("Tianjin Yanzhao") by you®
ARREEHCEERBAERABD(REFE) REZEERNERO
Beijing Xinyu Investment Center (Limited Partnership), Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
(“Beijing Xinyu") by you®
EREZRER L (ARAR)([LEREE]) REEEEE RO
Beijing Youde Investment Management Center (Limited Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%

Partnership) (“Beijing Youde"”)
IR BEREEERL(BRAR)([EREE]

by you®
W BRSO
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Number of issued share
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held™ capital®
HEBITREX
B R
nE/ER B3/ REME FrERBEEO BAL®
Shanghai Youde Equity Investment Center (Limited Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
Partnership) (“Shanghai Youde”) by you®
PEBERERETL(BRER)(TLEER]) REEEB H RO
Shanghai Panxin Mezzanine Investment Management Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
Company Limited (“Panxin Mezzanine") by you®
PEEREREREEEERAA([EERED REEEE O ERO
Shanghai Pannuo Corporate Management Service Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
Company Limited (“Shanghai Pannuo”) by you®
PEERCXEERBKAERAR ([ LEEHE]) REEEE N RO
CITIC Private Equity Funds Management Co., Ltd. Interest of corporation controlled 57,939,000 24.57%
(“CITIC PE") by you®
PEEEREASEEER AR ([CTIC PE)) REEEERNERO
CITIC Securities Company Limited Interest of corporation controlled 58,019,500 24.61%
by you® 80,500(5) 0.03%
PEEFRNHERRA REEEE O ERO
Notes: Bt 5+
(1) Unless otherwise indicated, shareholding set forth herein are long (1) MrEEBRBEIN KRV R BB E20245F121

)

()

positions held as at December 31, 2024. Short position are denoted as
“(S)".

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s
235,795,568 Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

Mr. Li, Ms. Li, Mr. Lian, Niu Guifen, Cui Yuanjun and Yuan Huimin have
entered into a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted
in concert in the management, decision-making and all major decisions
of our Group, as such, each of them are deemed to be interested in
the Shares each other is interested in. They are collectively interested in
the voting rights of 114,987,000 Shares.

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited is interested in the Shares beneficially
held by LIY Management Holdings Limited (through their control of
LYBF Management Holdings Limited), LIFY Management Holdings
Limited (through their control of LFYE Management Holdings Limited)
and MeiYao Holdings Limited (through their control of LIANSY Family
Holdings Limited).

()

31THMIFRE  ABIEI(S)] -

R iR E 2= 2024412 A31 BAR & B 37D
235,795,568 5t H °

ThE TRt EREFES ETEBELIEER
WEF S —RITHATHE  EREERAEED
B REEAMBEARERRRN BT
I BESEREAREBS AEAERSORG
P AL - HEHERIHAE 114,987,000 % i 15 7935

ETTER

EHREL(FHR)ER QT RLY Management
Holdings Limited (3% i@ 1% % £ Hl#ILYBF Management
Holdings Limited) ~ LIFY Management Holdings
Limited (BB % ST H|AULFYE Management Holdings
Limited) &2 MeiYao Holdings Limited (i% 81 &2 I
HILIANSY Family Holdings Limited) & #5589 A% 15
RHEERER -
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(5)

6)

The Core Trust Company Limited, as a trustee of two trusts, hold (a)
6,762,458 Shares through Crest Sail Limited, which is owned as to 99%
by Vantage Star Global Limited; and (b) 6,185,568 Shares through
Thriving Team Limited. Vantage Star Global Limited and Thriving Team
Limited are wholly-owned by TCT (BVI) Limited, which, in turn, is
wholly-owned by The Core Trust Company Limited.

Beijing Xinyu Meiye Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Shanghai Xinzhi
Yuyuan, the general partner of which is Tianjin Yanzhao Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd., a company directly owned as to 99.99% by
Beijing Xinyu. Beijing Xinyu is also interested in more than 33.33%
limited partnership interest in Shanghai Xinzhi Yuyuan. The general
partner of Beijing Xinyu is Beijing Youde, whose general partner is
Shanghai Pannuo. Shanghai Youde is interested in more than 33.33%
limited partnership interest in Beijing Youde and is controlled by
Shanghai Pannuo as its general partner. Panxin Mezzanine is interested
in more than 33.33% limited partnership interest in Shanghai Youde.
Each of Panxin Mezzanine and Shanghai Pannuo is wholly-owned by
CITIC PE, which is in turn owned as to 35% by CITIC Securities
Company Limited, a company listed on both the Stock Exchange and
the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, the Company has
not been notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in
the issued share capital of the Company, other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

2022 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company has adopted a 2022 share incentive plan (the “Share
Incentive Plan” or “Scheme”) by a board resolution on March 24,
2022 (and subsequently amended the Scheme on December 30,
2024). The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Incentive Plan.

(a)

Purposes of the Share Incentive Plan

The purpose of this Share Incentive Plan is to recognize and
motivate the contributions by the eligible persons and align the
interests of the management team with the development of the
Company in the future, transforming the core talent from
"career passers-by” to "business stakeholders”, motivate and
engage our team with a deep sense, as well as to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Share Incentive Plan Participants

Persons eligible to receive grants under the Share Incentive Plan
(the "Grant”) are employees executive Directors, or officers of
the Group, including any prospective employees (who receives a
grant as an inducement to join the Group) (the “Participants”).

(5 ERETBRAR (EAMEETENZEA) )R
Crest Sail Limited$§56,762,458% f% {5  ifi Crest
Sail Limited i Vantage Star Global Limited##4 99%
#25 M(b)@iBThriving Team Limited# A&
6,185,568 %% {7 ° Vantage Star Global Limited }%
Thriving Team Limited BTCT (BVI) Limited%® &
B MTCT (BVI) Limited HER AR AT 2 EH
Ao

(6)  Beijing Xinyu Meiye Holdings Limited f ;&5 k4%
BR2EME MEBEREERNERERAARE
SHREXBEERAR  ZARHIEREZEER
H99.99% % c A REENN LB EREEBA
33.33% BRABERTEAER - LREENHLA
ERARLREE HEBABAARLBER -
BEENL R EERIA33.33% EREEEETES
B UR PBEE(EREEBABA) TN - &
EREN LEEERB33.33%EREEEETER
ik BEXRERLBEHFSEAHATIC PEREHE
B mMATIC PERPEREFBRMNER A REA35%
o PEEFRNDARARS —RNBZAM L E
BEHEZG EMHAF] -

B EXFrREES B E20245 128318 - BES
RARB&BITERABI  ARBWEENS AQ
A B B ITIA R A ] H b B R IR B 5 RS 55
EXVEBZE2 K30 S A AR B B ARERE RS
FARE - WA ARRRBIKIEES M AEENIE336
FEEENZLMP RS EREERIAR -

2022 F i 17 B B =t &l
ARATIDR2022F3A24B BBESTERERRM
2022F Bty BB ET &) ([ B s B st 2 sk [5181))
(WEEBFA2024F 12 A30BET&HE]) - LA TN ARRMD
HEE SN EZIETIME -

(@) B ABEEEIR A/
A HEEE ERAIRABEERAL
R R B - WA R RS B 22 B R 25 22 2 7]
FRETHE BROATRBREBEE
ERIEXHFE]  RERZEKROERIE
BERRE WRRAAEENE - T ERES
BEMAR -

(b) Mty ABEEE2EE
RIFE O BB &8l & BRBEEET (K T))
MATAREENETITHITESIARABE
BIEEMAKE T (WEBERIMAREEFR
MR TFOALI(T28EE]) -



Share Incentive Plan Grants

Any Participant who accepts a Share Incentive Plan Grant in
accordance with the terms of this Scheme, or (where the
context so permits) any person who is entitled to any award in
consequence of the death of the original grantee (the
“Grantee(s)”) will obtain a conditional right (the “Share Units"”)
whereby the Grantee shall be entitled to obtain either Shares or
an equivalent value in cash with reference to the market value
of the Shares on or about the date of exercise of the Share
Units, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable, as
determined by the committee authorized by the Board (the
"Committee”) in its absolute discretion.

Term of the Share Incentive Plan

Subject to the termination provisions therein, the Share
Incentive Plan shall be valid and effective for the period of ten
(10) years commencing on the January 16, 2023 (the “Term”),
after which period no further awards will be granted, but the
provisions of the Share Incentive Plan shall in all other respects
remain in full force and effect and awards that are granted
during the Term may continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of issue. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 7.5 years.

Grant of Award

On and subject to the terms of the Share Incentive Plan and
the terms and conditions that the Committee imposes pursuant
thereto, the Committee shall be entitled at any time during the
life of the Share Incentive Plan to make a grant to any
Participant, as the Committee may in its absolute discretion
determine (an “Award").

Awards may be granted on such terms and conditions (e.g. by
linking the vesting of their Share Units to the attainment or
performance of milestones by any member of the Group, the
Grantee or any group of Participants) as the Committee may
determine, provided such terms and conditions shall not be
inconsistent with any other terms and conditions of the Share
Incentive Plan. A Grant shall be made to a Participant by a
letter and/or any such notice or document in such form as the
Committee may from time to time determine (the “Notice of
Grant”) and such Grant shall be subject to the terms as
specified in the Share Incentive Plan and the Notice of Grant
shall be substantially in the form prescribed in the Share
Incentive Plan. By accepting the Award, the Participant shall
undertake to hold the Award on the terms on which it is
granted and be bound by the provisions of the Share Incentive
Plan.

To the extent that the Award is not accepted within the period
determined by the Committee, it will be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined and shall immediately lapse.

(d)
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Acceptance of Award

If the Participant accepts the offer of grant of Share Units by
signing the Notice of Grant, he is required to sign the
acceptance notice and return it to the Company within the
period specified and in a manner prescribed in the Notice of
Grant. Upon the receipt from the Participant of a duly executed
acceptance notice, the Share Incentive Plan is deemed granted
to such Participant from the date of the Notice of Grant, and
the Participant becomes a Grantee in the Share Incentive Plan.
Unless otherwise required under the Notice of Grant, no
amount is payable by the Grantee upon the acceptance of the
Award.

Restrictions on Grants

The Committee may not grant any Awards to any Participants
(the “Excluded Participants”) in any of the following
circumstances:

(@  the requisite approvals for that grant from any applicable
regulatory authorities have not been obtained;

(b)  the securities laws or regulations require that a prospectus
or other offering documents be issued in respect of the
grant of the Awards or in respect the Share Incentive
Plan unless the Committee determines otherwise;

() where granting the Award would result in a breach by the
Company, its subsidiaries or any of the directors of any
applicable securities laws, rules or regulations; or

(d)  where such grant of Award would result in a breach of
the limits of the Share Incentive Plan. No Grant shall be
made to, nor shall any Grant be capable of acceptance
by, any Participant at a time when the Participant would
or might be prohibited from dealing in the Shares by any
applicable rules, regulations or laws. Further, a Grant
must not be made after inside information has come to
the Company’s knowledge until such inside information
has been announced in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. In particular, during the
period commencing one month immediately preceding
the earlier of:

(@)  the date of the meeting of the Board (as such date
is first notified to the Stock Exchange in
accordance with the Listing Rules) for the approval
of the Company’s results for any year, half-year,
quarterly or any other interim period (whether or
not required under the Listing Rules); and

E2REZERTRMAERR B RN EM
Q- RARFBRMNBN YRR TBEAN
HENSRETAOTABERILEARAF -
FRESRENEABRIEABNER  BH
BEFEREREETRANRRER TS
mE MBEERSROD B ENHRT
AN BRIFRTRAMZEELR  BRWHETALE
BXERHRERNEMKEA -

& T R BR

ETIEMABRT ZBEFTEAEFSH
E([BroM2EE ) R 2ZE -

(@) HABEMEREEWBILZETIE
WEHLAE

(b)  FBFEBISAR IR E BB H 2B L
BB ST ERRERREMEE
Xt ZBERZBETEEARI

(0 HRHEHEBBBIEHALA HHBARNK
TREFEREMERERER  HAI
FER K

d)  HRHhEBERKETE RN MBS
MREE - IMEEARRA OERIOER
BER IR 2RETERND
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T BEM2EETFISEART - 5
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5B (AR E RE) BT — B A 5

(@) RUIERARBEMFE FF-
FESKALAEAMT RS (T
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ERAH(AMRE LMRAECE
HEEZPrEV B H) + o



(b)  the deadline for the Company to publish an
announcement of its results for any vyear or
half-year under the Listing Rules, or quarterly or
any other interim period (whether or not required
under the Listing Rules), and ending on the date of
the results announcement; no Award may be
granted. Such period will cover any period of delay
in the publication of a results announcement.

Vesting

Subject to compliance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules, the Committee has the sole discretion to determine the
vesting period and vesting conditions (if any) for any grant of
Award(s) to any Grantee, which may also be adjusted and
redetermined by the Committee from time to time. Upon
fulfillment or waiver of the vesting period and vesting
conditions (if any) applicable to the Awards granted to each of
the Grantees, a vesting notice (the “Vesting Notice”) will be
sent to the Grantee and the independent trustee(s) appointed
by the Committee to assist with the administrating and vesting
of the Awards (the “Trustee”) by the Committee or by any
other means as determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion from time to time confirming (a) the extent to which
the vesting period and vesting conditions (if any) have been
fulfilled or waived, and (b) the number of Shares (and, if
applicable, the Share Unit Income) or the amount of cash
equivalent that the Grantee will receive.

The Grantee is required to execute, after receiving the Vesting
Notice, certain documents set out in the Vesting Notice that the
Committee considers necessary (which may include, without
limitation, a certification to the Company that he has complied
with all the applicable terms and conditions set out in this
Scheme and the Notice of Grant). If all or any of the vesting
conditions are not satisfied and no waiver of such condition is
granted, the Share Unit under the Award, to the extent that
such vesting conditions relate, shall be cancelled in a manner to
be determined by the Committee in its absolute discretion.

General and Maximum Limit

The maximum number of Shares which may be granted under
the Share Incentive Plan is 6,185,568 representing 2.62% of
the number of Shares in issue as of the date of this annual
report. The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights attached
to Shares under the Share Incentive Plan. The Company shall
comply with the relevant Listing Rules requirements on the
maximum entitlement of each participant under the scheme.
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As of the beginning and end of the Reporting Period, Awards
for up to the maximum limit of Shares for which the Trustee
may acquire has been granted and therefore no Awards were
available for further grants. Future grants may be made in
compliance with the scheme rule of the Share Incentive Plan in
the event that any Awards lapses and results in the number of
Shares underlying granted falling below the maximum number
of Shares which may be granted under the Share Incentive
Plan.

The following table summarizes the number of Share Units
under the Share Incentive Plan granted to employees of the
Company as of the date of this annual report, additional details
regarding the fair value measurement and the accounting policy
adopted are set out in notes 2.16 and 20 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements:

The date of grant
(the exercise and

BEBRSHURBRERR CAXTEART
SHEETEESHRNNESRBEREE
BB — PR T AR o WA SRR R AR
B A AR RO BB KRR B
AETEENERBRMNEE - BIRKARE
Bt BB AT B A 5+ 8RR B th 22 -

TRBMEZEAFRB HRERG B S
MARAEIFREORMNECEE  BEAQ
A EBEEFERRPASTBRONESFER
Rz & BB mERMFE2.16 %20 :

Participant vesting period)' Number of awards
R¥AH
2mE (TERBEH)" RB¥A
Vested/
Granted exercised Cancelled Lapsed
As of during the during the during the during the As of
January 1, Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting ~ December 31,
2024 Period Period Period Period 2024
22045 BEHA BEHA BEHA BEHA 220245
1818 B BE/OHR B3] S 128318
Senior management and November 21, 4,738,145
other employees of the 2022 (Note 2) (Note 3)
Company 6,185,568 - — - (Mi3E3) 1,447,423
BRERERARANEM 2022114218
8T (HzE2)
February 5, 2024
(Note 4) — 1,546,392 - — - 1,546,392
2024F2 A5H
GETY
December 30, 2024
(Note 5) — 1,645,361 — — — 1,645,361
2024% 124308
GES)
Mr. Lian Songyong December 30, 2024
(Note 5) — 1,546,392 — — — 1,546,392
IR E 202412 A30H
(Fif5E5)
Sub-total 6,185,568 4,738,145 - — 4,738,145 6,185,568

Nt




Notes:

(M

()

As all Shares underlying the Share Incentive Plan has already been
issued to Thriving Team Limited and no additional Shares may be
issued in respect of the Share Incentive Plan, the outstanding
Share Units did not have any dilutive effect on the shareholding
of the Company upon Listing. Details on the basis for fair value
measurement is set for in note 2.16 and 20 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the grantees were the five highest paid employees during
the Reporting Period. The Awards will be vested to the grantee
in 4 tranches on the first, second, third and fourth vyear
following the Award grant date, provided that certain Group
level performance goals are met at such time (targeted net profit
for the year) and the relevant grantee elects to make an award
payment of RMB24.25 per Share Unit (equivalent to RMB12.125
per Share Unit following the share subdivision by listing dated
January 16, 2023) after the vesting date. The payment price for
Awards was determined based on the Board's determination of
the value of the Awards as of the time of the grant, and the
incentive effect that was intended to be achieved with the
Awards. If the vesting conditions are not met for any given
tranche of the Award, the Share Units exercisable under such
tranche will be voided, and will no longer be exercisable (even if
the vesting conditions of subsequent tranches are fulfilled). The
four tranches of the Awards are therefore exercisable by the
relevant grantee (through payment of the aforementioned Award
price) from December 31, 2023, December 31, 2024,
December 31, 2025 and December 31, 2026 respectively and will
all cease to be exercisable on December 31, 2027.

During the Reporting Period, due to the resignation (including
retirement) of the Grantee and the performance of the
department did not meet the indicators of the current year, the
incentive shares corresponding to that portion of the Grantees
lapsed for the current year and subsequent periods.

The Company further granted 1,546,392 shares of the Company
to an incentive participant on February 5, 2024 (none of the
grantees were the five highest paid employees during the
Reporting Period), which is conditional upon the Company’s
2024 annual performance meeting budget targets. If the above
vesting conditions are met, the above incentives will be
attributed to the participants after one (1) year. The award is
further conditional upon the relevant grantee electing to make an
award payment of RMB12.125 per Share Unit after the vesting
date. The payment price for Awards were determined based on
the Board’s determination of the value of the Awards as of the
time of the grant, and the incentive effect that was intended to
be achieved with the Awards. The closing market price of the
Shares on the trading date immediately prior to the grant was
HKD10.18.
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(5) During the Reporting Period, the Company made separate grants
of appropriate employee and equity incentives based on the
completion of current performance and full consideration of the
economic situation and with the objective of realising the
Company’s strategy. The vesting indicators also cover the dual
dimensions of operating income and profit improvement in the
next three years, establishing a sustainable development
mechanism for the growth of management and shareholder
value. Meanwhile, the relevant grantee elects to make an Award
payment of RMB12.125 per Share Unit after the vesting date.
The payment expense of the Award is determined based on the
Award value as determined by the Board at the time of grant
and the expected incentive effect of the Award to be realised. If
the vesting conditions are not met for any given tranche of the
Award, the Share Units exercisable under such tranche will be
voided, and will no longer be exercisable (even if the vesting
conditions of subsequent tranches are fulfilled). Newly granted
incentives will be vested to the Grantees in 3 tranches on the
first, second, third and fourth year following the grant date. The
above three tranches of incentives are exercisable by the relevant
Grantees from December 31, 2025, December 31, 2026 and
December 31, 2027 respectively, and all incentives will cease to
be exercisable on December 31, 2028. The closing price of the
Shares on the trading day immediately before the grant was
HKD17.08.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not enter
into or have any equity-linked agreements in existence.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Group was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Directors are also not
aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or
threatened against the Group during the year ended December 31,
2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

On February 21, 2024, an aggregate of 610,000 Shares repurchased
by the Company from August 2023 to November 2023 were
cancelled.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury
shares, if any). The Company does not have any treasury shares as
defined under the Listing Rules as at December 31, 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2024 and details of the Shares issued
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debentures for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

We have historically been able to obtain bank borrowings when
required. We do not foresee any obstacles to doing so in the future.
In addition, if we obtain bank loans and financing in the future, we
plan to negotiate with banks to restructure our bank borrowings by
obtaining loans with better terms, and to take systematic steps to
restructure the composition of short-term and long-term borrowings,
such as refinancing certain portions of our short-term bank
borrowings with long-term Bank borrowings. As of December 31,
2024, our unutilized bank facilities amounted to RMB100 million.

The Directors confirm that we have not defaulted in repayment of
bank loans and other borrowings during the Reporting Period. The
Directors confirmed that as of the date of this annual report, there
were no material covenants of outstanding debts and no covenants
had been breached during the Track Record Period and up to the
Latest Practicable Date. During the Track Record Period and up to the
Latest Practicable Date, to the best knowledge of our Directors, we
have not encountered any difficulty in obtaining bank loans.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Group did not issue any convertible bonds for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.52
per Share for the year ended December 31, 2024, amounting to a
total of HK$123 million (2023: HK$0.47 per Share).The proposed final
dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM
and is expected to be paid at or prior to the end of the third quarter
of 2025. Additional information on the closure period of the register
of members of the Company in relation to the Proposed Final
Dividend distribution, the record date for determining entitlements of
the Shareholder to the Proposed Final Dividend and payment date will
be announced in due course.

.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to applicable laws
and regulations, each Director, auditor or other officer of the
Company is entitled to an indemnity from the assets of the Company
to indemnify all losses or liabilities incurred or suffered by them as a
Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in the defense of
any civil or criminal legal proceeding in which they are successful or
exonerated.

The above permitted indemnity provisions took effect for the year
ended December 31, 2024. The Company has purchased liability
insurance to provide appropriate protection for its Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution represent the share premium and retained earnings
amounting to approximately RMB376. 1million.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

For specific information on charitable donations, please refer to
"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” issued by the
Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The valuation of the investment property as at December 31, 2024
was RMB92,230,000.

EasrRERSE

RIBABERRAN  ETERERERERNER
T RER RENAARFHMSRABEENR
ARARMEETESRE UREEERESE &
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BASEREE -

i ERFFRREKRXER2024F 12 A31HILEFE
£ RARRIERBEELR  AESRBEERE -
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R2024%12 A318 » A AR AME D REFEEERD
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING AND T REBEERESREBRE
PLACING

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange  ZANAR]A2023F 1B 16 BEBRATER LT o £
on January 16, 2023. The total net proceeds received by the Group KB E MR NEBH %  NEE B S BRI E WA
from the Global Offering (including proceeds from the full exercise of P18 IE BB 4448 (BN 202342 A3H S MR
the over-allotment option announced on February 3, 2023 and  ZAHC A% #EE R EITF MR 2023F2 A8 A A 317
completion of the issuance of the 6,080,000 Shares on February 8,  6,080,000% 85 FT185IE) 49 /8558.5B @B TT ° FT
2023) after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses {SRIBFEMNETHAEHIINHERER - HE2024
amounted to approximately HK$558.5 million. The intended use of F12A31H @ ZEEIRBEEMERIBFHEIRERT
the net proceeds were set out in the Prospectus. As of December 31, FEWMBABRUT :

2024, such net proceeds from the Global Offering were utilized as

follows in accordance with the intended use:

Actual utilized

Unutilized amount Unutilized  Expected timetable
% of  Net proceeds amount as of during the amount as of  for full utilization
Use of proceeds as disclosed total net  from Global January 1, Reporting December 31,  of the remaining
in the Prospectus proceeds Offering 2024 Period 2024 proceeds®?
EHREHE BZ2024% Bz ZFHBAKT
RRAn PREE 1A1H REEHE 12A318  FiBRUEN
BRREBTRENFAEREAR BAL  FEREEH ABAEE EBERDARE ABALRY REEERC
HKD HKD HKD HKD
(in millions) (in millions) (in millions) (in millions)

Ar(aBn) #Arx(a8n) An(a8n) AExn(E8n)

Expand and upgrade our service 67.6% 377.5 297.2 190.6 106.6 December 31, 2026
network

BRRI R RB A 2026512 A31H

Strategic mergers and acquisitions of 10.2% 57.0 49.2 — 49.2 December 31, 2026
franchised stores

ETE O MR 2026512 A31H

Further invest in our IT systems 12.3% 68.7 60.2 29.6 30.6 December 31, 2026

E-FRENRMNESRM RS 2026124318

For working capital and other general 9.9% 553 38.6 19.4 19.2 December 31, 2026
corporate purposes

ARgERe RAM-—REERE 2026124318

Notes: B2

1. As of December 31, 2024, the unused net proceeds were deposited with 1. MN2024F12A318 - KBAMERIEFHETERE
certain licensed banks and financial institutions in Hong Kong or the B B E T REIRTT R & R o
PRC.

2. The expected timeline to use the remaining proceeds is prepared based 2. PAKTHSRENELNNERIBEASEEL

on the best estimate made by the Group, which is subject to change MREGH AR EARETANERNRRARERE
according to the current and future development of the market TEH B -

condition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. Guided by the above
corporate culture, the Company has adopted the code provisions of
the CG Code as its own corporate governance practices.

The Company had complied with all code provisions set out in Part 2
of the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The Company will
continue to review and enhance its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Company or the Group has not undertaken any material events
after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, June 24, 2025 to Friday, June 27, 2025
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s)
must be lodged with the Company’'s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 23,
2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained the prescribed
public float as required under the Listing Rules as of the date of this
annual report.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
listed securities.

R EREDH
ARBINEHBRTHOEER  URE R R
HURRFECEBERMEM - £ ORI
EET AR TERMEEE AT T A XM
BRYMEEEAED -

ARBRHEREI - BETEEERTAE_HD
BATHAATANGY - ARBKEEEHRREED
EERED - AERETEEERTH -

Ff /8 2 7
BRI A B A T FERNRA B I RRM
38°

HEHPRER
ARRSRAEER RS NG REEARS AL
ERTAMEATE -

FEREROBFER
AETHRRAREAREERRBFASRNG L1
Z . ARAINBRMBE EREN2025F6H24H (
E H — )Z 2025%6A278 (EHA)(BEMK
BREEN) G R TRBTEARHBPER
FE - AFERFTEFASHNERRIREELR AT
B D 38 P SO E R AR B IR R M A B R 202556
A238 (28—) TFEB=+9%EAQRNES
BOBEFELDRBESTRELFSTLBRAA i
WEAEBEHFERANERISIRAMP L1712
1712-171658 44 o

AREABEFERE
BT AMMEHEARRE SR - NAFHE
5 AARDES ETRAFRENTAARER

B-°

BERRARRR
EFDTMERBREAR AR LTESTEBE
ABBEER RS -



PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman lIslands where the
Company is incorporated which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
team and external auditors the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Company, the audited consolidated financial
statements for the Reporting Period, interim results for the six months
ended June 30, 2024, and the related reports of the Company, and
discussed internal control, risk management, the effectiveness of the
internal audit system and financial reporting matters.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report
form part of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc.
Mr. LI Yang

Chairman and executive Director

Shanghai, PRC, March 26, 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Yo 57 A% B H A

To the Shareholders of Beauty Farm Medical and Health
Industry Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Beauty Farm Medical and

Health Industry Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the

"Group”), which are set out on pages 122 to 261, comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2024,

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the vyear then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
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BAMBRANBHRABEENEE - ALFHE
ERFESRREAMERERE AT RERTE
2 RMT R ELFHERGEBNER -

BAEE T B ARERES FEMALT

o Revenue recognition for the rendering of services

o Purchase price allocation for business combination of Guangzhou e

Naturade Health Management Co., Ltd.
o Impairment assessment of goodwill

Key Audit Matter
HREESSEE

. He S AR 75 B0 W A HERR

W g BN 2=
1% 7 B

mt@REREERARMNKEE

. B R E R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNESNAEERRERITEE

Revenue recognition for the rendering of services

RERBHBRARR

Refer to Notes 2.17 and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
ELHGEAMBWMRME2.17R6
The Group generates revenue mainly from beauty and
wellness services, aesthetic medical services and subhealth
medical services. Revenue from the rendering of services
amounted to approximately RMB2,368 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, representing approximately 92%
of the total revenues of the Group.
SEEBENRAFZREETNRERY BEETRBE LG
2 R e Wlﬁ% @i2024¢12ﬂ 31 E!Jt¢f‘ %mf HE?%EE

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

AP

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

TTUATRER RIEMgEEER:

We understood, evaluated and tested management’s
internal controls over the revenue recognition for the
rendering of services;

AT AR A RS ERHR B R AR AN
BB

We discussed with management and evaluated their

judgements made in determining the method and timing

of revenue recognition and calculation;
BMEEEENm  TEEHETWARR
B B ¢

SEITE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESTNAEERRETSEE

Revenue recognition for the rendering of services

RERBABWAER

Refer to Notes 2.17 and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BR2HRE M BHRMFTE2.17K6

The Group sells prepaid cards to end customers and the
total consideration received from end customers is allocated
to multiple services under prepaid card based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. Revenue from the
rendering of services is recognised when the services have
been rendered to end customers.
EXRBEMKREPHERANRT  BRmEPKENEEER
BEN TR BIEEHEEAN RETNZIARS - 17
AR 75 B SR U A PR [ 4% i B2 1R it PR TS E AR o

We focused on this area as significant efforts were spent on
auditing the revenue recognised for the rendering of services
due to the magnitude of the revenue amount and the huge
volume of revenue transactions.

BRI IR - EARBASELMELERAR S SREX
At - HPEIREREHNRAERRAT REMNETIIE-

(iii)

(iii)

(iv)

(iv)

(v)

(v)

We tested the general control environment and
automated controls of the information technology
systems used in the transaction processes, including the
automatic allocation of the total consideration to
multiple services in business system. We tested the
mathematical accuracy and the completeness of the
system generated reports that summarized the key
inputs for the calculation of revenue by using computer-
assisted audit techniques;

HAAABEERNRERERZSIEFPMAE SRR
HmEBEEY BEEBRGHAHEEZERE TH
BB HPEBEMAFTEREBNER R - AR
REBPTAERKGT EWAABRE A BENFEARENR

FRELEEBERTE

We tested, on a sample basis, cash receipts from
customers during the year by comparing such receipts
with bank statements; and
BMEAMEREREREFNRERT - FERE
W& WIRH) B AR S M BRI TR AR SR ETTEL 3 - |2

We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions by
checking the attendance records and recalculated the
revenue amount recognised.
HMERMEREARAZS HERBREEANIEHE
B WENTERANHMASE -

Based on the above, we considered that revenue recognition
for the rendering of services were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

B Bt - BAIRRIAE BEMAANITHRRF I S5 RM
PR 75 BV UL A TR ©
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESTNNEEARENSE

Purchase price allocation for business combination of
Guangzhou Naturade Health Management Co., Ltd.
WEENRERREEEFRAANBBERS &

Refer to Notes 2.3, 4(b) and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BB E VB mRMFE2.3  4b) 36 -

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group
completed the acquisition of 70% equity interest in
Guangzhou Naturade Health Management Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (together as “Naturade Group”) for a total
consideration of RMB350 million.

REIZE2024F 12 A31BIEFERN - BEEETHRUE BN =
FREEEARAAREMBAR (KBRIZHEZEE]
T0% KM HE - MREBAAREISET -

Management has engaged an independent valuer to assist
them in identifying intangible assets and to perform the
valuations of the identified assets and liabilities of the
acquired Naturade Group at the acquisition date and, based
on which, management performed a purchase price
allocation exercise for the acquisition, which resulted in
recognition of intangible assets (other than goodwill) of
RMB255 million, mainly representing the customer
relationships and trademark, and goodwill of RMB384
million.

ERECZBRE I GEMBEBELEE K WEB SR
FIRBHERBIEERBEETHE  ENL BERESY
WHEEE#ETIWEER Y BRETVEE (REEN AR
2558 FEREFPBENAEE  REBARK3IB4E

JG ©

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BPETTATER  EEMRETEH

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iii)

(iii)

We understood, evaluated and tested management’s
internal control over the purchase price allocation for
business combination. We assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

BATH FERASAEEBHNCEAMHPREER
DEHAEES c A GERERNEARARE - ZE
R HEE LN REMEME SRR EE - flnfhEtey
BRENE - EEM - BCARE R E SR M R
B BE FR A SRR L

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external valuer engaged by the
Group;

BB EEBEGEHNELIN B GHERMNEEN - B EsL
DR Z B EITR A

We obtained the valuation reports in relation to the
purchase price allocation for the business combination,
and involved our internal valuation experts in assessing
the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies
adopted by management and the significant assumptions
such as long-term growth rate and discount rate
adopted in the valuation models;
HARSRCXSFRBEER I BIERNGEERS &
NBEEEROFT  AHEREMRANGERE
WREMN  ARGEELRRANERERER (WRAER
KRR E) WAL
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESTNAEERRETSEE

Purchase price allocation for business combination of
Guangzhou Naturade Health Management Co., Ltd.
WEENEGRREEETRAANBBERS B

Refer to Notes 2.3, 4(b) and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
F2HE A MIBImMARMEE2.3  4b)&36 -
Significant judgments and estimates were involved in the fair
value assessment of the identified intangible assets and the
recognition of goodwill arising from the business
combination. These significant judgments and estimates
include the adoption of appropriate valuation methodologies
and the use of key assumptions in the valuation (mainly
including annual revenue growth rate within the forecast
period, earnings before interest and tax (“EBIT”)/Revenue
rate, discount rate, long-term growth rate and expected
useful lives of the identified intangible assets), which are
subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty.
HEARREREEN AR BENERERSHIELNS
By R BEAAE R AL ZZEBAHE XA E BN G ER
KRB HETELRAERBR (E2BEEAHANDNF
WA RE - BHRAIFNBEE((SWAAMER]) - BRE K
HERXNEZMNETVEENEAAIERFR)  SLHF
TR THEE M -

We focused on this area due to the significance of the
business combination, and the significant judgement and
estimations involved in the fair value assessment of the
identifiable intangible assets and the recognition of goodwill
arising from the business combination of Naturade Group.
HPBIIEE  TEARREBAHNERIZE  AREH
NETEEN A AABEFELERRBEREEEEELNRD
B R ERHE R AEE -

(iv)

(iv)

We assessed the key assumptions adopted in the cash
flow forecasts for the valuation of the identified
intangible assets with the involvement of our internal
valuation experts. For annual revenue growth rate within
the forecast period, EBIT/Revenue rate and the expected
useful lives of the identified intangible assets, we
compared these assumptions with the relevant historical
data of these acquired companies and market data,
where applicable;
BHMUENSREEROIF T  AEEHMNETVEER
BERHReRERMEKANBRERER - HRIEAHARNOF
WARER  SHAFEENE BB EENTEHRE
zan ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁtﬂ?“éﬁiﬁ%%ﬁzﬂiﬁﬁ‘ﬂé’%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂi
BN TS EIEEIT T LR - 0@

We assessed of the sensitivity analysis performed by
management with potential impacts on the above key
assumptions to further understand the impact of
reasonable changes in assumptions on the fair value of
the identified intangible assets;
HPEHEE R BERMRERRETOHRRESTER SR
NTHRERNABZCHEBNBREELHENTE
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEEE BEMNESNAEERERTEE

Purchase price allocation for business combination of
Guangzhou Naturade Health Management Co., Ltd.
WEENRERREEEFRAANBBERS &

Refer to Notes 2.3, 4(b) and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BB E VB mRMFE2.3  4b) 36 -

(vij We checked the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations of the fair value of the identified intangible
assets;

(vi) FHFRETEINEVEEAAEEAENBEERL

(vii)  We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
business combination in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

(i) HMFHEERMBREEREALRAFRENTRDIE -

Based on the above, we considered that the significant
judgments and estimates involved in the fair value assessment
of the identifiable intangible assets and the recognition of
goodwill arising from the business combination of Naturade
Group were supportable by the evidence obtained and
procedures performed.

ER B MPIRRIREBBEMARTORRF I B
EEMECHANEVEENAABERERRBREREEE
AR R PR AR R A A RER -
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Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESTNAEERRETSEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB R E G

Refer to Notes 2.6, 2.7, 4(a) and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
B2HREBmRMTE26 2.7 4a) k21

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had goodwill with net
carrying amount of RMB654 million.

2024512 A318 - EXEEENEEEERARK654E
T o

The Group assessed the impairment of goodwill by
determining the recoverable amount of cash-generating units
("CGUs") based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections. The Group engaged an independent external
valuer to provide technical support and assistance in
determining the recoverable amount of CGUs when needed.
ERENAEEERENTEEERVBEECREETHE
TReRERAKETEEARCELBL((REELE
DAk E SR - EEEEBEB IS FEERMEE
il NEENARTEEARSEEEMW A YO ¢ EIRM
HENWHH -

The inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill is considered relatively higher due to the complexity
of the models, subjectivity of significant assumptions used,
and significant judgements involved in selecting data, such
as annual revenue growth rate within the forecast period,
EBIT/revenue rate, long-term growth rate and pre-tax
discount rate.
FERENEEENESRREERBERS  REBER
BEEREN - PR EARERO T B AR BREBUR IS R
BAHE - PR RNFERAEZRE - SHATFEE
REPERERTARERE -

We focused on this area due to (a) the magnitude of the
carrying amount of goodwill; and (b) the assessment of
recoverable amount is subject to high degree of estimation
uncertainty.

BRI ERE - RN BEERAEREKN  kb)rlkEe
mHET S ke EA T RE -

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BPETT AT  EEMRETEH

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iii)

(iii)

We understood, evaluated and tested management’s
internal control over the impairment assessment of
goodwill. We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud. We evaluated the outcome
of prior period impairment assessment of goodwill to
assess the effectiveness of the management’s estimation
process;

BT FHE RS EERER AN ERENE
2 o ERHAERE R E A AR - ZEMAF T HEE
MR REMEAEE R EE  fIanfhst et - =
B BB A B IR E A I A SX5E B P A B B SRV B
Rt - AR AR MR EERERT HHER - UAE
EREMEEFNBARL

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external valuer engaged by the
Group;

BRMPYEERBOBILIMIEEMOEEN  BEED
LA R BB M AT R A

We involved our internal valuation experts in assessing
the appropriateness of the methodology adopted by
management in the goodwill impairment assessment and
the significant assumptions such as long-term growth
rate and pre-tax discount rate adopted in the valuation
models;

BHAUENSREERNOIFT  FHEEEEHEREN
A EREEERPEANEANRE - BRAZRERMN
BATBA IR R E S 1
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEEE BEMNESNAEERERTEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB R E

Refer to Notes 2.6, 2.7, 4(a) and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
B2HEREVBmRMTE26 2.7 4a) k21 -

(iv)  We assessed the key assumptions adopted including
annual revenue growth rate within the forecast period
and EBIT/revenue rate by examining the approved
financial budgets, and comparing actual results for the
year against the previous period taking into
consideration of our industry knowledge;

(iv) ZEREMOTEMREZ BMATLERANERERR 2
BRAMHFERABEERBRANBEE - FERE
SERSPBELE LA FEEREESE FEAML
B

(v)  We assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by
management with potential impacts on the above key
assumptions to further understand the extent to which
adverse changes, either individually or in aggregate,
would result in impairment of goodwill;

v BMFAREEEETAHERBREETENBRESD
- SRE—FTRANES (AR BE) B EHEER
BENREE

(vi)  We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment assessment of goodwill in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

(vi) BMFARERVERSERGHEFERENERENT
/'\/Ii °

Based on the above, we considered that management's
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of goodwill were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

ER B RPIRRIREBBEMARTHRRF I B
& 7 7 R B 51 ik 7 P RE B B 2B RO R AR ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. 2024
Annual Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. We have
obtained some of the other information including chairman’s
statement, management discussion and analysis, environmental, social
and governance report and corporate governance report prior to the
date of this auditor’'s report. The remaining other information,
including report of directors and the other sections to be included in
the annual report, is expected to be made available to us after that
date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’'s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights
and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AR
%AT%$E£EMEMAEOﬁMﬁ%@%%ﬁ
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Chiu Kong, Edmond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 26, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

A IH AR AR

For the year ended December 31,2024 # ZE2024F12A318 IFF[Z

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B2 AR T ARET T
Revenue A 6 2,572,199 2,145,068
Cost of sales and services HE R IRFAA 9 (1,382,204) (1,167,966)
Gross profit EF 1,189,995 977,102
Selling expenses HEMY 9 (461,748) (378,172)
Research and development expenses FEEF X 9 (36,032) (34,071)
General and administrative expenses — R RITHEX 9 (388,089) (318,352)
Other income E A A 7 19,291 30,393
Other expenses HEaAX 7 (5,123) (3,390)
Other gains H iz 8 6,551 18,580
Provision for impairment losses on CREERBEERE
financial assets 25 (3,021) (796)
Operating profit &R E 321,824 291,294
Finance income EUR 3 N 11 23,615 21,837
Finance costs B 7 A AR 1 (27,556) (24,811)
Finance costs — net B T A F B M (3,941) (2,974)
Share of loss of associates JE(GE & AR B8 = (51)
Profit before income tax R P 18 B A R E 317,883 288,269
Income tax expenses FriS R 2 12 (65,405) (58,130)
Profit for the year FRFHE 252,478 230,139
Profit attributable to: THI &5 AL FDE -
Owners of the Company ENYNETE 2= DN 228,460 215,657
Non-controlling interests FEVE R = 24,018 14,482
252,478 230,139
Earnings per share for profit EAREEAEEFEER
attributable to owners of the EZF
Company
— Basic earnings per share (RMB) — BREARZFN (AR 13 0.99 0.94
— Diluted earnings per share (RMB) — BREEAHFN(ARET) 13 0.99 0.94
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ak 7 4 T W3 AR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &, Z2024% 128318 L F &

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR®EF T
Profit for the year FRFE 252,478 230,139
Other comprehensive income/(loss) H 2 mEUE (F5E)
Items that will not be reclassified to T EEF BB A
profit or loss HA
Changes in the fair value of equity BEAnEEFAEMEZEK
investments at fair value through MR AR E N EEEE
other comprehensive income 28 3) )
Exchange differences on translation of HEBINEFREAE K
foreign operations =8 28 9,883 27,172
Other comprehensive income for FREME2EKE
the year, net of tax (MBRBIIE) 9,880 27,171
Total comprehensive income for FRE2ENRZEE
the year 262,358 257,310
Total comprehensive income A& A EAEERELRE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company AKRARHEAA 238,340 242,828
Non-controlling interests e = 24,018 14,482
262,358 257,310

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be — _E#ft4xR

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

a5 % 78 S BB BT P S — GBI AR o



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Ao EE R

As at December 31,2024 722024512 A31H

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®BT T ARBETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W MR EH 15 364,669 370,973
Investment properties REYE 16 64,365 67,755
Right-of-use assets TREEE 17 535,187 515,531
Intangible assets mEAE 18 350,118 79,978
Goodwill Bk 21 653,954 217,527
Prepayments, deposits and other AR FRIE -~ e RHEAMER
receivables A 25 67,546 69,573
Other non-current assets HEtIERBEE 19 5,361 2,356
Financial assets at fair value through EAnEEFAEMEEK
other comprehensive income =R REE 43 46
Financial assets at fair value through BRAREEFAEZNSR
profit or loss BE 22 7,548 —
Investments in associates REE RRINIRE — 249
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSTE = 32 41,671 42,114
Total non-current assets B EERE 2,090,462 1,366,102
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 24 151,825 187,588
Trade receivables H 5 fE W IE 25 48,888 31,011
Prepayments, deposits and other AR FRIE - e REAMER
receivables A 25 126,078 132,675
Financial assets at fair value through BRARBEFAEZNSH
profit or loss BE 22 911,063 964,973
Restricted cash ZRHIR 26 28,449 10,451
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFED 26 456,158 224,277
Term deposits with initial terms of 6 R EARE R =18 A 97 5
over three months FR 26 463,557 384,929
Total current assets MEEELE 2,186,018 1,935,904
Total assets EEH#E 4,276,480 3,302,006
EQUITY E=
Share capital N 27 8 8
Treasury stock EFER 27 — (6,816)
Share premium AR 1 5 (8 27 359,802 467,769
Other reserves H b 28 38,425 22,994
Retained earnings IRE & F 546,401 317,941
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEEA ANELER
Company 944,636 801,896
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR B = 30,604 32,337
Total equity BRER 975,240 834,233
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
e EEARE

As at December 31, 2024 722024512 A31H

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR¥E T ARET T
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings & 29 129,938 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 360,479 393,777
Deferred tax liabilities RLEHIHEAE 32 71,963 21,984
Total non-current liabilities ERBBERTE 562,380 415,761
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables H 5B IE 31 29,886 21,421
Other payables and accruals ﬁ‘rlﬂéiﬁmlﬁﬁﬁé’f\%gﬁﬁ 31 325,526 224,662
Borrowings fBR 29 19,836 —
Contract liabilities AHEE 6 1,979,245 1,492,514
Current income tax liabilities mEAFEHAaE 42,283 48,527
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 220,339 169,343
Other current liabilities HEMrEas 30 121,745 95,545
Total current liabilities nBBEESE 2,738,860 2,052,012
Total liabilities BEAE 3,301,240 2,467,773
Total equity and liabilities EnRBEEHE 4,276,480 3,302,006
Net current liabilities REBAEFE 552,842 116,108
Total assets less current liabilities EEBRERABERS 1,537,620 1,249,994

b s BEAERR AN E— G 5E -

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.

F122E261 BEMRA MIERERE R 2025F3 A26H
KEEeE YRUTREEE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 122 to 261 were
approved by the Board of Directors on March 26, 2025 and were
signed on its behalf.

Mr. Li Yang
Chairman

Mr. Lian Songyong EHiE ERKEE
Director E =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
L ET LT

For the year ended December 31,2024 # ZE2024F12A318 IFF[Z

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KRAREEAEER
Non-
Share Treasury Other Share Retained controlling
capital stock reserves  premium eamings Total interests  Total equity
R EfR  HtEE  RHEE  REEF @at JeEEE B
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wi ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note 27) (Note 28)  (Note 27)
(K&k27) (Frzk28)  (MiEk27)
Balance at January 1, 2023 R2023F1R1ANER 7 —* 2,098 84,358 102,284 188,747 14,362 203,109
Profit for the year ERFE - - - — 215657 215657 14482 230,139
Other comprehensive income Hih 2wk — — 27,171 — — 27,171 — 27,171
Total comprehensive income ~ ZHKHHAE — - 27,171 — 215657 242,828 14,482 257,310
Transactions with owners HEBARS
Issuance of ordinary shares upon R EIRBEERBTEBER
global offering 12 1 — — 506,544 — 506,545 — 506,545
Listing fees through equity BAETER — — — (33,928) — (33,928) — (33,928)
Capital injection of non-controlling 3FEfR % E
interests — — — — — — 4,361 4,361
Share-hased payment expenses WG S AR 20 — — 10,823 — — 10,823 77 10,900
Transactions with non-controlling £ 3H2REZE R 5
interests 28 — — (17,098) — — (17,098) 1,359 (15,739)
Treasury shares purchased BEEEFR 27(d) — (12,012) — — — (12,012) — (12,012)
Treasury shares cancelled EREEER 27(d) —* 5,19 — (5,196) — — — —
Dividends declared BERRE 14 — - - (84,009) — (84,009) (2,304) (86,313)
1 (6,816) (6,275) 383,411 — 370,321 3,493 373,814
Balance at December 31, 2023 R2023E 128318 &S 8 (6,816) 22,994 467,769 317,941 801,896 32,337 834,233
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CONSOLIPATED SATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
A G E R A B R

For the year ended December 31,2024 #;Z2024F12A318 L F &

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

AARREEARLESR
Non-
Share  Treasury Other Share  Retained controlling Total
capital stock  reserves  premium  earnings Total interests equity

Bx  ERR  HfEE ROEE  REEN A FEREE  AER
Note ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
M ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR

(Note 27) (Note 28)  (Note 27)

(H=£27) (W28)  (M&E27)
Balance at January 1, 2024 R2024F 110 MER 8 (6,816) 22,994 467,769 317,941 801,896 32,337 834,233
Profit for the year AR = = = — 228460 228,460 24,018 252,478
Other comprehensive income g aallen = = 9,880 = = 9,880 - 9,880
Total comprehensive income ~ 2HKHAE = = 9,880 — 228460 238340 24,018 262,358
Transactions with owners HEEARS
Capital injection of non-controlling JFEfR 3 E

interests - - - - - - 400 400
Share-based payment expenses W {3 S AV FE % 20 — — (541) — — (541) 157 (384)
Acquisition of Guangzhou Naturade Wi BN Z=in R REREERR

Health Management Co., Ltd. AFAREMBERR

and its subsidiaries (FBEAIEEREE])

(together as “Naturade Group”) 36 — — — — — — (14,771) (14,771)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAR - - - - - - (586) (586)
Transactions with non-controlling S22 REZNZ 5

interests 28 — — 6,092 — — 6,092 1,448 7,540
Treasury shares cancelled BHEETR 27(d) =0 6,816 = (6,816) - - - -
Dividends declared BERRE 14 - - - (101,151) - (101,151) (12,399)  (113,550)

—* 6,816 5,551 (107,967) — (95,600) (25,751)  (121,351)
Balance at December 31, 2024 R2024E 128318 EH 8 — 38,425 359,802 546,401 944,636 30,604 975,240
* Less than RMB1,000 * D AR#1,0007T
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be ARG 1w B B % JH AR PP A — T B GE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HaBlemEx

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{Z2024F 128318 L FE

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31A
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR® T ARBEF T
Cash flows from operating activities KEEZ FENHRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 33(a) 839,084 653,699
Income tax paid B FTER (42,457) (28,189)
Net cash inflow from operating RETHFRBEESANTE
activities 796,627 625,510
Cash flows from investing activities REREFENEHEESRE
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, —UgE&EHMIE 2 B (FIBRE UK
net of cash acquired BHEe) 36(b) (245,343) (7,496)
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  HEBERZHEAR
equipment and other non-current HinIEmBEE
assets (114,184) (159,237)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME WEREEUR
plant and equipment and HM3Eme) & EMSHRIA
other non-current assets 2,693 597
Proceeds from disposal of a business, B EBEHRIE
net of cash disposed (MBREEERS) 80 —
Proceeds from redemption of financial ~EEIZ A A BE ABIED
assets at FVPL TRVEEMIS IR 3.3 2,586,807 1,297,282
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BERARBEET AEBERZN
EREE 3.3 (2,517,714) (1,606,854)
Purchase of term deposits with initial B E ¥A A HEBE =@ A
terms of over three months E BT X 26 (503,426) (545,685)
Maturity of term deposits with initial 6 R EARE R =1 A 197 5B
terms of over three months TR 5 EA 26 430,299 304,346
Interest received =Rl 20,037 6,062
Payments for acquisition of investment  UYRE M — B L A R E
into an associate EokNEN (100) (200)
Net cash used in investing activities REFEFTARESEEHE (340,851) (711,185)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

e
A5

BB E L

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ZE2024F12A318 It F &

Year ended December 31,

BZ=12831A
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR®EF T
Cash flows from financing activities REBMETENRESRE
Proceeds from borrowings BB RIA 29 157,500 —
Repayment of borrowings EEER 29 (7,875) —
Interest paid BT B (2,881) —
Dividends paid [RERNEEESN 33(0) (112,492) (86,999)
Payment of lease liabilities HEAaBERMK 17(b) (265,555) (232,075)
Transactions with non-controlling BRI 5
interests 28 7,540 (15,739)
Payment for listing expenses through B £ B R
equity — (30,340)
Gross proceeds from issuance of RERBEEEETERAR
ordinary shares upon global offering FriSsRIA 458 = 506,545
Capital injection from non-controlling  JFE#ER ST E
interests 400 4,361
Payments for repurchase of ordinary 5] B @ AR 1 5k
shares 27 — (12,012)
Net cash (used in)/generated from B&EEE (FTA) FERE
financing activities R (223,363) 133,741
Net increase in cash and RERBSEEYHEMERE
cash equivalents 232,413 48,066
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F¥RIRE ML HEY
of the year 224,277 164,120
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and ReRkBReSEYER
cash equivalents (F518) Mz (532) 12,091
Cash and cash equivalents at FRPNRERESEEY
end of the year 26 456,158 224,277

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FPiRa IR © R E R A BRI —OF 55 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 2 A B

GENERAL INFORMATION

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 10, 2022.
The address of its registered office is Floor 4, Willow House,
Cricket Square, Grand Cayman, KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in
providing beauty and health management service, including
beauty and wellness services, aesthetic medical services as well
as subhealth medical services in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are
Mr. Li Yang (“Mr. Li"), Ms. Li Fangyu (“Ms. Li"), Mr. Lian
Songyong, Ms. Niu Guifen, Mr. Cui Yuanjun and Ms. Yuan
Huimin (together as the “Controlling Shareholders”), who are
parties acting in concert and have been collectively controlling
the Group.

On January 16, 2023, the Company completed its listing on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and offered 24,395,500
new Shares and 16,141,000 Sale Shares at the Offer Price of
HK$19.32 per Share. The net proceeds of the Company from
the Global Offering were approximately HK$447.4 million. On
February 3, 2023, the Company announced that the
Over-allotment Option granted under the Global Offering had
been fully exercised and the Group allotted 6,080,000 Shares at
a price of HK$19.32 per Share. The Company received
additional net proceeds of approximately HK$111.1 million from
the exercise of the Over-allotment Option.

These financial statements are presented in RMB, unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of material accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied throughout the
year, unless otherwise stated.

—RER
FEREEREREEBRAR(ERRAAD
72022F2 A 10 BER SR STEMACSL « Kt
fift 3% == R #b 5iF AFloor 4, Willow House,
Cricket Square, Grand Cayman, KY1-9010,
Cayman Islands °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRS) as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for the revaluation of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which
are stated at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Going concern

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by
RMB552,842,000. The net current liabilities position
was mainly due to the contract liabilities of
RMB1,979,245,000 classified under current
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.
These contract liabilities will be redeemed by
providing services and selling products rather than
repayment of cash. Taking into account the stable
operating cash inflows to be generated from the
provision of services and the sale of products, the
directors of the Company consider the Group will
have adequate resources to meet its liabilities,
commitments and funding requirements as and
when they fall due within one year from the end
of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

2
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A7 A B R T AR

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2

2.1.3

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards,
amendments and interpretation for the first time
for their annual reporting period commencing
January 1, 2024:

. Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current liabilities with
covenants — Amendments to HKAS 1;

J Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand

Clause — Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised);
J Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback —

Amendments to HKFRS 16; and

° Supplier Finance Arrangements —
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7.

The amendments and interpretation listed above did
not have any material impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

New and amended standards and interpretations not
yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and
amendments to accounting standards have been
published that are not mandatory for
December 31, 2024 reporting periods and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group's
assessment of the impact of these new standards
and amendments is set out below.

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3

2.1.4

New and amended standards and interpretations not
yet adopted (Continued)

2

=113

TEY

2.1
2.1.3

A5 A B R I AR

BERBE®

fm BLELE ()

R R ER A HI R AT ~ B AT R K
3 1C )

Effective for

annual periods
beginning on or after
RUTHBARZEHBN
FEHBER

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB ST ERIFE 219 (BETA) TR Al &2t
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
Instruments
BBV ERELERFEIHR (BFTA)
REBVGERELEAETHR

Lack of Exchangeability
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial

TR TAND B RGTENER

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

CHEN)
HKFRS 18
Statements
BB ELERF 1858 B RENZEI REE

According to the preliminary assessment made by
the directors, these standards and amendments are
not expected to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial performance and position, except
HKFRS 18, which may mainly impact the
presentation of the consolidated statements of the
comprehensive income and the Group is still in the
process of assessing the impact.

Contractual Arrangements

Due to the restrictions imposed by the relevant
laws and regulatory regime of the PRC on foreign
ownership of companies engaged in the aesthetic
medical services and subhealth medical services
carried out by 31 subsidiaries of the Group
(together as the “Medical Institutions”) including:

1. Shanghai Xiukeer Clinic Co., Ltd. (/&5 A]
TPIZEAERAF)

January 1, 2025
20251 H1H

January 1, 2026

20265F1H1H

January 1, 2027

2027F1H1H

RBESFELNYTHE - BEH
FZEENREIT AT EHAEE
B 15 R IR Nk L iE R BB K B
& EBFBVBHREENE 185
ARIZyEFeamiiaRe
25 - MAEEDENEETE -

BRIZHE
HRFERBAEREEREIE
MREREENKHE R R (5
MrIEEgE)RRNBEX
ARG K R EBERGEH AR
MINEEBREMBMARS - ZF
NRMBERBERLE

1. LBEFURMAZHMERRD
Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.4 Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

2.

10.

11.

12.

Ningbo Jiangbei Yongjiang Xiukeer Medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd. (B, TILBIIFHF AR
BEREXAZMARLQAE)

Nanjing Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic Co.,
Ltd. FARFBARBRERESTZMARAA)

Shenzhen Xiukeer General Outpatient
Department ORI F A R4R& P52 8F)

Hangzhou Liyan Medical Beauty Clinic Co.,
Ltd. MMERABFEEDZMBER D A)

Beijing Hexin Medical Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.
(ERAMERERFIZEER A
Beijing Yanyuan Clinic Co., Ltd.* (it =RHIR

P AR ARE)

Chengdu Gaoxin Xiukeer Medical Beauty
Clinic Co., Ltd. (R#RHM BRI ZBHEEXRD
FTERAR)

Chongging Xiukeer Comprehensive
Outpatient Department Co., Ltd. (EEFHA
REEEPIZEHAERRR)

Xi'an Meiju Medical Technology Development

Co., Ltd. (ALEREBERFERBRARF])

Wuhan Qiyan Comprehensive Outpatient
Department Co., Ltd. (BUERIIARAPI A
NG

Beijing Meishu Laser Medical Clinic Co., Ltd.
(ERERBNBEL AR RDF)

2
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2.1.4 BHZH ()

2.

10.

11.

12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.4 Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

13.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Changchun Meiju Medical Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (REEBBEERHI#E
EAERZAA)

Qingdao Aimei Medical Beauty Co., Ltd. (&
BNEBEXATARAA)

Haikou Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.
(BOFTRERERFILBERAR)

Xian Beilin Xiukeer Comprehensive Outpatient
Department Co., Ltd. (FAZLEMFE ] STERE T
P EBB R A A])

Haikou Yanyuan Clinic Co., Ltd. (8 R#HRZ
FREBR A A)

Hefei Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.
(GIEFFREREEXDLABER AT

Tianjin Heping Meicheng Medical Beauty
Clinic Co., Ltd. (KM FEFRBEEZALHN
BR A

Zhengzhou Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic Co.,
Ltd. (BB RBEERFIZ2ARAA)

Chengdu Gaoxin Meicheng Medical Beauty
Clinic Co., Ltd. (FKEB R ERBEEZAFIZ
HBR QTR

Chengdu Gaoxin Yanyuan Clinic Co., Ltd. (A%
BEIHIRZFIERAR)

Nanjing Xuanwu Meicheng Comprehensive
Clinic Co., Ltd. (FARZREALZAPIZER
~al)

Guangzhou Naturade Medical Instrument Co.,
Ltd. (BN RIs R ERSMAR R F)

Guangzhou Naturade Huangzhou Traditional
Chinese Medicine Clinic Co., Ltd. (BM=1
REMPELFAER AR

A5 A B R I AR

2 FESHEEHME@®)

2.1 REEAE(E)
2.1.4 BHTH(8)

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

REXZBEBEMEERSE
=N

BEENXBEXRERA
al

BOFAREBRERFD
BABER DA

FLEMBEA REREFI2
HHRA A
BOFRZIERAA
AIEERREEERZM
AR AT
RKENMPERBBEERZ
FTBRA A

BMNFEA REEBEAMD
AR AT

RE S A B EEAM
ZEHBRA A
REESHEL AR
Bl
ARZREAGEAMZAE
fR A
BMNEHEREESMER
NCI

ERESLRAWIEE e
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

A7 A B R T AR

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.4 Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Guangzhou Naturade Jiangnan West
Traditional Chinese Medicine Clinic Co., Ltd.
(BN ZRImE ImER B2 MERAR)

Guangzhou Naturade Medical Clinic Co., Ltd.
(BNt 7 e EFI2 AR A A)

Guangzhou Naturade Xinmei Clinic Co., Ltd.
(BNt R B EFI2E AR R A)

Shenzhen Naturade Best Medical Beauty Clinic
Co, lid. (RIIRIHR B L EBREZDTZM)

Shenzhen Naturade Hongli Clinic Co., Ltd. (%
NI RALZ FI2 E6)

Shenzhen Naturade Medical Beauty Clinic Co.,
Ltd. ORI R EEERP D)

Shanghai Beauty Farm Medical Healthcare Industry
Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Beauty Farm”) and Naturade

Group,
arrangements (the

respectively, entered into the contractual
“Contractual Arrangements”)

with Mr. Li and Shanghai Liernuo and its registered
shareholders who hold 30% equity interests of the
Medical Institutions on April 2022 and July 2024,
which enable the Group to:

expose, or have rights, to variable returns
from their involvement with the investee and
have ability to affect those returns through
its power over Shanghai Liernuo;

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
456 AW e 3R B 5

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1
ZHE (&)

2.1.4 Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

o exercise equity holders’ voting rights of
Shanghai Liernuo and the Medical
Institutions; receive the economic interest
returns generated by Medical Institutions in
consideration for the technical support,
consulting services and other services
provided by Shanghai Liernuo;

J obtain an irrevocable and unconditional right
to purchase all or part of equity interests in
Medical Institutions from Shanghai Liernuo
itself or its designated person(s) at minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law.
Shanghai Beauty Farm, Guangzhou Naturade
Health Management Co., Ltd. or their
designated person may exercise such options
at any time until it has acquired all equity
interests and/or all assets of the Medical
Institutions; and

o obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest
of the Shanghai Liernuo from Mr. Li and the
equity interest of the Medical Institutions
held by Shanghai Liernuo as collateral
security to guarantee performance of their
contractual obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Group does not have any legal equity interest
in Shanghai Liernuo. However, as a result of the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has power
over Shanghai Liernuo, has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Shanghai Liernuo
and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over Shanghai Liernuo and is considered
to have control over Shanghai Liernuo.
Consequently, the Company regards Shanghai
Liernuo as controlled structure entities and
consolidated the financial position and result of
operations of Shanghai Liernuo upon the execution
of the Contractual Agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 B AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group and are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
not under common control (Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and balance sheet
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

2.3

(ii)

(iii)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting - after initially
being recognised at cost.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in other reserves
within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

Business combinations not under common control

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account

for all

business combinations, regardless of whether

equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the following:

fair values of the assets transferred;

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

equity interests issued by the Group;

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations not under common control

(Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The Group recognises
non-controlling interest in the acquired entities at the
non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and acquisition-date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquired entity
over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as
equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S AR A R

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FTESTHEREEw)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment 2.4 W REE

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values of 0%
to 5% over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20 years

Electronic equipment and 5 years
vehicles

Beauty equipment 5 years

Office furniture 5 years

Long-term leasehold Shorter of the lease term and
improvement the estimated useful life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
included in profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. This includes cost of construction
and other direct costs. Construction-in-progress is not
depreciated until such time as the assets are completed
and are ready for operational use.
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2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at
historical cost. Trademarks acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Some of the trademarks have an
infinite useful life and is subsequently carried at
cost less impairment losses. Those trademarks with
finite useful life are subsequently carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring the specific software into usage. These costs
are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships, which are acquired during
business combinations, are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Customer relationships are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected useful lives.

Research and Development

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense
as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and developing of new or
improved products and processes) are recognised as
intangible assets when it is probable that the
project will be a success considering its commercial
and technical feasibility and its costs can be
measured reliably. Other development expenditures
that do not meet these criteria are recognised as
an expense when incurred. Development costs
previously recognised as an expense are not
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S AR A R

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Intangible assets (Continued)
(v)  Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with limited
useful life using the straight-line method over the
following periods:
Trademarks with finite 10 years
useful life

Software 5-10 years
Customer relationships 8 years
Management estimated the useful life of the
trademarks and software based on license period,
expected technical obsolescence and innovations.
Management estimated the useful life of customer
relationships based on their industry knowledge,
experience and judgement and took into account
the historical customers renewal pattern of the
acquired subsidiaries. Thus the useful life for the
customer relationships is 8 years.

2.6 Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill
is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,
being the brand, city or region of business that goodwill
is attributable to.
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2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

Investments and other financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss),
and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8
(ii)

(iii)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 B AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(i) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
OCl, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the
statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables (Note 25).
Expected credit losses of trade receivables from
related parties are assessed individually.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. Costs of purchased inventory comprise
the purchase price (net off discounts), freight charges,
duty and other miscellaneous charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10

2.12

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services rendered in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective of collecting the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 3.1 for further information about the
Group’s accounting for trade and other receivable and
Note 2.8 for a description of the Group's impairment
policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions and other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank
deposits which are restricted to use are included in
“restricted cash” of the consolidated balance sheet.
Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash
equivalents.

Borrowings and borrowings cost

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

2.13

Borrowings and borrowings cost (Continued)

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a
financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred
to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at
the end of the reporting period, the group has a right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as
current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is
required to comply with after the reporting period do not
affect the classification at the reporting date.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liability ies for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within 90 days of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12
months after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.14 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.
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2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
regions where the Company’s subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation, and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items

2.15 Employee benefits

(i)

recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including

non-monetary benefits and accumulating annual
leave that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service, are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as
current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Pension obligations

Full-time employees in the PRC are covered by
various government-sponsored defined contribution
pension plans under which the employees are
entitled to a monthly pension based on certain
formulae. The relevant government agencies are
responsible for the pension liability to these retired
employees. The Group contributes on a monthly
basis to these pension plans. Under these plans, the
Group has no further payment obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred and contributions paid to the
defined-contribution pension plans for an employee
are not available to reduce the Group's future
obligations to such defined contribution pension
plans even if the employee leaves.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurance plan. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in
respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions to
the housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present
contractual or constructive obligation as a result of
services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S AR A R

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FTESTHEREEw)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Share-based payments 2.16 AR 2 A~ B9 5K

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the employee share award scheme and
share option scheme. Information relating to these
schemes is set out in Note 20. The fair value of awarded
shares granted to employees under the employee share
award and option schemes less amount paid by
employees is recognised as an employee benefits expense
over the relevant service period, being the vesting period
of the shares, and the credit is recognised in equity in
the share-based payment reserves. The fair value of the
shares is measured at the grant date.

(i) Share award scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan (the “Share Award Scheme”),
under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments
(shares) of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the shares or share options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
shares or share options granted:

— including any market performance conditions;

—  excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions;
and

—  excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of shares that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 B AR M R

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Share-based payments (Continued)

(i) Share awards given by the Group's subsidiaries

Shares of subsidiaries of the Group are awarded to
certain registered practitioners, including store
directors, regional managers, senior operation
managers, in respect of their future services for the
Group. The fair value of such shares less
consideration paid by registered practitioners is
recognised as registered practitioner expenses with
a corresponding increase in non-controlling interests
within equity.

The fair value of such share awards is spread into
expense over the vesting periods after the grant
date.

2.17 Revenue recognition

The Group is principally engaged in provision of beauty
and wellness services, subhealth medical services,
aesthetic medical services. Revenue comprises the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable for the
sales of products and services rendered in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of
value-added tax, returns, refunds discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

(i) Sales of services

The Group sells prepaid cards to end customers,
which gives the right to end customers to redeem
multiple services. Contract liabilities are recognised
when the Group receives cash consideration from
end customers. The total consideration is allocated
to multiple services under the prepaid cards based
on their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Revenue is recognised when the services have been
rendered to end customers or the likelihood of the
end customers exercising the remaining rights
under the prepaid cards becomes remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Sales of services (Continued)

When there is a modification to the contract, for
example, provision of additional distinct services to
the end customer without any additional charge,
the Group accounts for the modification
prospectively. The contract consideration, which is
the unrecognised consideration initially included in
the transaction price of the contract before the
modification, is allocated to the remaining
performance obligations after the modification,
including any unsatisfied performance obligations
from the original contract.

The Group also pays sales commission to salesmen,
which are treated as acquisition cost to obtain a
contract. The Group applies the practical expedient
to expense the acquisition cost because the
amortization period is normally within one year or
less.

Sales of products

The Group also generates revenue from sales of
skincare products to customers. Revenue from the
sale of skincare products is recognised when
customers accept the products.

Franchise fee

The Group as the franchisor enters into franchise
agreement with franchisee for 1 to 5 vyears.
Franchise is a right to access license because the
Group shall undertake activities that significantly
affect the license, either positive or negative.
Franchisee pays a fixed upfront fee and revenue
from franchise fee is recognised over the franchise
period. Training fee and other service fee are
recognised when the services are rendered.
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2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected
not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S AR A R

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FTESTHEREEw)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Leases (Continued) 2.18 HE (&)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, the LPR rates
when the leases were signed. Lease payments are
allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise equipment and small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’'s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The
Group does not use any derivative financial instruments
to hedge certain risk exposures during the current and
prior years.

(@)  Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
currency exposures with respect to USD. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
The Group does not hedge against any fluctuation
in foreign currency.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, if
USD had weakened/strengthened by 5% against
the foreign currencies with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have
been RMB13,422,000 and RMB3,775,000
respectively lower/higher mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of cash
and cash equivalents denominated in foreign
currencies.

(b)  Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade
receivables, deposit and other receivables and
financial assets at FVPL. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(1)

(i)

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash

To manage the risk arising from credit risk of
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
maintained in the PRC, they are mainly
placed with banks and reputable institution
which are high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There has been no recent history
of default in relation to these financial
institutions. The expected credit loss of these
financial assets is close to zero.

Credit risk of trade receivables

The majority of the Group’s sales are settled
through credit cards or e-pay applications
against payment without credit terms. The
remaining sales, such as to the shopping
malls, are settled with credit terms ranging
from 14 days to 90 days. The Group applies
the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. For trade receivable balances with
objective evidence of impairment and
significant different credit risk characteristics,
individual provision was made based on a
probability weighted estimation of the
present value of the difference between the
contractual cash flows that are due to an
entity under the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(iir)

Credit risk of trade receivables (Continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of
36 months before December 31, 2024 and
2023 and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP and the
unemployment rate of PRC to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

The Group assesses the credit quality of its
customers by taking into account various
factors including their financial position, past
experience and other factors. The utilisation
of credit terms is regularly monitored and
management does not expect any losses from
non-performance by these counterparties
(Note 25).

Credit risk of deposits and other receivables

The directors of the Company consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been
significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis during the year. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group compares risk of a
default occurring on the assets as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, there
was no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition of deposits and other
receivables. The assessment the Group made
regarding the expected credit losses for these
receivables in 12 months were disclosed in
Note 25.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continved) 3 BT IERREE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBREREEZEGE)
(©  Liquidity risk (0 #RBESER
Prudent liquidity risk management implies FERYERREBERRTER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents. FTRRELBEEEY - ~&E
The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate MEERHEREHNAZEER
committed credit lines to ensure sufficient and B UABRASEATEIZHAR
flexible funding is available to the Group. HOWES -
The table below analyses the Group's TERERGEBZAHIEAD
non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant BRTNAIE BASEEETES R
maturity groupings based on the remaining period BES>WEMAEEEHER - 5K
at the balance sheet date to the contractual HENESBERAELARUBREN
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table £ o
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
PME 1825 2B5% BBSE Mgt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARE®TT ARETR
As at December 31, 2023 R2023F128318
Lease liabilities HEaR 202,909 152,945 210,549 53,239 619,642
Trade payables B SN HIE 21,421 — — — 21,421
Other payables and accruals ~ EfENFUEREFE
(excluding employee benefits ~ F (TREENET
payables, tax payables and B AT IE R e
dividend payable) HRE) 94,217 — — — 94,217
318,547 152,945 210,549 53,239 735,280
As at December 31, 2024 R2024512A318
Borrowing 5 24,464 27,528 77,977 36,397 166,366
Lease liabilities MERE 239,599 157,538 196,835 33,502 627,474
Trade payables ZHENTIE 29,886 — — — 29,886
Other payables and accruals ~ EEf B R B &
(excluding employee benefits A (TBEEMFET
payables, tax payables and BN - ERTIE R
dividend payable) HRE) 162,694 — — — 162,694
456,643 185,066 274,812 69,899 986,420
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital management

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares, sell assets to reduce debt or finance through
bank borrowings.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings, lease
liabilities, dividend payable less cash and cash
equivalents, term deposits with initial terms of over three
months. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

The gearing ratios as at December 31, 2024 and 2023
were as follows:

3

B mEREERE s

3.2

BEREE

RERFTGIREARE  AEExEY
A TR S SREIEHAE - ik
FROREEAR - BITHRD HEBEMN
MOBEBHEBRITEERE -

AEBRBEABBHLRERER - X
ERREBFEGUNEAERETES
e ERFERERER HERE -
ENRERAEMREEEY  VHA
HEB=EANERTERAE - EAE
BRGEEERABRTIIRN[#E ] 0
B FEFTESL -

MR2024F K 2023F12 A31BHEARE
B =M :

As at December 31,

®W12H31A
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBEF T
Borrowing (Note 29) e (M 5529) 149,774 —
Lease liabilities (Note 17) HEBE (ME17) 580,818 563,120
Dividend payable (Note 31) FE AR B (FFFE31T) 358 —
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BREREEEED
(Note 26) (fF7E26) (456,158) (224,277)
Term deposits with initial terms s ABBEB=TAM
of over three months TEHIFE 3R (M 5E26)
(Note 26) (463,557) (384,929)
Net surplus RERFE (188,765) (46,086)
Total equity e 4R EE 975,240 834,233
Total capital BB 786,475 788,147
Gearing ratio EXBELE N/A N/A
FEA A5 A
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation
Financial assets and liabilities

The Group measures its financial assets at FVPL and
FVOCI at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset either in the principal market
for the asset, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured

or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,

based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

3 BEERKBRERw@G

Fair value estimation (Continued) 33 AREEME#E
Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) TREEREEE)
This section explains the judgements and estimates made AR EE R BREPERLEA
in determining the fair values of the financial instruments hEBEEFENERIARABEERATE
that are recognised and measured at fair value in the HEHIE b et - REHEBEEAN
financial statements. To provide an indication about the BEMABABBROITETIEZR K&
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the ERRetRAREBEEEMIANS R
Group has classified its financial instruments into the ZEER - FERN TR -
three levels prescribed under the accounting standards.
An explanation of each level follows underneath the
table.
Recurring fair value
measurements REMAABETE
At December 31, 2023 ®2023%12A831A Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1R B2 F3M et
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz ARBFTT ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at FVPL BAnBEFABREDN
TREE 22
— Wealth management — BHER
products — — 766,227 766,227
— Investment in private — RENLEES
funds — — 198,746 198,746
Financial asset at FVOCI BARBETAEM
FEBENEREE
— Equity securities — BRAES — — 46 46

Total financial assets CREELE

— 965,019 965,019
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

3 BHEERBRER@

Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREAEME (&)
Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) cRMEENRBE(E)
Recurring fair value
measurements REEDAAEETE
At December 31, 2024 720245 12H31H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1K 55288 3 5t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz ARSTR AR%BTRx AR%BTR AR%Tx
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at FVPL BARBENABRN
TREE 22
— Wealth management — BHEmR
products = — 853,287 853,287
— Investment in private — RENLEES
funds — = 65,324 65,324
Financial asset at FVOCI BARBENAEMS
AlENeREE
— Equity securities — RAES — — 43 43
Total financial assets THEELE = = 918,654 918,654
The fair value of financial assets at FVPL that are not WS RS FEENRA R BER
traded in an active market is determined by using ABENEREENAABEFERME
valuation techniques, which include the use of quoted BT FE - REFEAAESBEEN R
prices from the relevant financial institutions. & o
These valuation techniques maximise the use of ZEHERMEENAIESHATEER
observable market data where it is available and rely as MEEE TERPEKBEESEEMR
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all e mMIENARBEMBNMEEXN
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are B ABBRE R ER - BIZIEIAGAS

observable, the instrument is included in level 2. If one
or more of the significant inputs are not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including cash at banks, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables; and the Group’s current financial
liabilities, including trade payables, borrowings, lease
liabilities and accruals and other payables approximate
their fair values due to their short maturities.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEERKBRERw@G

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEME (&)
Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) cRMEEREE(E)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 items TREVEIHRIEEEZ 20235 122024
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024: F12A3MBLEFENEE
Wealth Investment
management in private Equity
product funds securities Total
BHEMm LEESKRE R 5 et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Closing balance as at 20225128318 H
December 31, 2022 FREER 626,864 — 47 626,911
Acquisitions Wi 1,417,000 189,854 — 1,606,854
Redemption upon maturity  E/EfEE 8] (1,297,282) — — (1,297,282)
Net fair value gains on BAREETABEN
financial assets at FVPL ERMEBEEARBEKE
F R 19,645 4,202 — 23,847
Currency translation EHER
differences — 4,690 — 4,690
Change in fair value SHAE A 2 E U A
through OC| NRBEEEZE — — (1 (1
Closing balance as at M2023F12B31BMER
December 31, 2023 2323 766,227 198,746 46 965,019
Wealth Investment
management in private Equity
product funds securities Total
BHiER HEEERE R A 3% 5 -y
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREBT R AR®BTRT AR%®Tx
Closing balance as at R2023F128318H
December 31, 2023 FREH 766,227 198,746 46 965,019
Acquisitions W iE 2,415,000 102,714 — 2,517,714
Redemption upon maturity 2| i & Al (2,346,600) (240,207) — (2,586,807)
Net fair value gains on BARBETABRN
financial assets at FVPL TRAEAREBNR
ek 18,660 2,268 = 20,928
Currency translation BN ZERE
differences = 1,803 = 1,803
Change in fair value FAEMEEKEN AR
through OCI EEE = — (3) (3)
Closing balance as at R2024512831BHE
December 31, 2024 REERR 853,287 65,324 43 918,654
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)
Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in level 3 fair value measurements of FVPL:

B RREERE s
3.3 AABEME@®)

HEEABIENA AR A BEOBE

TERBULEREAABEFABRENE
REEFIRAABEFEMAEAT

AERBABENELER

Fair value Range of inputs
DAEHE BWABBNER
Significant Relationship of
unobservable unobservable inputs to
Description As at December 31,  inputs As at December 31,  fair value
BERTAUHEHA TABRB AR
it RK12A31R ¢ W12A31H AREEHER
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETRT ARBTRE ARETR
Wealth management 853,287 766,227 Expected rate of 2.00%- 2.20%— The higher the expected
products return 3.05% 3.75% rate of return, the
higher the fair value
BHER 853,287 766,227 FEEAEIRE 2.00%- 2.20%- FEHOHIFES 28
3.05% 3.75%  BEH#S
Investment in private 65,324 198,746 Net asset value N/A N/A The higher the net asset
funds value, the higher the
fair value
MNEESRE 65,324 198,746 BEFE TEA TER AEFEMS 2B
Efm

If the expected rate of return had been 10% higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, the fair value
of wealth management products as at December 31,
2024 and 2023 would have been approximately
RMB329,000 and RMB423,000 higher/lower, respectively.

If the net asset value had been 10% higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the fair value of
investment in private funds as at December 31, 2024
and 2023 would have been approximately RMB6,532,000
and RMB19,875,000 higher/lower, respectively.

WIBEARIRE EF T FE10% @ MATH
Hih @ HMERFTE  BR2024F
2023F12A3VHEBHMER A AAEED
B3 N A #) A R #329,0007T & A
R #423,0007T °

WEEFELFTHE10%  mABE
B B A NE  BIR 2024412 A 31
HN2023F12A31HAEESKRER
AREBEDREN HIOARE
6,532,0007T & A R #19,875,0007T °
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group includes a team
that performs the valuations of non-property items
required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3
fair values. This team reports directly to the chief
financial officer (CFO). Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the CFO and the valuation
team at least once every six months, in line with the
Group's half-yearly reporting periods.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end of
each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the CFO and the valuation team. As
part of this discussion the team presents a report that
explains the reason for the fair value movements.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates, which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to
exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(@) Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with
infinite useful life

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
management conducted an impairment review on
goodwill and trademarks with infinite useful life. For the
reporting periods, the recoverable amount of
cash-generating units (CGUs) was determined based on
value-in-use calculations which require the use of
assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rate stated in Note 21. These
growth rate are consistent with forecasts included in
industry reports specific to the industry in which each
CGU operates.

Details of impairment charge and key assumptions are
disclosed in Note 21.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Fair value assessment of the trademarks and
customer relationships and the recognition of
goodwill arising from business combinations

Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
fair value assessment of the identified trademarks and
customer relationships and the recognition of goodwill
arising from business combinations. These significant
judgements and estimates include the adoption of
appropriate valuation methodologies and the use of key
assumptions in the valuation (mainly annual revenue
growth rate, EBIT/Revenue rate, discount rate, long-term
growth rate and expected useful lives of identified
intangible assets).

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the
PRC. Judgement is required in determining the amount of
the provision for taxation and the timing of payment of
the related taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of
their actual utilisation may be different.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment with reference to
the estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these assets.

Management performs periodic review of the estimated
useful lives of property, plant and equipment, and will
revise the depreciation charges where estimated useful
lives are different than those previously estimated.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(e)

Contractual arrangement

Due to the regulatory restrictions on the foreign
ownership of the certain part of the Group’s business in
the PRC, the Group does not have any legal equity
interest in Shanghai Liernuo. The Directors assessed
whether or not the Group has control over Shanghai
Liernuo by assessing whether it has the rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Shanghai Liernuo and
the Medical Institutions and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over Shanghai Liernuo and the
Medical Institutions. After assessment, the Directors
concluded that the Group has control over Shanghai
Liernuo and the Medical Institutions as a result of the
Contractual Arrangements and accordingly the financial
position and the operating results of Shanghai Liernuo
and the Medical Institutions can be included in the
Group's consolidated financial statements. Nevertheless,
the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as
direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct
control over Shanghai Liernuo and the Medical
Institutions and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal
system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the
results, assets and liabilities of Shanghai Liernuo and the
Medical Institutions. The Directors, based on the advice of
its legal counsel, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements with Shanghai Liernuo, the Medical
Institutions and their equity holders are in compliance
with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are
legally enforceable.

Revenue recognised from unutilised prepaid
packages

Most of Group’s services are sold on a prepaid basis and
offer a variety of prepaid packages. When a customer
prepays for a service or product, the relevant payment is
recorded as contract liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet until the Group recognise revenue from the
relevant prepaid package. These prepayments give the
customer a right to receive services or products in the
future and oblige the Group to stand ready to provide
services or products. However, customers may not
exercise all of their contractual rights for various reasons.
Those expected unexercised rights are referred to as
“forfeited income”.

4
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(e)

BRERYE R

AT
HRPEEAREEELSE T D INEH
EREMEERS - $%E%ii%@%
WEAADETERAE - EEBATHE
T%ﬁ/ﬂti%ﬁ%& %%%%g
MBS S RMOENRES B8
Hﬁﬂiiﬁﬁ%& F%%m%ﬁ
E?XEW AEAEERTY LGB
AR REZE EEN
mm% REBBEREHTHMY EE
ERmLEEREREa T Bt
B R BEREN IR R
¥ER %A$%lm@A%%ﬁ% #
B AHRHERMINAEEYE HE
ERmLEEHEREERTFENE
BEATHBEREH  mMPEARER
BROTHEEEAIESIBERAEER L
HEME R BERENEE BERE
Ema SHER c ERENEZERENE
REHESBRE  BEEERE
%\hﬁAmAmﬁ%TAmﬁ¢lﬁ
BRER - WA KA HENIT o

RAREARERBENEZENKA

REBBH R D MBHIATENTT X H
B URHEBENEEL -EEFPENM
RIS E A B AR - BN ﬁé
BEABRTARIFAWARE HEE
AEBEIBBANEENEA - ZE
BNFORE T E P ERREWIRS S E
an HYRE A (L (0 A 5% 818 B (ERERS £ 1B
RERBHER) - A AREER
A BEFAETSTEEMEA R
Mo ZEBHARITENEMNBSDRK
WA e



20245 FEHEBEREREFXEGRAAF 171

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S AR A R

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BEEeiEitRHUE @
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(f)  Revenue recognised from unutilised prepaid f)y MWRRERFAENEZHWA
packages (Continued) (&)
The expected unexercised rights on prepaid packages are BNEENTEBRITEENHEEER
estimated by management based on historical customer BEPHBATAREAEREITH
behaviour and usage pattern and are recognised as o WRBPITEEB TR M
revenue when the likelihood of the customer exercising FEBMEERBRA BB ABR
its remaining rights becomes remote. Forfeited income BEERPER -
will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 ZHER
The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the BREBAREBRERANITEZESR  PITZ
executive committee, which comprises all executive directors ECHTRITEENEFVEEAK - H
and chief financial officer. The executive committee reviews the TZEGEHAEEAILHRE ATHRE R
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and DEEIR °
allocate resources.
The executive committee has determined that no business HITEEBERT BHRTBEBHHHIASR
segment information is presented as all business segments are HOUMKESS M 2REBHIHER -
with similar economic characteristics.
The executive committee has also determined that no WITZEGMARTE BHRMEEBREYAE
geographical segment information is presented as all business FRIES  WA2®itE S HER -

performance are generated from the PRC.
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6 REVENUE & CONTRACT LIABILITIES 6

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers

The Group derives revenue from the service at a point in
time and over time and the transfer of goods at a point
in time in the following major revenue streams:

BWAREHNEE

(a)

REEFAHNKRADHE

AREB BT EBRARIRF BB
fe) b Ko — By i) P 0 AR 745 DA B 3 — B ]
HOEREERTESRA

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31MBLELEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT
Beauty and wellness services E B MREE RS
— Direct stores (at a point in time) — EH& 5 (RE 2
— Services — PR 1,239,555 993,849
— Product Sales — EmiHE 66,190 86,017
— Franchised and others — MEEJE R E A
— Product sales — EmHE
(at a point in time) (A —rFRIEH) 130,292 109,248
— Franchise fee (over time) — NEE
(R —EREREA) 7.264 4,561
Subtotal et 1,443,301 1,193,675
Subhealth medical services DREBERE
— Services recognised at — RE R HEERE
a point in time B 75 163,996 70,562
— Services recognised over time — R—ERRRE AR
AR 7% 36,985 30,475
Subtotal NEF 200,981 101,037
Aesthetic medical services BEXARE
— Services recognised at — RE - FREEHERE
a point in time AR 7% 927,917 850,356
Total @t 2,572,199 2,145,068
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 REVENUE & CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(Continued)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Revenues from external customers come from the
rendering of services, including beauty and wellness
services, subhealth medical services and aesthetic medical
services, sales of products and franchise fee.

A5 A B R I AR

6 WARESHERF®

(a)

REEPAKBWADRE (@)

ShERE P RA K B RIS (BEXA
FIREEARTS - SRR R BB RIS R B A
BIRT)  HEERKMBE -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTT

Rendering of services RHRS 2,368,453 1,945,242
Sales of products HEEm 196,482 195,265
Franchise fee mneEs 7,264 4,561
Total st 2,572,199 2,145,068

Subhealth medical services recognised over time are
cooperation fee received from Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell
Anti-aging Hospital Co., Ltd. Such services include
customer referral and consulting services, logistics
arrangement services, customer post-treatment caring
services rendered to Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell Anti-aging
Hospital Co., Ltd., which were disclosed in Note 34(b).

No significant revenue comes from a single external
customer. There is no customer contributing more than
10% of revenue. Most of the Group’s customers are
individuals, which are widely distributed.

The Group is domiciled in the PRC. The majority of its
sales from external customers are generated in the PRC.

T — B BR5 ] 10 R0 ) 5 2 R 88 B AR 75
WEmRHARREEERER A
WEIMAIEER - %FRBEHERAERE
TSR REERARARREHESN
BEPEN MEARS - MRTBRT -
BERABRERRES - ©RIEE34(b) K

= o

VTERERNRSEREEINPES - LE
BEFPERBIB10%HIA - REBEHK
BoEPREMAL  BEoMHEZ -

AEBENBIRIETE - EAFD KA
SMREFPRIHE R T BREL -
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6 REVENUE & CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(Continued)

(b)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers

)

(ii)

The Group has recognised the following liabilities
related to contracts with customers:

6 WAREGHERE®

(b)

/\D)

)

BRBEHENEE

AEECHRBATREFANE
MM EE

As at December 31,

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Contract liabilities — services and A& &E — RS K&
product sales EmiEE 1,979,245 1,492,514

The Group classified these contract liabilities as
current because the Group does not have an
unconditional right to defer for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.

The products are sold on a prepaid basis. When the
Group receives prepayment from franchised stores,
the relevant payment is recorded as contract
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet until the
Group recognizes revenue upon delivery of
products to the franchised stores.

Changes in contract liabilities

Contract liabilities have increased as a result of the
business expansion and acquisition of Naturade
Group which led to the increase in the number of
direct stores and members.

(ii)

ZK%I%HEZS’E\?’JE%%%*EF%M
HaIE-
1 HE A S ﬁﬁk E’é#ﬁ%,ﬁﬁéi
D128 R -

ERBRANEELE - EAKE
Hﬂl BIhneRJE TR FIR - BRI

REREEABRARINES
,%’]i%{f BHEREBERERMM
B R AR HERUA o

BRBENESD
B TSI R A R W BB 5= fﬁﬁi%

B EEE R B®EREM
HREIRE 218 -
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REVENUE & CONTRACT LIABILITIES 6 WAREHNERE®W
(Continued)
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers by HEPEHNBBENAEE)
(Continued)
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (i) FAELYHBEERHIA
The following table shows how much of the TRIRA AR E B AR
revenue recognised in the current reporting period HFEENEAHBERBIRA

relates to carried-forward contract liabilities:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT

Revenue recognised that was FABYIE N BEEST
included in the contract liability &2 HERU A
balance at the beginning of
the period
— Services and product sales — RBREMBE 959,567 852,513




\=d

176 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc.
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5 B AR M R

6 REVENUE & CONTRACT LIABILITIES 6 WAREHERT®
(Continued)
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers by HEERFELHEBEMAEEE)

(Continued)

(iv)

liabilities for the periods indicated:

The following table shows the movement of contract

(iv)
&) :

TRERATHESNBENE

As at December 31,

®12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBEF T
Balance at the beginning of FHEH
the year 1,492,514 1,408,119
Net increase in contract liabilites B AKHEFEHFAENE
due to the prepaid cards sold to S| EXHYE 4 & &8I0
end customers P 2,314,533 1,883,406
Revenue recognised from provision [\ 4% % = & 0 B2 5 he
of services and product sales to  RIEA R EEE R
end customers and franchised BRI A
stores (2,342,718) (1,990,672)
Payment to franchised stores due A A& 8 2 AR 7% 4 41
to the services provided to BIERR
our members (38,497) (7,933)
Net increase in contract liabilities B 0 B2 J& K E b Jg B 78 1+
due to the prepayments FIESI B EHNEESE
received from franchised hnFEEE
stores and others 117,508 177,107
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B8 B 8~ &) (M 5E36(a))
(Note 36(a)) 435,905 22,487
1,979,245 1,492,514
() Unsatisfied long-term contracts (0 KRETHERHEIEH

HZE2024%F %2023412A318 18
EBEARBITETNR S LHIL B64%
K61% @ KR —FANHERBBRA -
BT —F A LR ARER -

Management expects that the proportion of approximately
64% and 61% of the transaction to unsatisfied obligations
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 will be recognised
as revenue within next one year. The remaining will be
recognised in more than one year.
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A5 A B R I AR

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 7 HWARHEAMBEX
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Other income Hibr A
Government grants BT 9,960 22,212
Rental income el A 8,608 7,622
Others Hi 723 559
19,291 30,393
Other expenses Hipaxk
Direct cost in relation to the AW ABRBERNEERA
rental income (Note 15, Note 16) (BFsE15 ~ B5E16) 5,123 3,390

Government grants mainly represent subsidies from
governments as industry support, contributions of the Group to
employment stabilization and exemption on valued-added tax
granted by the government authority in the PRC. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these
grants.

BA#BEEHRBRAERTESR  HAK
%) %1 13 7€ mt 2 1F th B B A 5 B) DA B h B BT
MR TORERBR ZEHDL BN
ERARER AR HE KA EIR -

W,
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8 OTHER GAINS — NET

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

8 HfttWmFE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARKETF T
Net fair value gains on financial BRARBEGFAERRN
assets at FVPL (Note 22) SREEA R BERZFE
(M3E22) 20,928 23,847
Net losses on disposal of property, HEWE B REREN
plant and equipment [i=b (5,918) (1,008)
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains &5 (&518) W F 58 (2,551) 320
Losses on disposal of the a subsidiary HE—HKBAREE (1,158) —
Net gains on early termination of REKRILHESRMSEES
lease contracts ikl 384 —
Others Hith (5.134) (4,579)
Total w@Et 6,551 18,580
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R B S AR A R

EXPENSES BY NATURE

The expenses charged to cost of sales and services, selling
expenses, research and development expenses and general and

9 BMESIMMAX
A E RIRIAE - BB - FTEMIAR
—BRAREXNRHRL AT -

administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A318LEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARBFTT
Employee benefits expenses (Note 10) STEMFA% (MFE10) 1,029,285 854,414
Products, consumables used and related cost B BEM * 7 M7 MR A 527,261 436,981
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) {EREEENE (K:£17) 236,130 210,370
Depreciation of property, plant and M HERBERE
equipment (Note 15) (BF5E15) 114,636 101,231
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) B2 & E & # (M518) 26,688 16,745
Property management fee MEEERE 74,988 66,900
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 2R Fr B 5,664 3,158
— Audit services — FI R 3,486 3,006
— Permissible audit related and — EFHE AR
non-audit services EF R 2,178 152
Professional service fee FERGE 30,164 23,191
Promotion and marketing related expenses & & & #548 R X 51,073 44,140
Office expenses MAERE 32,813 26,296
Utilities R 40,376 36,185
Travelling expenses ZEIRFA X 19,583 17,708
Rental expense for short-term leases and REEENEERX R
variable lease payments (Note 17(b)) AIEMEERN K (HEE17(0)) 29,298 16,559
Bank charges HRITIE 6,681 5,747
Miscellaneous expenses IR 11,825 11,493
Taxes and surcharges g KM e 9,429 6,706
Entertainment expenses B B 7 =2 6,414 4,840
Loss allowance on inventories FEEERE 361 2,647
Other expenses HEMAx 15,404 13,250
Total wEt 2,268,073 1,898,561
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 ETIEFNBEX

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARKETF T
Wages, salaries and bonuses I8 Fe ksl 883,915 721,954
Pension costs — defined contribution plans EIREKA — TREMFRETE 62,419 50,372
Welfare and other expenses R v b 25,519 23,047
Other social security costs E A g R A A 38,374 32,126
Housing benefits FEEH 19,442 16,015
Share-based compensation expenses LARR 19 32 158 9 5 B ) 2
(Note 20) (K3£20) (384) 10,900
Total employee benefit expense BETRAMMAZ BT 1,029,285 854,414
(a) Pensions — defined contribution plans (a) BIKE — THEARE
The Group did not have any forfeited contribution for the H £20249F K%2023F12A318 I F
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 in connection & 7 55 B 0 A A ] SR 30 05 BT 8 1R Y
with the defined contribution plan operated by local EREHREGTE A 2R -
governments.
Employees of the Group are required to participate in a AEEMETIELMBFEM T BEE
defined contribution plan administrated and operated by B RBEMEREREE - REEMET
the local municipal government in the PRC. The Group EER R A BNRENE IS &8 —
contributes funds which are calculated on certain FELLOIEFTERER - BB IHRRER
percentages of the employee salary as agreed by the RHEES -
local municipal government to the plan to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees.
(b)  Five highest paid individuals by AZEEFHALT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARBTT

Director £ = —
Non-director FEE 24,046 29,881

24,046 29,881




10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b)
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Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b)

The emolument paid to the directors of the five highest
individuals is disclosed in the Note 37 while the
emolument paid to the non-director individuals during the
respective years is as follows:

A5 A B R I AR

10 ETHEABEX @

hf&m#E AL ()

ENAETERFATHNEEHEE R
FEI7HE  MAESFRAEEFALIN
HMenT :

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEEE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTT

Basic salaries EXH® = —

Bonuses TE4T 24,046 29,881
Pension costs — defined RIRERA — TR

contribution plans =T El — —
Other social security costs, housing Hiptt S RBACA - £

benefits and other employee benefits & R H A B TR

24,046 29,881

“
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 10 ETEANBAX @
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EHE&EEHFAL@E

The emoluments of the non-director highest paid ENEEENGRTEINMNSHEN
employees fell within the following range: N

Number of employee

EEAH™

2024 2023
20245 20234

RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 AER#2,500,001 T E
AR #3,000,0007T 2 —

RMB3,500,001 to RMB4,000,000 AR #3,500,001 T E
AR #4,000,0007T — 2

RMB4,000,001 to RMB4,500,000 ANER 4,000,001 T E
AR #4,500,0007T 1 —

RMB4,500,001 to RMB5,000,000 ANER#4,500,001 T E
AR 5,000,000 — 1

RMB6,000,001 to RMB6,500,000 AR 6,000,001 T E
AR #6,500,0007T 1 —

RMB7,500,001 to RMB8,000,000 AER#7,500,001 T E
AR #8,000,0007T 1 —

RMB8,500,001 to RMB9,000,000 AR #8,500,001 T E
AR #9,000,0007T — 1

RMB9,000,001 to RMB9,500,000 AR #9,000,001 T E
AR 9,500,000 — 1
5 5




1

12

g

183

2024 % XEREERREEXERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCE COSTS — NET

A5 A B R I AR

11 BHERARFERE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARBTT
Finance income T PN
Interest income on bank deposits AT RF B A 23,615 21,837
Finance costs B 75 B 2
Interest expense e
— Interest charges on borrowings — EFNEER (3.030) —
— Interest charges for lease — HEaGEMNEER
liabilities (Note 17(b)) (P FE17(b)) (24,526) (24,811)
(27,556) (24,811)
Finance costs — net B AR A R B (3,941) (2,974)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

This note provides an analysis of the Group’s income tax
expense, presenting how the income tax expense is affected by

non-taxable and non-deductible items.

12 FBFHRAX
KU IR AEBAEREEM AT - 25
PSR IR N AR E B FTs & -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREFT

Current income tax BIEAFTS F4 34,567 41,260
Adjustment for current income tax of WA FEREBAGEH AR

prior years 1,666 1,482

Deferred income tax (Note 32) EIEFTE R (M13E32) 29,172 15,388

Income tax expense gy 65,405 58,130

e

W,
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A7 A B R T AR

12

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

(a)

Cayman Islands

The Company is incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and is not subject to Cayman Islands
income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

The subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to
Hong Kong profits tax, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% on any estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

PRC CIT was calculated on the taxable profit for the
years at the rates of taxation prevailing in the PRC.

CIT was levied at the reduced rate of 15% for new/
high-tech subsidiaries. Certain subsidiaries of the Group
met the definition of STE (Small and Thin-profit
Enterprises) and entitled to a reduced corporate income
tax rate of 5% (2023: 5%).

The Company and its subsidiaries, except for STE and
new/high-tech subsidiaries and those incorporated in
Hong Kong, are generally subject to the PRC standard
corporate income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%).

12 B

(a)

BB )

HEHE
ARTRENSNEATIASMRT A
BHEEEAT  BAKNNSHSH
B -

BRMEHR
REEEMAR LM B ARARRER
E R EM A R A B RN E AT
BH ERVENENE2BEEE TR
8.25% HITH KB - MER T HOEMER
B F B RIE16.5% BB R -

FECEMBR(TEERMAER])
FRIGEAEHERTERTHERFENR
ERBMBEFESH -

MEFRMHBARME - CEMEBR
15 15% KR R T RGN - AEEE TH
BARFENUMMNEENTER =6
5% (2023 5%)MEEDEMSH
B

B /NBU BRI £ 35 K B AT BT /B R B A
EREBTMRIIN AR - KRR R
HIB AR —MARPEIZENENE
TR 25% (20234F © 25%) #F -
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") (Continued)

(0

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs

12 &A@

FREEMASHR(REMEHR])

(@

(4)
\n= )

REERR PSR M B R IB A IR E

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the FREEBE25% st EHIERTEE - #F
statutory tax rate of 25% is as follows: UM
Year ended December 31,
BZEZ12A831BLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AREBTT
Profit before income tax B FT 45 A0 A1 A 317,883 288,269
Tax calculated at the applicable R25% MEREEMEHE
statutory tax rate of 25% O SZREE 79,471 72,067
Adjustment for tax effect of: AT HENRBZEEL
Preferential income tax rates or FE - ERRASEETNE
policies applicable to certain FRARMEBEMEHNEL
companies comprising the Group R (22,121) (22,131)
Tax effects of expenses not BBEmME T NHASZ®H
deductible for tax purposes ik 529 1,712
Current income tax filing BEFEMRIEBMERRET
difference of prior years =8 1,666 1,482
PRC withholding income tax (i) AR ETEHI RS FL() 5,860 5,000
Tax charge IE X 65,405 58,130

(i

The CIT Law and its implementation rules impose a
withholding tax at 10% for dividends distributed by
a PRC-resident enterprise to its immediate holding
company outside PRC for earnings generated
beginning January 1, 2008 and undistributed
earnings generated prior to January 1, 2008 are
exempted from such withholding tax. A lower 5%
withholding tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies are established in
Hong Kong according to the tax treaty
arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong. For
the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024,
deferred tax expenses and a corresponding deferred
tax liability (Note 32(2)) of RMB5.00 million and
RMB5.86 million had been recognised in respect of
the withholding tax payable on the retained
earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries generated
which the directors expect to distribute outside the
PRC in the foreseeable future.

(i)

TEMEREREERMAMAFEF
B E R E mEMR AP BEINY
HEZRAGIEN2008F1A1H
F I A B B 5k B9 BB IR
10%FE B + i KR 20084F 1 A1
BRIEAMRD IRAFBEZ R
BB  c REFHESF
BHORMEHELH  WEELRER
NAIREBK L - Bl ] fEARIE
K5%TEMHE - B E2023F &
202412 A3 ILEE - A
EEFREMBARELANRER
FEMNMENFZ  BEERAE
ERBEBHY ARES00ESE LM
HEELERHBEEE (M7E322) A
R¥sgea &L =LA il
REBEF SR A B35 R A P B E
IND IR e
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

(©

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") (Continued)

Since the Group can control the quantum and timing of
distribution of profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries,
deferred tax liabilities are only provided to the extent that

12 FBHBEXZ @

(©)

FETEMBHR(EEMER])
(&)

P 74 7 5 [ AT 22 ) 7 5 [ o B Pl B 8 )
MED KSR RERE - SERBHN
A RERD IkZENBHEEEHRER

such profits are expected to be distributed in the BEEE -
foreseeable future.
Tax Losses (d) HIEEE
As at December 31,
®W12H318
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETx ARETF T
Unused tax losses for which no AERELEHBEENRE
deferred tax asset has been B EEE
recognised 44,807 49,527

The unused tax losses were incurred by certain
subsidiaries that are not likely to generate taxable income
in the foreseeable future and they can be carried forward
in five years. See Note 32 for information about
recognised tax losses and Note 4(c) for related significant
judgements applied.

13 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE

(i)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during each year.

On January 16, 2023, the Company conducted a 1 to 2
share split and each existing share was split into 2
shares. The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
share for all periods presented was retrospectively
adjusted.

On January 16, 2023, the Company was listed on Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with
the global offering in Hong Kong of 24,395,500 shares.

ABAHEEEHE THRAERRRT
RATBEEERRRBANNE QB E
o REREERNEATALE B
B ERTIEE BN SRS RWE32
mARERNEEERHE RN ER D

B 5E4(0)

13 BREXREBERR

(i)

R
SREFBAIREFADTEE AL
IR LA B BT % BAR B T B B
Bt

M2023F1A16H  ARAEEIT T 1L
2R D El  BERBERMNE DB A
2 BB RAEMEHENERERR
FFBREERFIOE -

#2023 1 A160  ARAEEERH
B E 24,395,500 I EE B A
SHRERATER LT
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13 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Basic (Continued)

On February 5, 2023, pursuant to the partial exercise of
the over-allotment option by the joint international
underwriters of the initial public offering, the Company
issued and subscribed an additional 6,080,000 shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
cumulatively repurchased 865,500 outstanding ordinary
shares with a total consideration of RMB12,012,000,
among which 255,500 shares were cancelled on
August 31, 2023 and 610,000 shares were cancelled on
February 21, 2024.

A5 A B R I AR

13 BEREAXAREBBEERN®

(i)

R (%)

R2023F2 A58 AR EHABH XA
BEMNBERRRHEE o TEBREE
[i% #8 M BE H)EE 17 I 7R 6,080,000 % A%

{/'\ °

HE2023F 128318 FEE > AQ T
253 01865,500 % ITHEINE WM
BEE A ARE12,012,0007T 0 E AP
255,500% % 17 2 72 2023F8 A31H 7
0 MeR T610,000 %A% 1) B 20244
2A21 B8 -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLFE

2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
Profit attributable to owners of RRARHEA ANEIEFDE
the Company (RMB’000) (AR#%FT) 228,460 215,657
Weighted average number of BT @R INE T8
ordinary shares in issue ("000) (FR&) 229,610 228,582
Basic earnings per share for profit FRARNBEB AREMN
attributable to the owners of FEOEREXRERF
the Company during the year (AEBRARBITIIR)
(expressed in RMB per share) 0.99 0.94

87

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account of share options granted to the employees that
would have been outstanding assuming the vesting of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. Details relating to the
options are set out in Note 20.

(ii)

BRESENAETARNEEEREANR
ANNBTF U TETHBRES
BHEA - BZEBBRERRTE(RR
MEERERELBRECHEB) - BKR
BAEBFHIBERNHIEE20 -
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13 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER 13 BEREAXARBERR @
SHARE (Continued)

(ii)

Diluted (Continued) (i) #HE G\
Year ended December 31,
BZE12B31BLEE
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
Profit attributable to owners of NATEE AELFE
the Company (RMB’000) (AR FT) 228,460 215,657
Weighted average number of BT @R NE T8
ordinary shares in issue ("000) (FR&) 229,610 228,582
Adjustments for calculation of T E T REE R R A
diluted earnings per share I8 H 143 1,504
Weighted average number of FESREERNRERS
ordinary shares and potential BEE) B AR B AR Y
ordinary shares used as the hnFE 8 (FAR)
denominator in calculating
diluted earnings per share ('000) 229,753 230,086
Diluted earnings per share for profit & RARFHEA AR
attributable to the owners of FER TSR A
the Company during the year (AEBRARBITIIR)
(expressed in RMB per share) 0.99 0.94
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14 DIVIDENDS

14 KRE

A5 A B R I AR

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Dividends declared to the ERRREIREE @) - (b)

shareholders (a), (b) 101,151 84,009

Proposed final dividend of HK$0.52 BEARHKREER0.52ET
(2023: HK$0.47) per share (o) (20234 : ®HR0.47E7T) (0) 113,182 100,513

Notes:

(a)

During the vyears ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Company declared dividends of RMB101,151,000 and
RMB84,009,000 respectively to the shareholders.

On June 27, 2024, the Company declared a cash dividend of
approximately HK$110.82 million from share premium, being
HK$0.47 per share. The dividend has been paid on
September 25, 2024 amounting to RMB100.45 million.

A dividend in respect of the year ended December 31, 2024 of
HK$0.52 (equivalent to RMBO0.48) per share, amounting to a total
dividend of approximately HK$122.65 million (equivalent to
RMB113.18 million), is to be approved at the 2024 annual
general meeting of the Company. These consolidated financial
statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

GER

(a)

HZE2024% 22023F 128318 LFEE - K
AADRIEBRRE RS AR 101,151,000
7T M AR #84,009,0007T °

MN2024F6 8278 AR AIERMDBEE IR
REeREH110828E BT - BER0.4775
JL e RAFIEHR2024F9 A25 AR LA A
R¥10045B 87T °

HZE2024%12 8318 L FE E/RK0.52 T
(HERARE0ASTL) WA E (BEARELN
R12265BBETHERARK113.188
EL)) R ARAR2024FREBFRE L
FH o WERAVBHRERW AR ZIBEEN

RS o
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - skl
Electronic Long-term
equipment Beauty Office leasehold  Assets under
Buildings  and vehicles equipment furniture  improvement  construction Total
BYRER REHE
g¥ RE EFRRE BREA NERE EREE @zt

RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBTE  AR¥TRT ARETE AR%TR ARETE AR%TR AR¥ETR

At January 1, 2023 R2023E1818

Cost A 40,815 27,721 206,681 9,382 460,807 15,959 761,365
Impairment provision AEEE — — (185) — — — (185)
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (25,154) (14,336) (140,388) (5,380) (268,218) — (453,476)
Net book amount FEFE 15,661 13,385 66,108 4,002 192,589 15,959 307,704

Year ended December 31, 2023 BZ2023F12831ALEE

Opening net book amount FNEAFE 15,661 13,385 66,108 4,002 192,589 15,959 307,704
Additions RE — 3,865 70,062 2,344 19,521 70,979 166,771
Transfers 2224 - — — — 66,350 (66,350) —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36)  YKBEHI B2 A (Fi336) — 83 626 — — — 709
Transferred to intangible assets HEZRVEE (W18)

(Note 18) — - — — - (1,375) (1,375)
Disposals HE — (186) (1,045) (98) - (276) (1,605)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) FEBR (f1:9) (2,037) (4,109) (21,341) (1,476) (72,268) — (101,231)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 13,624 13,038 114,410 4772 206,192 18,937 370,973
At December 31, 2023 R2023£128318
Cost KA 40,815 30,233 268,438 11,196 518,775 18,937 888,394
Impairment provision B E - — (185) - — — (185)
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (27,191) (17,195) (153,843) (6,424) (312,583) — (517,236)

Net book amount REFE 13,624 13,038 114,410 4,772 206,192 18,937 370,973
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

o BB i R M R

48

15 ¥ - S RRE

Electronic Long-term
equipment Beauty Office leasehold  Assets under
Buildings and vehicles  equipment furniture improvement  construction Total
EFRER ROEE
BT RE 3 WARE nELE EREE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AR%Tn ARETr AR%TR ARETR ARET:n
Year ended December 31, 2024 HE2024F12831A1LEE
Opening net book amount FOEAFE 13,624 13,038 114,410 4,772 206,192 18,937 370,973
Additions RE — 2,909 23,623 1,973 1,332 50,607 80,444
Transfers 1 = = = = 51,666 (51,666) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36)  WEEH BT (Mi36) = 1,547 35,579 - 13,238 312 50,676
Transferred to intangible assets HEREEEMEE(HH18)

(Note 18) — - — — - (10,494) (10,494)
Disposals HE — (242) (1,846) (61) (6,462) - (8,611)
Deduction due to disposal of a HEMRBAFMK

subsidiary = (25) (74) (69) (1,782) = (1,950)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) FEBR (1:9) (2,037) (4,276) (33,794) (1,513) (74,749) — (116,369)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 11,587 12,951 137,898 5,102 189,435 7,696 364,669
At December 31, 2024 ®2024%12631A
Cost A 40,815 32,213 311,657 12,699 558,113 7,696 963,193
Impairment provision mEEE = = (185) - - - (185)
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (29,228) (19,262) (173,574) (7,597) (368,678) - (598,339)
Net book amount REFE 11,587 12,951 137,898 5,102 189,435 7,696 364,669
The amounts of depreciation expense charged to profit or loss REZNBRMITERY SN T :
are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31B8LLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREETT
Cost of sales and services $HE KBRS AL A 104,337 93,771
Selling expenses HERX 4,633 4,569
General and administrative expenses — M RITHHAX 5,652 2,891
Research and development expenses HERX 14 —
Other expenses HEMAx 1,733 —
116,369 101,231
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o BB i R M R

AN
A%/Txm

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16 REWHE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Leasehold land and buildings HELHREF
Opening net book amount FYERmEE 67,755 71,145
Depreciation charge mEER (3.390) (3,390)
64,365 67,755
Closing net book amount: FRBREDFE -
Cost (DN 78,019 78,019
Accumulated depreciation REtT e (13,654) (10,264)
Net book value FREDHE 64,365 67,755
Fair value at the end of year FRAREBE 92,230 92,640
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the R2024F %2023 12 A31H » AEEZXRIE
fair values of investment properties with reference to valuation SLATARAD A ERSFEEEDEND

reports issued by an independent valuer. The valuation method
is the income approach, which takes into account the rental
income of such portion of the property derived from the
existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with due
allowance for the reversionary income potential of the leases,
which have been then capitalised to determine the market
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, rental
income of the Group’s investment properties recognised as
“other income” (Note 7) amounted to RMBS§,608,000 and
RMB7,622,000 respectively. Depreciation of the Group's
investment properties recognised as “other expenses” amounted
to RMB3,390,000 and RMB3,390,000 respectively.

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating
leases with rentals payable quarterly.

The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire or construct
investment property as investing and rental inflows as operating
cash flows.

R{BE - HETTERRAE - EPetKAR
ﬁ?ﬁ%\&/‘}z—w\ﬁﬁm LEANBRAYE

DHBEEEA - WiEEEBERENERK
)\/57] ZHEBARRBBEENER X
B ERAEETE °

REZE2024F % 2023F 12 A31HILFE « #
RETEMBA J(HE7) OAEBREMER
e A DR A ARES 6080007 M AR
7,622,0007T - R AT HMHAZ IWAREEIE
BEWMENED R AARES,390,000L ZAR
#3,390,0007C °

BREDMERBLKLEHERNEPEE BEX
NHEE -

AEEKKRBRERREMENRS R
BRARERERE Hﬁfﬁ?ﬁm’f?\%ﬁ!%ﬁﬁ%« 5
BERE -
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17 LEASES

The consolidated balance sheet show the following amounts

relating to leases:

(a)

Right-of-use assets

17 &

A5 A B R I AR

HEEBERBRITUTEEEENESEE

(@) EREEE

Properties
LY/
RMB’'000
ARET T
Year ended December 31, 2023 HZ2023F12A8318LEE
Opening net book amount F YR FE 481,019
Additions NE 244,882
Depreciation (Note 9) W& (K5E9) (210,370)
Closing net book amount FREEEFE 515,531
At December 31, 2023 7A2023F12H31H
Cost B 7R 932,585
Accumulated depreciation e = (417,054)
Net book amount BREFE 515,531
Year ended December 31, 2024 HZ2024F12A3181LEE
Opening net book amount FYRmFE 515,531
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) UK BE I B 2 &) (M9 5E36) 97,563
Additions NE 164,868
Termination of lease contracts WIFHESH (6,645)
Depreciation (Note 9) & (FF3E9) (236,130)
Closing net book amount FAREmFE 535,187
At December 31, 2024 72024%F12H31H
Cost B AR 1,051,597
Accumulated depreciation REE (516,410)
Net book amount BRENF(E 535,187

W,
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17 LEASES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

17 HE#®)

by HERRE

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Lease liabilities HEER
Current ) 220,339 169,343
Non-current IERF 360,479 393,777
580,818 563,120

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
the consolidated statement of cash flows contain the
following amounts relating to leases:

FARHKRERRGEARERERES

I =|

NTHEEEENEHE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31MBLLEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARBFT
(i) Profit or loss: (i) B -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets, EAREENE S
charged to cost of sales and KRR AN LA R — /R &
services and general and TR kR
administrative expenses 236,130 210,370
Interest expenses relating to HAEEEBE@ANTEH
lease liabilities, charged to X BB AR
finance costs 24,526 24,811
Expenses relating to variable EASHENREER
lease payments 2 7,717 9,335
Expenses relating to short-term HEHMEEREMAX
leases 21,581 7,224
Other gains relating to termination BEIEHESNERD
of lease contracts H iz (384) -
289,570 251,740
(ii) Cash flow: (i) RERE :
The cash outflow for leases as HEERMELTDHNE S
financing activities pingas] 265,555 232,075
The cash outflow for leases as HEERKEFHNEAS
operating activities it 29,298 16,559
294,853 248,634
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17 LEASES (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group's leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices and stores. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of six
months to fifteen years and have no extension
options granted to the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment
terms that are linked to sales generated from a
store. For individual stores with variable payment
arrangements, up to 95% of lease payments are on
the basis of variable payment terms with
percentage typically around 10% of sales. Variable
payment terms are used for a variety of reasons,
including minimising the fixed costs base for newly
established stores. Variable lease payments that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the condition that triggers
those payments occurs.

If revenue had increased by 10% with all other
variables held constant, variable lease payments for
the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
would have been approximately RMB772,000 and
RMB754,000 respectively higher mainly as a result
of lease expenses of cost of sales and services and
cash equivalents.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
leases across the Group. The majority of extension
and termination options are exercisable by mutual
agreements between the Group and the respective
lessor.

17 HE#®)

A5 A B R I AR

by HERE @

(iii)

(iv)

AEENEETYREART A

AEEHEZERAELPIE -
HEAHBREAERBNEAZE
ThHE AYEAAEEREE
BRI -

THE R FR (B B A E 1T IE RS
BB BT RRR R AR - B
HEAMFHEEENR MR
Sh - T8 E I 5 N A 22
o HEBRENSREERNIE
m e

ATEAENR

MoMERERSHPIEELN
B E AN A RO AT B N RIGRSK - Bt
AENRLHNERNPIENS
= IE95% H) M E 1 SRR A # A5
RIGERRIL - BRI REE
HEE10% A ENFIERARZ
HRR  BEEEREMNKILM
JERBEER A EE - BURK &
B EEENREBEZEN
G B £ RN B AR FERR -

MU A EF10% » mATA E ]
BRRERTE  HE2024F K
2023F12A31BALFEREH
ENRBEIAEMHOARE
772,0007t & A R#754,0007T
FEHRHEE KRB KRE
SEEYMHEERZTE -

BHIRRIRER

AEENHETBR BB REIL
BEE - RBOBEHRKIEE
REASERS S HBAAZRE
EHME AIITE -
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22 /N s 23
S5O BB i R M
18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 BEEE
Customer
Software Trademarks relationships Others Total
g [ EFB% Hitr st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT ARBTT AR%®Tn ARETR
At January 1, 2023 R2023F151H
Cost A 29,495 23,208 92,922 74 145,699
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2 #ENRE (8,819) (205) (53,331) (50) (62,405)
Net book amount REFE 20,676 23,003 39,591 24 83,294
Year ended December 31, 2023 EZ2023F12831R
LFE
Opening net book amount FUEEFE 20,676 23,003 39,591 24 83,294
Transferred from assets under construction ¥ % B 732 B (HFE15)

(Note 15) 1,375 — — — 1,375
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) U BB B B 2 8] (P 5E36) — — 10,800 — 10,800
Other acquisitions Hib e BB 1,254 — — — 1,254
Amortisation charge (Note 9) #EER (ME9) (4,018) (21 (12,699) 7) (16,745)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 19,287 22,982 37,692 17 79,978
At December 31, 2023 R2023F12A31H
Cost %N 32,124 23,208 103,722 74 159,128
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZRMBERAE (12,837) (226) (66,030) (57) (79,150)
Net book amount BRI FE 19,287 22,982 37,692 17 79,978
Year ended December 31, 2024 EZE2024F12831H

HFEE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 19,287 22,982 37,692 17 79,978
Transferred from assets under BREATEEE (FF15)

construction (Note 15) 10,494 — — — 10,494
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) WEEN B AR (M336) 5,044 150,000 131,290 — 286,334
Amortisation charge (Note 9) #BHEER(MF9) (5,340) (14) (21,326) (8) (26,688)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 29,485 172,968 147,656 9 350,118
At December 31, 2024 R2024%12831H
Cost AR 47,662 173,208 235,012 74 455,956
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEHE R E (18,177) (240) (87,356) (65) (105,838)
Net book amount BREFE 29,485 172,968 147,656 9 350,118
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The amounts of amortisation expenses charged to profit or loss

are as follows:

A5 A B R I AR

18 BEEE ®)

BIESMRNBHEERSENT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARBFTT

Selling expenses 21,405 12,777
General and administrative expenses — B RITHAX 1,203 488
Research and development expenses 4,080 3,480
26,688 16,745

(i) Total research and development expenses incurred in 2024
and 2023 were approximately RMB36,032,000 and
RMB34,071,000 respectively, which have been included in
the research and development expenses in the statement

of profit or loss.

(i) During the year, management conducted an impairment (ii)
review on the intangible assets of customers relationships
and trademarks with infinite useful life together with
goodwill. The key assumptions used in the impairment

review were disclosed in Note 21.

19 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

() A2024%F 2023F CEAMERX

e -

MsE214 55

19 HtbERBEE

@R R4 A AR 36,032,0000T XA
R #34,071,0007T * BsF AIBEER AR

RER - EEEHEFBEENELEE
N AER A ERFHNEIRERHEE
TTRERE - BERNATAEERRR

As at December 31,

R12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARET T
Prepayment for procurement of equipment &R & A ZE 5,361 2,356

W,
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20 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS

(1)

Share award scheme of Group's subsidiaries

Equity interest of the Group’s certain subsidiaries are
awarded to certain registered practitioners
("Practitioners”), including store directors, regional
managers, senior operation managers, in respect of their
future services for the Group.

Several commercial management partnerships (“Limited
Partnerships”) were established by the Group in 2020 as
employee incentive platforms.

Certain percentage of the equity interest of these Limited
Partnerships were granted to Practitioners in 2021 and
2022 respectively at total subscription price of the
relevant subsidiaries of RM7,256,000 and RMB5,000,000
respectively. Shanghai Beauty Farm does not have any
obligation to repurchase and pay back the subscription
price to employee upon forfeiture.

Certain percentage of the equity interest of these Limited
Partnerships were granted to Practitioners in the 2024 at
subscribe price of the relevant subsidiaries of
RMB10,255,000. Shanghai Beauty Farm does not have
any obligation to repurchase and pay back the
subscription price to employee upon forfeiture.

Expenses for the share-based compensation have been
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as follows:

20 LA XA BV R

(1)

ANEEE M BN R Ry R B AT &
AEEETHEBERARCDHE TEMKEE
B(HXE] BREER BEHLE-
AR E ) RRBAEBIRMRE
[A) EL 3% L AR

AEER2020FK B THEEETEAE
TE(BERABLCE)IEAE T HET

& o

ZEAERAEBLEETEOLABRER
20214 %2022 5 Rl LAFE B B B 2 &)
R E B AREET,256,0007T A R
5,000,000 TS - LEXEH
B EA M E TSR EER RAE T

BEREE-

ZEARAELERTEOLMIERE
2024 F AT B AR RIBE AR
10,255,000 T %8 - L/BXER
B E SRR EER RAE T

BEREE-

M XA HMEXC BARA 2K
mARABIT -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31MBLLEE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARE T ARETF T

General and administrative expenses — MM ATHR X 2,480 1,884
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20 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(2)

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of the
Company passed on November 21, 2022, 3,092,784
share options were granted to certain eligible employees
of the Group under the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on November 21, 2022, to subscribe for
3,092,786 share options of the Company in aggregate
with an exercise price of RMB24.25. On January 16,
2023, the shareholders of the Company resolved to
conduct a share split (the “Share Split”) on a one-for-two
basis, and the exercise price of the ordinary share was
changed to RMB12.13.

The term and conditions of the grants are as follows:

A5 A B R I AR

20 AR 3 A B9 R )

(2)

B I ET

BEARFRESLR2022F11A21H
BBH—ERAZR  ARRAAEEE
TEEREEREN2022F11A21H
TR AN B IR AT 2118 T /93,092,786
MR - DURITEBARB24.257T
R A $£3,002, 784K AR AR o B
2023F 18168 » AREIRERZRIL—
b ZEEETRHOE (RO -
TERITFEEZERARKI1213T -

BB R R ARFT

Number of
Instruments Vesting conditions Contractual life of options
TEHE BFE&H BRESHH
On November 21, 2022 3,092,784 25% on December 31, 2023 5.11 years
2022%F 11 A21H (6,185,568 after 2023F12A31HHEE25% 5.114F

the share split)
3,092,784
(Bt o &&=
6,185,568)

25% on December 31, 2024
2024F 12 A31HFEE25%
25% on December 31, 2025
202512 A31HFEE25%
25% on December 31, 2026
2026F 12 A31HFEE25%

1,546,392 options of the Company were forfeited on
December 31, 2023, because the Company cannot meet
the performance budget target in 2023.

The Company granted 1,546,392 options of the
Company as an incentive to a participant on February 5,
2024 with an exercise price of RMB12.13, which is
conditional upon the Company’'s 2024 annual
performance meeting budget targets. If the above vesting
conditions are met, the above incentives will be
attributed to the participant after 1 year.

3,191,753 options were lapsed on December 24, 2024 as
a result of the participants ceasing to be in current
position or the non-fulfillment of prescribed vesting
conditions. The related expenses for these share has been
reversed.

KANB B MR2023F12A31H B I
1,546,3928 R A & f% 0+t Jh R A A
NRIFR2023FRALEDZETBERIZ -

KANFR2024F2ASBIRTTHEEAR
1213 TR T 2B 2HEE
1,546,392 A QB 1 - HAFAR
RI2024FEEFEDTEEHZ% - A
EE - BEE BB IRM - EilSE
BR—FrEBESEE -

ARLEETBZERANEE KD
REKERIRTE T BIRMG  R2024F
1292483,191, 753D B KM » %
ERMMBEBASE PR -
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45 A A R 3R B EE

20 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(2)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The Company granted 3,191,753 options to certain
eligible employees of the Group under the share option
scheme adopted by the Company on December 30, 2024
with an exercise price of RMB12.13, which is conditional
upon the Company’s annual performance from 2025 to

20 uyﬁiﬁMﬁm

(2)

R ET B (4

AR FIRIBEARAD R R2024F 12 A30H
RN BERERT S UITEBARKE
NRIBTEAEEETEEREIRE
3,191,753 BBk ##E - AR A R

2025F F2027TFMEEEFEENEE

2027 meeting budget targets.

BR& HAMEE -

The term and conditions of the grants are as follows: BRI GNT
Number of
Instruments Vesting conditions Contractual life of options
ITE®E HBEHHS BRESKNH
On December 30, 2024 3,191,753 33.33% on February 1, 2026 4 years
2024412 A30H 2026F2 A 1HEE33.33% 4%

The Company and the relevant grantees agreed to amend
the performance targets conditions and contractual life of
1,447,423 options of the Company on

options of
December 24, 2024.

33.33% on February 1, 2027
20272 A 1HHE33.33%
33.33% on February 1, 2028
20282 A1HEHBE33.33%

H A

AN E R AR AR AR2024F 12 B 24
BEETFEERRERARA T
1,447 42310 IR IEARES L8 -

December 24, 2024
MR2022F11 A218 KR
202412 A24 B{&5R]

33.33% on February 1, 2027
20272 A 1HERE33.33%
33.33% on February 1, 2028
2028F2 A 1HERE33.33%

(@)  The term and conditions after the amendment are (@) EASETIEFR AT -
as follows:
Number of Contractual life of
Instruments Vesting conditions options
ITAHE HBEHHG BRESHH
On November 21, 2022 1,447,423 33.33% on February 1, 2026 6.11 years
and amended on 20262 A 1HBE33.33% 6.114
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S5O BB R M
20 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 20 RO ZMNHNER @
(2) Share option scheme (Continued) (2) MEBRRESTE(E)
(@)  (Continued) (@) (&)
Expenses for the share options compensation have BRESWASZEBGFE2EK
been charged to the consolidated statement of BRI

comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
General and administrative — B RITHAY
expenses (2,864) 9,016
(b)  The number and weighted average exercise prices (b) HERERIEE RINETFHTEE
of share options are as follows: s
2024 2023
20245 2023%
Exercise Exercise
price per Number of price per Number of
share option options share option options
BHEREN BRRERERN
e fE BREHE T fE BRER
Outstanding at the FORTR RMB12.13 RMB24.25
beginning of the year AR®12137 4,639,176  AR®24257T 3,092,784
Share Split &1 5 & RMB12.13
- - ARE12.137L 6,185,568
Lapsed during the year FANEEM RMB12.13
AR¥12.137T (3,191,753) — —
Forfeited during the year ~ FRERHK RMB12.13
- - ARE12.137L (1,546,392)
Granted during the year ~ FREEH RMB12.13
AR¥12.13% 4,738,145 - —
Outstanding at the FRRTR RMB12.13 RMB12.13
end of the year AR®12137 6,185,568  AR®12.1371T 4,639,176
Exercisable at the FRATRE

end of the year = = — -

“
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20 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(2) Share option scheme (Continued)

(0

Fair value of share options and assumptions:

The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference to
the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the share options
granted is measured based on a binomial
option-pricing model. The contractual life of the
share option is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into
the binomial option-pricing model. Fair value of
share options and assumptions:

20 UBRHB NN @

(2) MBS (|

(0

BRENIABERERR:

R EBREm D EZREH A
REEHZ2EMRLBRENR
REERE - IRHBRENG
AAREEDR -_EAHEEE
BRGHE - BRENASNFHA
TERZIR B B A BUR - IRAITTIE
WEHMA—BAREEER
e BRENDAEBEERRR:

Share options

BRE
Grant Date November 21, 2022 February 5, 2024  December 30, 2024
REAH 2025118218 202452A58 2024512 A30A
Fair value at measurement date RAERBNARER
(expressed as weighted average fair value (R EA BT ERE RMB38,378,000 RMB3,853,000 RMB20,332,000
option-pricing under binomial model) MEFHAR BEHIT) AEH38378000r  AKM3:853,000  AKH20,332,000T
Share price fR (8 RMB29.79 RMB9.65 RMB16.10
AR%29.797 AR¥9.657 AR®16.107T
Exercise price TRE RMB24.25 RMB12.13 RMB12.13
AR5 AR#12.137 AR®12.137
Exercise price after share split &3 2 BV AT HE(E RMB12.13 N/A N/A
AR®12.13T TEA TEA
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted HHRE
average volatility used in the modelling (BB BT EREFRA
under binomial option-pricing model) IMEFREIT) 48.11% 52.00% 50.98%
Option life (expressed as weighted average life & 1512 & £
used in the modelling under binomial (R-EABREEREMA 5.11 years 3.90 years 4 years
option-pricing model) MEFHFHIIR) 5E 3.90F 4F
Expected dividends EHREE 3.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Risk-free interest rate (based on HKMA ERRNE(REBCHEER
Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes) ERNEECERAE) 261% 2.22% 1.35%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on the historical earning per share and
management’s estimation of dividend payment.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

TERRIR R TOAR IR R SRR (IR IR AB
Pl #E B T 25 R BR A HAGH D &
g YREARASERSER
FEHIR R AR BB B E LR -
BHREEDIRBEELSREF
& E IR B IR BN R ik FH AT
g THHABBRRNES A
SHRAREBEMTEKNERY

I &
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20 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

21

(2) Share option scheme (Continued)
(c) (Continued)

Share options were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement
of the services received. There were no market
conditions associated with the share option grants.

A5 A B R I AR

20 AR 3 A B9 R )

(2) BhEsETE (®

()

(%)

BREDRRGHRERD - 58
FRESRBRELBRNRAE
B WEET MR - BB
P v X B 75 (] B T 25 7 A
fEe o

GOODWILL 21 BHE
Goodwill
(55
RMB’000
ARBEF T
Year ended December 31, 2023 BZE2023F12A318LLFE
Opening net book amount FREFEE 196,286
Acquisition of business (Note 36) W ig 275 (5E36) 21,241
Closing net book amount FREEFEE 217,527
At December 31, 2023 7"2023F12H31H
Cost (DN 217,527
Accumulated impairment 2ETRE —
Net book amount R FE 217,527
Year ended December 31, 2024 BZE2024F12A831BLFE
Opening net book amount FYEREFE 217,527
Acquisition of business combinations (Note 36) W BE S 755 BF (B EE36) 436,427
Closing net book amount FREEFE 653,954
At December 31, 2024 7"2024%12H31H
Cost DFN 653,954
Accumulated impairment 25T RE —
Net book amount REFE 653,954

W,
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21 GOODWILL (Continued) 21 BEw
(a) Impairment tests of goodwill () mERERHE
Goodwill, customer relationships, trademarks and other ME - BEPAR BEREMEEEE
related assets are allocated to group of CGUs, brand of REARFEELE ShaB2BREk
Palaispa as a whole, brand of Naturade as a whole, and HEEHBEGEERT (BFELEM -
brand of Beauty Farm by cities, including Shanghai, EET - KET - BT KA B b 4
Chongqing, Chengdu, Wuhan and other cities located in M AEERSELESEMAER -
PRC.
The management has engaged an independent qualified EEECZREE LA ERTHAMEA
valuer to perform impairment test applying “value-in-use” [MEAEE]DEETRERNR - SRR
method as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 by using the B RERAMN20244F £ 2023512 A
discounted cash flow model. The value-in-use calculations 31EETAE - EREEAECRAER
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets ERERETRAERN MIENI KA
approved by management for the purposes of BERIRERETER - BRI ASE -
impairment reviews. The forecast period is 5 years.
The recoverable amount of the CGUs based on the 20244 2023512 A318 &4 Ef
estimated value-in-use calculations was higher than the FAEBTENReEESEM T KE S
carrying amount at December 31, 2024 and 2023. RN EHREE - At - i ERHER
Accordingly, no provision for impairment loss for goodwill BEEERATHE -
is considered necessary.
Asset-unit-level summary of the goodwill allocation is HESEMEESNEEAMEZZ M
presented below. e
2023 2023F Palaispa Shanghai  Chongging Chengdu Wuhan Others Total
BRH ii:hil BEM BT HET Hity st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTRT ARETT AR%®Tr ARBTRT ARETT ARETR
Cost B 72,063 38,939 35,781 2,165 24,124 44,455 217,527
Impairment BB — — — — — — —
72,063 38,939 35,781 2,165 24,124 44,455 217,527
2024 20245 Naturade Palaispa  Shanghai Chongging  Chengdu Wuhan Others Total
E31) BRF L EEm BT HEm Hith @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR%ETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR¥TR AR%T:R
Cost KA 384,466 80,425 38,939 35,781 34,868 24,124 55351 653,954
Impairment AfE = = = = = = = =
384,466 80,425 38,939 35,781 34,868 24,124 55,351 653,954
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21 GOODWILL (continued)

(b)

Key assumptions

The following table sets forth key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill and intangible
assets of customer relationships and trademark with
infinite useful life as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

21

BE )
(b)) FE/HF

TR EHIHR20244F 2023912 A31
H BEEEETHSREEIETRS
EBREFMEREREENNAEERA
FAFHEIZRENATRANSEE

ZRRK -

As at December 31,

R12H31H

2024 2023
2024F 20234

Naturade RIE5R
Revenue next 5 year RIESFE YA N/A
(% annual growth rate) (FEEEXRY) (2.88)~7.48 TiE A
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT, 225 (%) N/A
11.54~14.47 T
Long term growth rate (%) RHERER(%) N/A
2.00 T
Pre-tax discount rate (%) B AT BE IR R (%) N/A
15.56 T

Palaispa BREF

Revenue next 5 year RIESFE YA

(% annual growth rate) (FIEEE%) 5.00-7.07 -3.60~8.08
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT U 25(%) 5.08~7.47 -0.22~6.29
Long term growth rate (%) RHERER(%) 2.00 2.00
Pre-tax discount rate (%) B AT BE IR R (%) 15.60 12.40

Shanghai b s3]

Revenue next 5 year RIESFE YA

(% annual growth rate) (FIEEE%) 5.00~5.49 5.00~10.97
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT U 25(%) 1.92~4.09 1.75~3.30
Long term growth rate (%) RHERER(%) 2.00 2.00
Pre-tax discount rate (%) B AT BE IR R (%) 15.60 12.20
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21 GOODWILL (continued)

(b)

Key assumptions (Continued)

21

BE

(b) FEMRK )

As at December 31,

MA12A31H
2024 2023
2024F 20234
Chongqing BEM
Revenue next 5 year E RPN
(% annual growth rate) (FHEE%) 5.00~5.78 5.00~11.78
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT, U 25 (%) 8.84~10.25 12.06~14.76
Long term growth rate(%) RHEIE R TR (%) 2.00 2.00
Pre-tax discount rate (%) Bk A58 BT B 2R (%) 16.20 15.15
Chengdu K&
Revenue next 5 year E R ON
(% annual growth rate) (FHEE%) 2.64~12.04 5.00~8.00
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT, Uk 25 (%) (0.36)~3.15 6.68~13.66
Long term growth rate (%) RHEIE R T (%) 2.00 2.00
Pre-tax discount rate (%) Bk A58 BT B 2R (%) 14.50 11.00
Wuhan HEM
Revenue next 5 year E R ON
(% annual growth rate) (FHEE%) 2.53~5.34 5.00~8.00
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT, Uk 25 (%) 4.01~5.27 6.68~13.66
Long term growth rate(%) RHEIE R T (%) 2.00 2.00
Pre-tax discount rate (%) Bk A58 BT B 2R (%) 14.90 11.00
Other cities Hithigm
Revenue next 5 year E RPN
(% annual growth rate) (FHEE%) 1.62~5.00 5.33~6.17
EBIT/Revenue (%) EBIT, Uk 25 (%) 2.32~16.94 0.26~17.44
Long term growth rate (%) RHEIE R T (%) 2.00 2.00
Pre-tax discount rate (%) Bk A58 BT B 2R (%) 14.60~17.50 13.40~19.80
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21 GOODWILL (Continued) 21 BEwW
(b) Key assumptions (Continued) (b) FERF@®E
The long term growth rates were estimated based on the RAEREBRBAEENESRAEL
overall long-term business development plan of the Group ERFERFANTENESBIREMG
and the inflation rate of the PRC as a whole during the B
Year.
Management has determined the values assigned to each ERECDEETORE B BEFERR
of the above key assumptions as follows: WEEWT :
Assumption Approach used to determine values
EE4 AREEEENE*
Revenue growth rate Average annual growth rate over the five-year forecast period; based on past
performance and management’s expectations of market development.

Was g K& TFEFEARANFAFERE  ARBERBERERBY M SERERMNTAS -
EBIT/Revenue Based on past performance and management's expectations for the future.
EBIT /3% ERBERRREBEEHRKATEL -

Long term growth rate  The basis used to determine the value assigned to the long-term growth rate is the
forecast price indices during the budget year from where the main services are

located.
REERE AREE S EERAEREXEENEAERBEFEANRE X ERG MM TEAE
TRIEEL
Pre-tax discount rate Reflect specific risks relating to the operation of the business in the PRC.
R 150 AT BE IR 3R [RBR B AR Bl A 2 R TS B VS T AR -
Based on the result of the goodwill impairment testing, BREBERENANGR HeELE
the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded UEEET AR E e RREHREE - &
its carrying amount and the headroom was as follows: BT
As at December 31,
R12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBFT
Naturade ESTb N/A
299,748 i A
Palaispa B2 21,227 74,655
Shanghai adi=ay) 108,912 248,958
Chongging EEM 52,968 74,501
Wuhan HUET 48,458 125,425
Others HAh 510,045 393,997

1,041,358 917,536
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21 GOODWILL (Continued) 21 BEw
(b) Key assumptions (Continued) (b) FERFGE)
The management believes that any reasonable possible ERERE FREERENEMEE
change in any of the key assumptions would not cause RSSO TEERREELEMNE
the carrying amounts of the CGU to exceed its HEEBBEHATIRESEE -
recoverable amount.
The management of the Company concluded that no AARERERE  M2024%F %2023
provision for impairment on the goodwill has to be F12A318  BEERHERERE -
recognised as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.
22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 RAREBEFABRENESREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following : BRAnBEFAEBERNEREERENUNTS
18
As at December 31,
R12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARBFT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in private funds (i) BERTLEESE) 7,548 —
Current assets RBEE
Wealth management products (i) 8 B 2 dn (i) 853,287 766,227
Investment in private funds (i) HERLERES) 57,776 198,746
911,063 964,973
918,611 964,973
(i) During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group (i) HZE2024F 128318 EFE - AEH
made investments in two private funds, one amounting HERMELERES  — &5
to USD1,050,000 (equivalent to RMB7,548,000) and the 1,050,000 T (HERARE

other amounting to HKD62,391,000 (equivalent to
RMB57,776,000). The investment in private fund
amounting to HKD62,391,000 (equivalent to
RMB57,776,000) has been redeemed by the Group as of
the date of this report.

7,548,0007T) © B —% /462,391,000
T (HERARKS7,776,0007T) - &ZE
AREBH AEEEELLEESD
62,391,000 T (HER AR
57,776,0007C) °
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

Investments made in 2023 represented investments in
three private funds. Investment objectives were mainly to
invest in short-term monetary instruments (including cash
and cash equivalents), national debt, and other
short-term securities, etc. The Group has redeemed all
these investments in 2024.

For information about the methods and assumptions used
in determining fair value, see Note 3.3.

The Group purchases low-risk investments for cash
management purposes, which mainly included wealth
management products from licensed commercial banks
and state-owned trust companies. The products are
standardised and short-term wealth management
products with maturity day within one year with an
estimated annualised return rate ranging from 2.00% to
3.05%. Wealth management products are all held for
trading and classified as financial assets at FVPL. For
information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value, see Note 3.3.

Financial assets measured at FVPL were mainly placed
with high-credit-quality financial institutions and
therefore, the credit risk of these financial assets is low.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

A5 A B R I AR

22 BERAREBEEFABENESHEE

(&)

(i (&)
2023FHITHRE=ZELEESD - |E
BZETERREREHERTA(BE
HeRBEeEEY) HEREMEH
BEE o 20245 AEEDER 2 E
RERE -

EHRETAABEMAFERBERNE
B BRE Wuf3.3c

nu

(ih AEEBEERBREEANRESER
HAEFZaEREmERTREGET
NEIMEVER - “ZIFERAZTELR
MAEMER  DEBHBR—FA - (HE
F(EEIFENF2.00%E3.05% 2 °
BHEMEGFEEES UHBAKEAR
BETAEZNSREE - EHETA
REEFATERBRENER  F52H
Bi5E3.3 °

BAnBEIRLAIBRANEE SR

BETZFRARERREZS K
& &téi%ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ?z%ﬂ%ﬂ&?
1K -

RIBER PRI

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A318LEE

Net fair value gains on financial assets at
FVPL

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEFT
BARBEFTABRN
CREEN AR EERE
FEE 20,928 23,847
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

23

BEREIHNEMITA
AREHEATERIA

As at December 31,

MW12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREETTT
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKAFENEMEE
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 26) ReRRESEFED (M26) 456,158 224,277
Term deposits with initial terms of e A ERER R = 8 A 8
over three months (Note 26) TEBRTF AR (B3 26) 463,557 384,929
Restricted cash (Note 26) ZREIR & (FzE26) 28,449 10,451
Trade receivables (Note 25) 2 5 e RIaE (fif st 25) 48,888 31,011
Deposits, other receivables and amount Be - A EUGIE K& B
due from related parties (Note 25) & 77 538 (MFE25) 129,630 149,861
Financial assets at FVOCI BARBEFAREBEE
R RVEE 43 46
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 22) BARBEFABRZNSH
BE (M3E22) 918,611 964,973
2,045,336 1,765,548
As at December 31,
M®12H31H
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAFENESREAE
Borrowings (Note 29) e (M 5E29) 149,774 —
Lease liabilities (Note 17) HEAEHE17) 580,818 563,120
Trade payables (Note 31) B SN HIE (FEE31) 29,886 21,421
Other payables and accruals excluding Em s kgt EA
employee benefits payables, tax payables BREEMEERT - EHN
and dividend payable (Note 31) B R EMRE)(MEE31) 162,694 94,217
923,172 678,758

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the

carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned

above.

AEEERESHTARBNSERRR
BEEE35T 7 o
REAEBEHEENRAEE -

K& HRE RN RAEERR
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A5 A B R I AR

INVENTORIES 24 78
As at December 31,
MW12B31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARETF T
Body and skin care products and FEREEEREMURE
medical consumables BEFER M 162,477 197,879
Less: provision for inventory W I ERE (10,652) (10,291)
151,825 187,588

The provision for inventory as at December 31, 2024 and 2023
reconciles to the opening balance of the provision as follows:

20244 120234 12 A 31 B 4977 & A e
BRFENERERNT

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31BLFE

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

As at the beginning of year R EFA]) 10,291 7,644
Increase in loss allowance recognised in RENEBERBERNEBRE

profit or loss during the year #n 361 2,647

As at the end of year RER 10,652 10,291

The costs of individual items of inventory are determined using
weighted average costs at the end of each month. See Note
2.8 for the Group's accounting policies for inventories.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the cost
of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of
sales and services” and “selling expenses” amounted to
RMB527,261,000 and RMB436,981,000 respectively (Note 9).

ERFEEBEORAEREA RN NEFS
KAEE - ERAAEENTFESHERR  §2
BIPE2.8

HZE20245F 202312 A31 B ILEE » R
BRZARGTATHEE RRBAA] & HEH
TINTFEKA D R A AREES27,261,0007T
N AR #436,981,0007T (Ff#£9) °
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 25 BEZEWFIE - ANRIE - &E
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES K H b f& W 7R IE
As at December 31,
MW12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREETTT
Trade receivables ((i) and (ii)) g 5 B WA () R&(i)
Trade receivables H 5 W IE 55,208 33,425
Less: provision for impairment B R E R (6,320) (2,414)
Total trade receivables H 5 EWRIEEEE 48,888 31,011
Included in current assets FARBEE
Prepayments, deposits and EARE - ReRHEA

other receivables FEW R IE
Prepayments for procurement of REBFENANRIBRREE

inventories and operating expenses (vi) B 57 (vi) 55,352 43,795
Amount due from related parties & s B B 7 kB (BT R 34¢(c))

(Note 34(c)) 7,963 34,433
Deposits — current portion (iii) e — BVHEIEE 5 (i) 36,194 19,974
Other current assets (iv) EA B & E(iv) 8,642 8,592
Other receivables H th & U 3R IE 18,397 27,220
Less: provision for impairment R R E B (470) (1,339)
Total prepayments, deposits and FRNRIE - B REM

other receivables — current portion U GRIE B — BNEAEE S 126,078 132,675
Included in non-current assets FAERBEE
Deposits and other receivables Re R HiEWRE
Deposits paid to a related party (Note 34(c)) ©1FEIEE FIE4E (B 5E34(c)) 792 —
Deposits — non-current portion (jii) & — FERNEREB 4 (i) 66,833 69,668
Less: provision for impairment W R E R (79) (95)

Total

“aEt 67,546 69,573
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Aging analysis of trade receivables

The majority of the Group’s sales are settled through
credit cards or third-party electronic payment platforms.
At December 31, the aging analysis of the trade
receivables from contracts with customers receivables as
at the balance sheet dates based on invoice date was as
follows:

25 &

A5 A B R I AR

EWRIE - ANRE - BE

H fth FE WU TH ()

B 5 R FIAR B ik 2
AEBNKRIFDHEDBBERARHE
=HEFXNFENREE - M12AN
B REFEPANEBKIANE ZEK
RERBEEAER R AR RED T
QDT-

As at December 31,

MW12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFTT
Up to 1 year THBE1F 47,394 29,273
Between 1 and 2 years 1224 4,781 3,575
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 2,456 419
Over 3 years 3FMUE 577 158
55,208 33,425

Fair values of trade receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables,
their carrying amount is considered to approximate their
fair value.

Deposits

The current portion of deposits mainly represented the
deposits for guarantee of inventories and short-term lease
of stores and buildings, and the non-current portion of
deposits represented the deposits for long-term lease of
stores and buildings.

Other current assets

Other current assets include deductible input VAT and
prepayment of PRC corporate income tax as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

B2 RUKEN AR EE

MR EIEI W R IS - HRE
BERRAEEALBERS

B

EE BRI S EEEMIIEREFE
Hﬂifﬂ%%ﬂ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁi\ ik & K9 IERNHAEL
DEMEREFRBBEERS -

HEMmeEE
R2024%F KX2023F 128318 » EMiiE
%bﬁ%@%ﬂﬂuiﬁlﬁiﬁﬁ&qﬂﬁ
¥ HMBENR

W,
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

25 %’Z%F@EH&*”E ANRE &2
R H Al f8 SRR ()

(v) Impairment and risk exposure (v)  RE R E A
The movements in the loss allowance of impairment of BZRBHENREBEREZS N
trade receivables are as below: Nk
As at December 31,
M12H831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BT T ARET T
As at January 1, R1A1A8 (2,414) (2,468)
(Provision)/Reversal of receivables JE U SR TE R (B (B )R
impairment (3,906) 54
As at December 31, M12B31H (6,320) (2,414)
The movements in the loss allowance of impairment of e (BRERARIEANEE ) R H A E
deposits including current and non-current portion and WHIERREEEREZSNT :
other receivables are as below:
As at December 31,
®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARET T
As at January 1, ®1A18 (1,434) (584)
Reversal/(Provision) for receivables JE W FRIE R E BB, ()
impairment 885 (850)
As at December 31, M12831H (549) (1,434)
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 25
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(v)

Impairment and risk exposure (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’'s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

(a

Individual basis

A5 A B R I AR

& H i & W FE ()
) RERERMO

TRENEAEABEEEEAEE
B 5 RUKIBEER RO ER

(@) fERIEE

Between Between

Up to 1 and 2 and Over
1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
FEB1F 1228 2E3F 3FENRE it
As at December 31, 2023  #2023512A31H — — — — —
As at December 31, 2024 #2024512A31H 193 2,062 958 33 3,246

The expected credit loss rate on the individual basis
was 100% during the year ended December 31,
2024.

Group assessment

HZE2024F12A3MB IEEE -
BREENBEHEEBERA
100% °

(b) EEFH

Between Between
Up to 1 and 2 and Over
As at December 31, 2023 7#2023%12A31H 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
THB1F 1226 283F 3FNLE @5t
Excepted credit loss rate  FEHIEEEIER 6% 10% 20% 65%
Gross carrying amount REAE 29,273 3,575 419 158 33,425
Expected credit losses EHEEERE 1,870 357 84 103 2,414
Between Between
Up to 1 and 2 and Over
As at December 31, 2024 742024512 A31H 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
FTRB1EF 1Z22%F 2E3F 3FENLE #t
Excepted credit loss rate  TEHIEEEIE X 5% 10% 20% 65%
Gross carrying amount REAE 47,201 2,719 1,498 544 51,962
Expected credit losses HHEEFE 2,148 272 300 354 3,074

I?':'::"x.
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e
A%/T\ =

o BB i R M R

(Continued)

(v)

25 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 25 B EWXE  BERE &2
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES R H At B W R IE &)
Impairment and risk exposure (Continued) (v) RERE R A (4
On the basis as described in Note 3.1(b)(ii), the loss *EEW%I\BJ(b)(iii)Fﬁ?E%?E— P FA20244F
allowance for deposits and other receivables as at N2023%12 A31 B s & H g G
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are determined as follows: HHEERBREETNT -
As at December 31,
W12A318
2024 2023
20244 20234
Gross Loss Gross Loss
Expected Carrying Allowance  Expected Carrying  Allowance
loss rate amount provision loss rate amount  provision
FEH TEHER
BiEX KRELE HBEEBAE BiEX FRAKE BEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TT AREETFTT ARETT
Included in current assets FARBEE
Deposits and other RERHEMER
receivables RE
Amount due from FE LT A Bk 5 KB
related parties 0.5% 7,963 36 0.5% 34,433 187
Deposits e 0.5% 36,194 184 1% 19,974 200
Other receivables E fth & W R IE 1.4% 18,397 250 3.5% 27,220 952
Included in non-current assets FTAFREBEE
Deposits paid to a related party BRI TR S 0.1% 792 1 — —
Deposits e 0.1% 66,833 78 0.1% 69,668 95
130,179 549 151,295 1,434
Deposits and other receivables are considered to have a ?Tzﬁ&ﬁi\ﬁﬂﬁ%Hﬁl%ﬂlﬁi%&?ﬁﬁﬁé%’ﬂﬁt
low risk of default and each of the counterparties has a CHEHFINE RS EETH
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow LHHA%’JEEE\/EEEE At REER
obligations in the near term, hence the Group considers REEERRIE - E&Eﬁﬁn/uﬁfﬁﬁéfﬁb{
them to have low credit risk, and thus the impairment 121Iﬂ?EHﬂJ§ﬂ§7%ﬁE o BLE 5 IEUK
provision recognised is limited to 12-month expected $EIVFH%°/;§EM%#E%—’%E‘J
losses. For trade receivables, the Group applies the 9&171/L TR L A - HERKIEE 2 8]
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires B8 B VL R ERGRIERER

expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,

26

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(vi)  Prepayments and other receivables

The Group makes prepayments for property management
fees and utility fees of stores and buildings, certain
purchases of inventories, marketing fees, etc.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are primarily
denominated in RMB.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

25

26

A5 A B R I AR

ESRWFE - ARARE -
N H {th FE W RRIE ()

T8 5 FRIR Ko oAt 8 WK IR
AEERPIENETHMEXEREBRA
ARBE KEETHER EHERSF
tEH AR AR ©

(vi)

AEBENE ZEWGKIE - BNHE - R
EREMRBEFENRAEEIEUAAR
®EtE -

BERBITHEER

As at December 31,

®12H31R
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETF T

Cash and bank balances R MIRITH 8
— Cash on hand — FHEES 169 1,013
— Cash at bank — ®RITRS 947,995 618,644
948,164 619,657
Less: restricted cash (note a) B ZRBIE S (KisEa) (28,449) (10,451)
term deposits with initial terms of TEREBE=1E A K

over three months TEHF K (463,557) (384,929)
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBELEFEY 456,158 224,277

(@)  Restricted cash represents bank deposits placed by the
Group with banks as a security for prepaid cards issued
to customers and is not available for other use by the
Group.

(@) FRBIRSEAKEFRRBITHRT

5% EREE TEP AN R EMR
i BEARSEBEEIEEMAE -

e

U,
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S5 T PSR BT
26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued) 26 RERWV|ITER @
(b)  The cash and bank balances are denominated in the (b) BRERIBITHEBUATINEEE

following currencies:

As at December 31,

MW12H318
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
RMB AR 583,693 300,720
usD ETT 268,450 75,522
HKD BT 95,536 241,205
EUR BT 485 2,210
948,164 619,657

27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 27 BRAEARKRGRE

As of the date of incorporation of the Company, the Company HEARRGFMKZIBE  AARBEER
was authorised to issue 5,000,000,000 shares of USD0.00001 775,000,000,000 % & % T {£0.00001 & 7T #)
each. Upon its incorporation, 62,260,000 shares were issued to Bfp o XM L8 RARE MREET
the shareholders. 62,260,000 % i% 1
Ordinary shares issued and not fully paid: EETERBENEBER
Share Share Share Treasury
Number of capital capital premium stock
shares usD RMB RMB RMB
R AR B R s B B
RiHEA = AR AR AR
At December 31, 2022 A2022F12 8318 103,092,784 1,031 6,573 84,358,111 —
Share Split (a) B39 Ela) 103,092,784 - -
Issuance of ordinary shares on 71 A16H %47
January 16 (b) LBk (b) 24,395,500 122 819 405,138,157 —
Issuance of ordinary shares on #2A5H %17
February 5 (c) EiaAk() 6,080,000 30 206 101,406,878 —
Repurchase and cancellation of #2023F6HA3H%
ordinary shares during June 1M A23H BBl i
3, to November 23, 2023 (d) &‘Eiﬁ iR (d) (255,500) (1 (9 (5,196,060)  (6,816,327)
Listing fees through equity A EmER — — —  (33,928,120) —
Dividends declared IR E — — —  (84,009,473) —

At December 31, 2023 2023512 A31H 236,405,568 1,182 7,589 467,769,493 (6,816,327)
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A5 A B R I AR

27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 27 BARKRMDRE @
(Continued)

Share Share Share Treasury

Number of capital capital premium stock

shares usb RMB RMB RMB

LN LN R4 E EFR

RGEE Ey ARM ARM ARM

At December 31, 2023 ®2023F12A31H 236,405,568 1,182 7,589 467,769,493 (6,816,327)
Cancellation of ordinary shares 72024%2H21H

on February 21, 2024 (d) T E AR (d) (610,000) (3) (20)  (6,816,307) 6,816,327

Dividends declared SRR E = — — (101,151,205) —

At December 31, 2024 M2024F12H31H 235,795,568 1,179 7,569 359,801,981 =

(a)

On January 16, 2023, the shareholders of the Company
resolved to conduct a share split (the “Share Split”) on a
one-for-two basis, and the nominal value of the Shares
will be changed from USD0.00001 each to USD0.000005
each. Immediately after such Share Split, the issued share
capital of the Company is 206,185,568 shares of
US$0.000005 each.

On January 16, 2023, the Company was listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
with the global offering with a par value of ordinary
share of USD0.000005 each of the Company including, a
public offering to Hong Kong and overseas investors of
24,395,500 shares, in each case at a price of HKD19.32
per Share.

On February 5, 2023, pursuant to the partial exercise of
the over-allotment option by the joint international
underwriters of the initial public offering, the Company
issued an additional 6,080,000 shares with a par value of
ordinary share of USD0.000005 each of the Company at
the offer price of HKD19.32 per Share.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
repurchased 865,500 outstanding ordinary shares with a
total consideration of RMB12,012,000, among which
255,500 shares with a total consideration of
RMB5,196,000 were cancelled on August 31, 2023, and
610,000 shares with a total consideration of
RMB6,816,000 were cancelled on February 21, 2024.

R2023F 17168 » AARIREZHRIE
—HZEEETRO DB (RH D
Z]) - Bty EE K B S 8%0.00001%E T
B E AEM%0.0000053% 7T ° BEEZED
DEE ARAMEBEITRAS
206,185,5681% & [i% [ {£0.000005 3% 7T
HIRE (D o

MN2023FE1 8168 » AR A UER
19.R2FBTHNEREREEARARAFR
E1H0.000005%k LM EBAR (BERE
& KRB INME B E A FEE 24,395,5000%
) EEEBERZAERARE
R e

72023F2 858 ARalABERXAH
BEMEEEERRHEEI T EERER
e iR s EEFNR10.32 8 RN g
776,080,000 /% & % [ {£0.000005 3 7T
K E R o

HZE2023F 128318 IEFE - AQF]
B H£ 865,500 R BTN E B AR - 48
HEAARK12,012,0005T @ &P
255,500 Hm (BEHEBEARARE
5,196,0007T) B 7 2023F 8 A31H =t
4 - LAK610,0000% /%10 (B EAAR
#6,816,0007T) R2024%F 2 A21H 7

19
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28 OTHER RESERVES 28 Hfitbf#
Other
Comprehensive Capital
income reserve Total
Hfh2m|
g ¥ #aE
At January 1, 2023 A2023F181H (118) 2,216 2,098
Other comprehensive income Hh 2wl s 27,171 — 27,171
Share-based payment expenses LARS 9 32 A B9 1 3%
X — 10,823 10,823
Transactions with non-controlling — E& JE$2 AR #E 25 £Y
interests (i) Z 5 () — (17,098) (17,098)
At December 31, 2023 A2023F12H31H 27,053 (4,059) 22,994
Other
Comprehensive Capital
income reserve Total
Hi2m|
g BRGEE Mt
At January 1, 2024 H2024F181H 27,053 (4,059) 22,994
Other comprehensive income HEf2mEks 9,880 — 9,880
Share-based payment expenses VAR 9 32 15 9 3R
553 = (541) (541)
Transactions with non-controlling ~ E2FF3% A 25
interests (i) 2 5 (i) = 6,092 6,092
At December 31, 2024 7#2024%F12831H 36,933 1,492 38,425
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R B S AR A R

OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) 28 Hitbf#E
(i) Transactions with non-controlling interests () EHAFEZERERMNIS

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARET T
(a) (b)
(a) (b)
Consideration received from/(paid to) Y,/ (B 1) FE4ERL AR &)
the non-controlling shareholders R 7,540 (15,739)
Carrying amount of non-controlling  JEIZERRAEZAREE
interests (1,448) (1,359)
Excess of consideration of RS TR B IEIE A%
non-controlling interests mEEBLIHS
received recognised in equity 6,092 (17,098)
(@) In 2024, the transaction with non-controlling (@) FR2024%F - HAFEIERERZH
interests comprised: BIE
2024
20245
RMB’000
ARET T
Transfer of equity interests of Shanghai Ranyou [FIFEIERRAR SR E % /BB ELEE
Business Management Co., Ltd. and Yanyi BERAG R (LE)BER
(Shanghai) Industrial Co., Ltd. to the non- PR A B A (BT =E))
controlling shareholders (Note (i)) 7,093
Others Hb (1,001)

6,092
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A7 A B R T AR

28 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) (Continued)

(i)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(a

(Continued)

)

In 2024, Shanghai Ranyou Business
Management Co., Ltd. and Yanyi (Shanghai)
Industrial Co., Ltd., two subsidiaries of
Shanghai Beauty Farm, transferred the equity
interests of several subsidiaries to registered
practitioners under share awards given by the
Group’s subsidiaries, with the considerations
amounting to RMB10,255,000. The change
of reserves of RMB7,093,000 represented the
difference between the amount of
consideration and the relevant disposed
identified net assets. The effect on the equity
attributable to the owners of Shanghai
Beauty Farm during the vyear ended

28 EHifRE
() HIFERERNRS E)

R2024F - I EEXEERAE
MRWE QR EEHBER
HXEBRHRAF KR (L
B EEBRARREESE
B Y B A RIR LA AR 1 82
BmaEfitEaEEsT
MEBARARE HEAR
AR #10,255,0007T ° £
g AR % 7,093,000
BHESEEBAHEELE
BHAEEFAEZANE
%o H 22024512831 H
HFE FEEERRE
EAEEEZO 2R

December 31, 2024 is summarized as W
follows:
2024
20244
RMB’'000
AR%ET R
Consideration received from the BT IR R R B
non-controlling shareholder 10,255
Less: Carrying amount of B IR R EREE
non-controlling interests (3,162)
Excess of consideration of non-controlling AEEFE R E U FEIE AR A5 B
interests received recognised in equity 8 & 7,093
In 2023, the transaction with non-controlling (b)  FR2023%F - HAFFIERERHIZ S
interests comprised: BIE
2023
2023%F
RMB’000
ARBTT
Purchase of 10% of equity interest of Beijing B3R REEL R B R FmE
Palaispa Business Management Co., LTD. ERAR AT 10% I (FFFEx))
from non-controlling shareholders (Note (i)) (16,286)
Others Hh (812)

(17,098)
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28 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) (Continued)

(

)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(i)

In June 2023, Shanghai Beauty Farm
purchased additional 10% of equity interests
of Beijing Palaispa Business Management Co.,
Ltd. from non-controlling shareholders at a
consideration of RMB15,158,000. After this
transaction, Shanghai Beauty Farm owned
95.90% equity interest of Beijing Palaispa
Business Management Co., Ltd. The change
of reserves amounted to RMB16,286,000
represented the difference between the
amount of consideration and the relevant
acquired identified net liabilities from
non-controlling shareholder. The effect on the
equity attributable to the owners of Shanghai

28

HibEE @

A5 A B R I AR

(i) EIMEBEDENR S (@)

(b)

(%)
(i)

2023468 LEERE
HEEIEERRREBEEL
FERGEHEEEERA
TIRIEEINO% IR 1E - (8
B ARE15,158,0007T °
ZRP% EBEBEHE
BHEILRERGEBEER
AR A F95.90% IR #E o 4
5% & AR 16,286,000
TIEHESEEARE IR
f% A% 3RO 4B B B B B &
FEEFE HANESE-
HZE2023F12 831814
E-EEEBHE®ABA

Beauty Farm for the year ended R BRI
December 31, 2023 is summarised as
follows:
2023
20234
RMB’000
ARBFT
Consideration paid to the non-controlling 2/~ FE4E A% A& SR & (B
shareholder (15,158)
Carrying amount of non-controlling FEERE R REE
interests (1,128)
Excess of consideration of non-controlling — RAEZSFE R Uk SE1E AR #E 25
interests received recognised in equity HEBLIHS (16,286)

223
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29 BORROWINGS 29 f&™
As at December 31,
R12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTT

Current e

Bank loan — secured HITER — BER 19,836 —

Non-current ERE

Bank loan — secured RITER — AER 129,938 —

Total st 149,774 —

In April 2024, the Group signed a merger and acquisition loan MR20245F4 7 - AEEEBEERITEIEER

contract with China Merchants Bank. The total amount of the HEH  ERBTEA/ARY210,000,0007T

loan is RMB210,000,000 with variable interest rate, of which GZERIR) » B E2024512A318 » Ed A

RMB157,500,000 were drawn down and RMB7,875,000 were R ®157,500,000c 2 AR ¥

repaid as of December 31, 2024. On January 2, 2025, the 7,875,000 TEfEIE - 202551 A28 - K%

Group drew down the loan of RMB52,500,000. As the date of ITEHX%\ XA R #52,500,0007C ° B EARE

this report, the loan was fully drawn down. HE ERE 2R -

The loan is guaranteed by Guangzhou Beauty Farm Healthy EFBAAQRNB AR EMNERBRRERH

Research Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company and pledged RAERAFER - WD R AREBREIMNZE

by 100% and 70% of Group’s equity interests in Guangzhou BEHEREARBERATREMNSIKZIEE

Beauty Farm Healthy Research Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou EIRHMRNAF]H100% K% 70% I AELG I -

Naturade Health Management Co., Ltd., respectively.

Under the terms of the bank loan, which has a carrying RIEREE R ARK 149,774 OOOTEE’JfEﬁ%

amount of RMB149,774,000, the Group is required to comply MG ANEBEBETFATY S A

with the following financial covenant:

. The ratio of interest-bearing liabilities less cash and cash . MEBERBERANERSEAREE
equivalents and financial assets at FVPL divided by “@J@JJ\TE &2 @ B & BB DAK A
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and B BIE - EREHNABSR X
amortization, shall not exceed 400%. T5EE8400% °

The Group has complied with the covenant throughout the AEERHERR —EETZEZA - WEP

reporting period. There are no indications that the Group REBTAEE G DB TZ R -

would have difficulties complying with the covenant when it will
be tested.
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29 BORROWINGS (cContinued)

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Group’s

borrowings were repayables as follows:

29 R

M2024F12A31H K2023F12A31H * &

SENEEEERET

As at December 31,

M12HA31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
Within 1 year 1A 19,836 —
Between 1 and 2 years 15226 23,625 —
Between 2 and 5 years 2E54F 70,875 —
Over 5 years 5 A F 35,438 —
149,774 —
30 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 30 HtREBEE
As at December 31,
®12H318
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETF T
VAT recognised in relation to the contract BLA X B ERERAILER
liabilities 121,745 95,545
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31 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 31 ESRHMBEAREURETE
ACCRUALS A
As at December 31,
MW12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTT
Trade payables B 5 RIE
— Third parties — =5 29,886 21,421
Other payables and accruals HtENREREFER
Employee benefits payables (a) fEfHB T8 F(a) 149,573 119,253
Payables for purchasing of property, BEWE MERZEEN
plant and equipment FRIE 7,400 33,544
Acquisition payable JFEE AT LT B 3K
— Amount due to a related party — FETREENS 75 IR
(Note 34(c)) (BFFEE34(c)) 87,500 —
— Others — HAt 990 —
Amount due to a related party JE 1< BA BEE 5 5RIB
— Others (Note 34(c)) — H A (M13E34(c) 37 —
Franchisee deposits MEMZES 24,591 21,887
Accrual expenses JEETRX 17,855 13,496
Taxes payables JE A 18 12,901 11,192
Listing expenses payable JERT E RS = 963
Dividend payable JE AT AR 2 358 —
Others Hib 24,321 24,327
Total other payables and accruals o fth fE AT 008 KR FESHE A
“aFE 325,526 224,662

Trade payables are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
The Group's trade payables mainly include payments for
finished goods. The credit term for finished goods is usually

within 30 days.

B HEMNFIABEARRBIKI0A AN - K
SENESENFATEBREKMMNR -
HAMNEERNBRTERI0BA -
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31 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 31
ACCRUALS (continued)

The aging analysis of trade payables as at December 31, 2024
and 2023 based on invoice date was follows:

ARG s

e 2% B 5

ESREMESFEURETE
A
HR2024F K% 2023F 12 A31 B E ZENFIE
RIFHZRBMERRSTIT

As at December 31,
MW12B31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARTR ARBEFT
Within 1 year 1F R 25,898 19,758
1-2 years 1822%F 1,810 506
Over 2 years FRIA2F 2,178 1,157
29,886 21,421
(@) Employee benefits payables (@) ERNEIEH
The employee benefits payables represented payables for JET B TR A 520244 202312 A
employee salaries for December 2024 and 2023, and WEIHSHNENFIBAREALREE
accrual for bonuses and social welfare benefits. NS ESER -
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and HBRNE 5 REMERNRIBUARETER
accruals are considered to approximate their fair values BREEME  AREEHEERSEALE
due to their short-term nature. BEE -
32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 32 EERBM
As at December 31,
M12831H
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFT
Deferred income tax assets REFREME E 41,671 42,114
Deferred income tax liabilities RLEFBHAE (71,963) (21,984)
(30,292) 20,130
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32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The analysis of deferred income tax assets & liabilities is as

follows:

32 EEFTEH o
BIEFEHAEREHOSHTMT -

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETF T
Deferred income tax assets to be recovered 7 121E A 1% U B &9 I i
after more than 12 months gt & E 108,111 115,935
Deferred income tax assets to be recovered K 121@ A AUk B #Y I E
within 12 months gt & E 33,149 23,736
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTSREE 141,260 139,671
Net-off of deferred income tax liabilities BEEEMEREE (99,589) (97,557)
Net deferred tax assets RIERIBEEFE 41,671 42,114
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREET T ARETF T
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled A 121E 5 & ;5 ERIEIT
after more than 12 months EMas 131,295 99,292
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled A 121E 5 A5 (&K IEIT
within 12 months Fristiat’ 40,257 20,249
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEMSHatE 171,552 119,541
Net-off of deferred income tax assets HHBELEMEREE (99,589) (97,557)
Net deferred tax liabilities EIERBEEFE 71,963 21,984
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32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as
follows:

32 EEREH @
RIS BRE HBBFENT

As at December 31,

MW12B31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARTR ARBFTT
At beginning of the year REF A 20,130 35,518
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uiz B B 8 A &) (21,250) —
Charged to income tax expense MR AMEHAX (29,172) (15,388)
At end of the year RER (30,292) 20,130

The gross movements in deferred income tax assets and

FRAEEMEREERBEEMEHAENE

deferred income tax liabilities during the year are as follows: EFEEER N
(1) Deferred income tax assets: (1) BEEFRSMEE:
Allowance
Accumulated  Unrealised Lease on doubtful  Allowance Accrued
tax losses profit liabilities debts on inventory expenses Total
RABEFE ARERFE HESR RERE FERE A% st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTR ARETT ARSBTT ARETT ARETR
At January 1, 2023 202351818 12,647 7,476 112,736 1,470 1,911 1,823 138,063
(Charged)/credited to the (0B E)/FHARE
profit or loss (362) (2,864) 3,199 492 147 996 1,608
At December 31, 2023 R2023%12A318 12,285 4,612 115,935 1,962 2,058 2,819 139,671
Acquisition of subsidiaries WiE—HEHE AR 18,415 37 19,663 — — — 38,449
(Charged)/credited to the (0B AE)/FABE
profit or loss (7,642) (339) (27,487) (1,324) (206) 138 (36,860)
At December 31, 2024 #2024F 124318 23,058 4,644 108,111 638 1,852 2,957 141,260
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32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(2)

Deferred income tax liabilities:

32 JEEEFTEH @)

(2) BEMFHEE:

Depreciation PRC
of property, withholding
plant and Right-of-use income tax Intangible

equipment assets (a) Asset Total

mE - BER HERM
RENTE KAKEE  FEHG) BREE #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
At January 1, 2023 202351718 8,647 93,898 - - 102,545
Charged to profit or loss MrEES 8,337 3,659 5,000 - 16,996
At December 31, 2023 #2023 12A318 16,984 97,557 5,000 — 119,541
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-AHERR 857 18,867 - 39,975 59,699

Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss 318 H,/ (3t A)

B 3,446 (16,836) 5,860 (158) (7,688)
At December 31, 2024 K2024F12A318 21,287 99,588 10,860 39,817 171,552

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax
losses could be carried forward for a period of five years
to offset against its future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets relating to unutilised tax losses are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be
utilised.

(@  PRC withholding income tax

As at December 31, 2024, deferred income tax
liabilities of RMB5,860,000 (December 31, 2023:
RMB5,000,000) have been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable upon
remittance, in respect of a portion of the
unremitted distributable profits of certain PRC
subsidiaries attributable to the investors outside
PRC.

RBHRBIER AR - BIAE R &S
TERBREERKERRANE - HEH
ARERUNBARELHBAEED

A

AIERAN AP AR AR RNET

MIREE

HEIEMMEH

MR2024F 128318 KEEE
HRBEEIIMNEEEREE THEH
B /a8 X B 5B oK B 1 P 4 5 BE R
A 1E D& () B B S A5 O TR D B RE R
EXEFTIS BB AR #5,860,000
g (2023F 128318 : AR
5,000,0007T) °
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33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 33 REREEH
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a) PBRATGEHAIFMEELEMAER2
generated from operations HY ¥ BR

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFT
Profit before income tax W PfT 15 350 A1 A 317,883 288,269
Adjustments for: HUATHIBEELFE
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ % - #23 N R BT E
equipment (Note 15) (PfF5E15) 116,369 101,231
Depreciation of investment properties & & W E (HiE16)
(Note 16) 3,390 3,390
Amortisation of intangible assets M EEEN(ME18)
(Note 18) 26,688 16,745
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ERREENE (WT17)
(Note 17) 236,130 210,370
Provision for loss allowance on trade B 5 & £ i jig U 7k 18 5518
and other receivables (Note 25) R (FF5E25) 3,021 796
Provision of impairment on GFERERME (HiE24)
inventory (Note 24) 361 2,647
Loss on disposal of property, plant MEWZE - EREREN
and equipment (Note 8) &8 (fi3E8) 5,918 1,008
Gains on early termination of lease  RF&ILAEA BB
contracts (Note 8) (FF3E8) (384) —
Finance costs (Note 11) B A A (BT sE11) 27,556 24,811
Share-based compensation (Note 10)  LAR% {9 Sz < #9 3R BM
(M$3E10) (384) 10,900
Net fair value gains on financial BAREEFABRNSE
assets at FVPL (Note 8) BEAAEENRFE
(M43E8) (20,928) (23,847)
Interest income arising from term 46 5 ERE E = 18 F 19 7E HA
deposits with initial terms of R E £ RN B WA
over three months (20,175) (17,543)
Share of loss of an associate FE(REEE AR EE = 51
Provision for impairment of REEE R BIRE 2R ERE
investments in associates 249 —
Losses on disposal of the BN B AR EE
subsidiaries (Note 8) (P 3E8) 1,158 —
Operating profit before working LEEESEHNLE N
capital changes 696,852 618,828
Changes in working capital: HEESEY
Restricted cash ZREIRE (17,998) (167)
Inventories "rE 56,302 (47,948)
Trade receivables, other receivables E 5 EWRIE - E M E U
and prepayments RIE R FEF KA 62,843 (24,684)
Contract liabilities EHEE 50,826 61,908
Trade payables, other payables and & 5B A - HE M ERS
accruals HIERETER (9,741) 45,762
Net cash generated from REEES SR FE

operations activities 839,084 653,699
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33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

Major non-cash financing activities

(b)

(@

33 REREER W
TEFREGRELTH

(b)

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31MBLELEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T AREFIT
Addition of right-of-use assets ERBEERE 164,868 244,882
164,868 244,882
Net debt reconciliation (o) EBRFHLEE
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARE T AREET T
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBReEEY 26 456,158 224,277
Term deposits with initial ik AR R = 18 A &Y
terms of over three months FHEFER 26 463,557 384,929
Borrowing & 29 (149,774) —
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 17 (580,818) (563,120)
Dividend payable FERT AR B 31 (358) —
Net debt [E 188,765 46,086
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33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 33 REREEH™W
() Net debt reconciliation (Continued) (0 BB FHELERE
Liabilities from financing activities Other assets
RETHELENEE HiEE
Term deposits
Cash and  with initial
Dividend cash terms of over
Leases payable Borrowings  equivalents three months Total
NBRIMEB
HeRBELE ZEANEH
HE ER&RE R & EE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Net debt as at January 1, 2023 R0BE1A1BNERTE (525,502) - - 164,120 119,646 (241,736)
Cash flows ReR=E 232,075 86,999 — 48,066 235,277 602,417
Exchange (loss)/gains EH (&8), W — (686) - 12,091 11,397 22,802
New leases nHE (244,882) — — — — (244,882)
Dividends declared BERKE — (86,313) — — — (86,313)
Finance costs recognised BB BEAAR (24,811) — - - - (24,811)
Other non-cash movements HinER 229 — — — — 17,543 17,543
Others Hit - — — — 1,066 1,066
Net debt as at December 31, 2023 R2023FE12A31BNERFE (563,120) — — 224,277 384,929 46,086
Cash flows Reng 265,555 112,492 (146,744) 232,413 53,090 516,806
Exchange gains/(loss) B 5 Wizt (81) = 700 = (532) 5,363 5,531
New leases FiiRiho (164,868) - - - - (164,868)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) Un B 8 2 &) (M 3E36) (100,888) — — — — (100,888)
Dividends declared BERKE = (113,550) - - - (113,550)
Finance costs recognised SR N (24,526) - (3,030) - - (27,556)
Other non-cash movements HitERe2d = = = - 20,175 20,175
Termination of lease contracts (Note 17) RIEBEAH(MF17) 7,029 - - - — 7,029
Net debt as at December 31, 2024 R2024F12831BNERFE (580,818) (358) (149,774) 456,158 463,557 188,765
——
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEEARS

34

(a)

Related parties of the Group during the Year

Name of related parties

RS &M

(a)

Relationship
B &

REBRF AR REHE

Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell Anti-aging Hospital Co., Ltd.
BRI RARRREERREBRAF
Sichuan LAN Youyou Technology Co., LTD

7O )11 738 i ) R B PR R B

Naturade Health Technology Company Limited

Rin RRRHMEERAR

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

FR 458 R A% 3R 42
Associate
B b2

Non-Controlling Shareholder

FEFERR IR

U,
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) 34 BEEA X B (49)

(a) Related parties of the Group during the Year () AEERFAMBEEA @)
(Continued)
The following is a summary of the significant transactions LWTAAREBRFANEE@E A EAT
carried out between the Group and its related parties in XGEARPETHEARINOME - N
the ordinary course of business during the Year, and RREEEAEBE T NER -

balances with related parties as at the respective balance
sheet dates.

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HEBEEE MRS

Year ended December 31,
HE12A3MBLLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREETT
(i) Cooperation fee received/ (i) BT REBBERS
receivables in relation to BB M ER A 1
subhealth medical services &R
Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell R S A=
Anti-aging Hospital Co., Ltd. ZHIRBR AT 36,985 30,475
(i)  Cooperation fee paid/payables (i) HARIEBEEZDREH
in relation to aesthetic medical Bt EREEER
services
Sichuan LAN Youyou VU )| B A 1 B R TR
Technology Co., LTD NGT 2,132 1,503
(i) Rental income (i)  HE2UWA
Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell RS AR =
Anti-aging Hospital Co., Ltd. ZBEBERAA 6,474 6,166
(iv)  Product sales (v, EmiEE
Sichuan LAN Youyou V)| T A 1 e R R TR
Technology Co., LTD NS 1,985 2,461
(v) Rental expenses vy HMefx
Naturade Health Technology RinFREER AR

Company Limited NS 2,242 —
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) 34 BEEA X B (9)
() Balances with related parties (0 EHREEE H &R

As at December 31,

MW12A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Amount due from related parties FEUIEA B 5 7B
Trade 25
Hainan Qiyan Stem Cell Anti-aging VB R RURT 8 4 M 4 3 2 B B
Hospital Co., Ltd. BRAT 4,735 28,272
Sichuan LAN Youyou Technology 9| A 1 R R TR R
Co., LTD — 6,161
Non-trade FEH
Naturade Health Technology I REERHEERAF
Company Limited 4,020 —
8,755 34,433

As at December 31,

R12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR ARBFT
Amount due to a related party BB S KA
Non-trade *EZ
Naturade Health Technology iR RERRERAT
Company Limited 87,537 —
87,537 —
Trade balances due from related companies are R ARINE SHEAEER &
unsecured, interest free and repayable within 90 days. SRR ANEE - B E2024F &
The aging of trade balances due from related parties was 2023F12A318 - ENEBAINE S
within one year as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. REERRECIE —F AN o
Non-trade balances due from a related company are FEMEAEE R R IEE S SR BRI
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of B REETEERS-

repayment.

W,
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 34 EBBEEA R Z (@)
() Balances with related parties (Continued) (0 EAREEE HHAERR (8)
As of the date of this report, non-trade balances due to HEAREAR BN 28853
a related party amounting to RMB87,500,000 (Note 31) 2 5 % AR #87,500,0007T (B 5F
has been settled in full. 3EEEEE -
35 COMMITMENTS 35 &iE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BAAHEHE
Significant capital expenditure commitments are set out BEREARAZAEHNDOT
below:
As at December 31,
MW12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARET T
Contracted but not provided for: A TIEBEERTH
BRETIRB R
Property, plant and equipment LE 1Y & 3,951 10,419
(b)  Non-cancellable short-term operating leases (b) TEHEEMGEHLEHEE
As at December 31,
®12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AREET T
Less than 1 year 1FR 7,870 6,270
36 BUSINESS COMBINATION 36 XBEH
(a) Summary of acquisition (@) WHEFEHME

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024,
the Group acquired business from third parties to enlarge
the Group’s market share in the industry.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group
completed the acquisition of 70% equity interest in
Naturade Group for a total consideration of RMB350
million and the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Lan
Youyou, Narcisse and Yangongfang for a total
consideration of RMB35 million.

H E20239F %2024 128318 1L 4F
B AEEAE=ZFWBER  UEX
REBRERNN IS0

HE2024F 128318 ILFE AEE
SR BRI TEBT70% MARAE - Ay
BAARMIS0OEE T - BT WER
W KA R T T 100% A% 4 - 4B AR
EAARKEISHET -
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Summary of acquisition (Continued)

36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Details of the purchase consideration, the net liabilities
acquired and goodwill are as follows:

36 ¥4 6t@
(a) WHEF=EHE @

BEYHE CUBREFERBENF

BT

As at December 31,

®R12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBFT
Purchase consideration BEHE (2T X)) :
(refer to (b) below):
Cash paid BB
— Naturade Group — =R EE 350,000 —
— Lan Youyou — B 22,311 —
— Yangongfang — IR 8,000 —
— Narcisse — KAl 5,000 —
— An xiang — LM = 7,000
— Pinwei lady — mRZ A = 3,800
Total purchase consideration BEYEEE 385,311 10,800

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the

acquisition are as follows:

AEEHERNEERBENT

Naturade Lan

2024 20245 Group Youyou Narcisse Yangongfang Total
REAEE Tl KAl HIE @5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR%¥TxR AR®TT ARBTRT AR¥Tx:

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBReZEY 51,287 — — 191 51,478
Trade receivables Z 5N IE 2,202 — — 1,081 3,283
Inventories FE 20,530 370 — — 20,900
Property, plant and equipment ¥ - K2 L& H 45,505 2,977 — 2,194 50,676
Other receivables H i fEMGE 71,449 273 10 — 71,732
Right-of-use assets HREEE 97,563 — — — 97,563
Intangible assets EWEE 255,044 20,500 4,990 5,800 286,334
Deferred income tax assets EEMEHEE 19,582 — — — 19,582
Contract liabilities BHEE (389,668) (28,884) (8,003) (9,350) (435,905)
Trade Payables B HRNFIE (5,405) (481) (3,172) — (9,058)
Other current liabilities HinRea R (23,380) (5,146) = — (28,526)
Other payables HifERFIE (52,226) — — — (52,226)
Lease liabilities HEAE (100,888) — — — (100,888)
Deferred income tax liabilities LREMEHERE (40,832) = = — (40,832)
Net identifiable assets acquired ~— BUEE A5 E EF(E (49,237) (10,391) (6,175) (84) (65,887)
Less: non-controlling interests B IR R 14,771 = = = 14,771
Add: goodwill m:Ee 384,466 32,702 11,175 8,084 436,427
Net assets acquired BREEEFE 350,000 22,311 5,000 8,000 385,311
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36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

36 (a6

(a)

Summary of acquisition (Continued)

(a)

WEESEME (@

2023 20234 An xiang Pinwei lady Total
% i mRZ A st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents HehkAEEEY 1,581 203 1,784
Other receivables H b FE IR 102 — 102
Property, plant and equipment — #7% - #3232 &1 709 — 709
Intangible assets — customer BVEE — BEFPBR
relationship 7,000 3,800 10,800
Contract liabilities — service aREE — RHB (16,723) (5,764) (22,487)
Other current liabilities HEtmEaE (1,003) (346) (1,349)
Net identifiable assets acquired B UXEE ] #BIE &E FE (8,334) (2,107) (10,441)
Add: goodwill o 15,334 5,907 21,241
Net assets acquired BB EEFE 7,000 3,800 10,800

Purchase consideration — cash outflow

The goodwill of approximately RMB436,428,000 arising
from the acquisition for the year 2024 is attributable to
the synergy of business expansion through Naturade
Group and respective cities. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purpose.

Naturade Group, Sichuan Lan Youyou Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Lan Youyou”), Beijing Narcisse Beauty Management
Co., Ltd. (“Narcisse”) and Hangzhou Yangongfang Beauty
Co., Ltd. ("Yangongfang”) contributed revenue of
RMB310,267,000 and net profit of RMB20,852,000 to the
Group for the year 2024. If the acquisition had occurred
on January 1, 2024, consolidated pro-forma revenue and
net profit for the year 2024 of the Group would have
been RMB2,835,612,000 and RMB263,188,000
respectively.

The goodwill of approximately RMB21,241,000 arising
from the acquisition for the year 2023 is attributable to
the synergy of business expansion within two cities. None
of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible
for income tax purpose.

(b)

BEHE — Rent

04F RNEEEELERENARE
436,428,0007T * FAR R R EE &
BRAM T AEBIETORRRE - B
BMEEEREE ] BEIRAMER -

RisRE®E - M) BHEEHEFR AR
(TEr]) ~ SRR EEZRERE
R (KW RmMMNATEERER
AEI(HIE]D AEBEERBAARKE
310,267,000t R A B F AR
20,852,0007T ° fir] 2 B = TEHA 2024 1
B1BEE  REER2024F R AH
ZWARFNEES A ABARKE
2,835,612,0007T & A R #263,188,000
5T e

2023 FNEBEHELEFEOARE
21,241,0007T * 5 B 7A f BB 3 T R 2E 75
BRI EBE - EPRHECHERPE
A AR ET S8 o
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36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(b)

Purchase consideration — cash outflow
(Continued)

Changsha An xiang Health Management Service Co., Ltd.
(“"An xiang”) and Wuhan Pinwei Lady Health
Management Service Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Pinwei lady”)
contributed revenue of RMB8,460,000 and net loss of
RMB770,000 to the Group for the year 2023. If the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2023,
consolidated pro-forma revenue and net profit for the
year 2023 of the Group would have been
RMB2,150,639,000 and RMB229,772,000 respectively.

A5 A B R I AR

36 ¥4 6t@

(b)

BEUE — Ranh @

EPTHEREERBERAA (L
WD RRZERKZARREERRBEES
ERAR(RWKZADR2023F AR
& B ' B U A AR #8,460,0007T & JF
BB A R 770,0007T © fif Uy 1% = 8 7
2023F1 A1 HE A - REER2023F
MRS HEZERARERNFFBES A
AR #2,150,639,0007T & A R #
229,772,000 ©

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFTT
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WK B A RIMEESRE
net of cash acquired MBREkER:

Cash consideration REEE 385,311 10,800
Less: Cash balances acquired W BEWER &% (51,478) (1,784)

Less: Consideration unpaid as of W BEFREAZNEE
the end of the year (88,490) —
Less: Consideration paid in prior year & @ ZF X R H(E — (1,520)

Net outflow of cash — investing REMLFE — REEH

activities

245,343 7,496

W,
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37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

37 EEREARESR

Directors’ emoluments (a) ==EMs
Remuneration of every director and the chief executive H E2024F K2023F 128318 1L F
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 B BRESER&ESTHAENF
was as follows: D
Other social
Employer's security costs,
contribution housing
to a benefits and
retirement other  Share-based
Discretionary benefit employee compensation
Name of Directors ESpE Salary Fees Bonus scheme benefits expenses Total
Hit &
REERA
EXHERK GERAR URGXA
e e MERAL BATHER HUBIREN HHEMEX @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%Tn AR¥Tz AR¥TR ARBTRT AR%Tn AR%Tx
For the year ended BZ2024F12A831A
December 31, 2024 tEE
Chairman and Executive EEREUTEES:
director:
Mr. Li Yang e 369 - 140 19 9 — 537
Chief Executive Officer EREHTERUT
and Executive s
director:
Mr. Lian Songyong B R AE 943 = 994 76 74 15 2,102
Non-executive Directors: FHTEE:
Ms. Li Fangyu il ) 559 - - 2 13 — 598
Mr. Geng Jiagi¥ PEBETED = = = = = = =
Mr. Hu Tenghe!” il Pt = = = = = = =
Independent Non- BYFHTES:
executive Directors:
Mr. Fan Mingchao? RHBEED = 200 = = = — 200
Mr. Jiang Hua? TELE = 200 = = = = 200
Mr. Liu Teng? e = 182 = = = — 182
1,871 582 1,134 121 96 15 3,819
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

A5 A B R I AR

37 EEEANRER®

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM® (H)
Other social
Employer's  security costs,
contribution housing
toa  benefits and
retirement other  Share-based
Discretionary benefit employee  compensation
Name of Directors Espng Salary Fees Bonus scheme benefits expenses Total
Hititg
RBHA -
EXmER  GEEARER  HMRGXHA
e e WL BRGEME EHEIREAN  HBRHEX st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
For the year ended HZE2023F12A318
December 31, 2023 LEE
Chairman and Executive TERUTES:
director:
Mr. Li Yang o 379 — 140 — — — 519
Chief Executive Officer EEHTERUT
and Executive 3
director:
Mr. Lian Songyong BIKEE 1,010 — 904 68 75 — 2,057
Non-executive Directors: FHTEE:
Ms. Li Fangyu FHRRT 66 — — 13 13 — 92
Mr. Geng Jiagi® BEmEED — — — — — — —
Mr. Zhai Feng® BELED - - - - - - -
Independent Non- BYFHITES:
executive Directors
Mr. Fan Mingchao® SBHBELE — 203 — — — — 203
Mr. Jiang Hua® TERED — 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Liu Teng? Bl — 173 — — — — 173
1,455 576 1,044 81 88 — 3,244

(1

Mr. Geng Jiagi and Mr. Hu Tenghe are non-executive

directors and have no employment relationship with the
Group. Therefore they do not receive any emoluments
from the Group during the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023.

(2)

Mr. Fan Mingchao, Mr. Jiang Hua and Mr. Liu Teng are

independent non-executive directors and have no
employment relationship with the Group. Therefore they
only receive director’s fees as emoluments from the Group
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

M EH A RIABE R AERTE
FOHAASETELHER Bt
B E R E2024F %2023F12 A31
B 1EFE 00 48 B AN B AT Bl -

BHMBAE  TEEEREIBALESR
BYIFRITES - EARKEWESE)
R Blt BEREE2024F &
2023F12ANALFEEEAEE

WEBREZHRSERME -

W,
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A7 A B R T AR

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office or no
directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ retirement and termination benefits

There were no retirement and termination benefits paid
to any director during the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
no consideration to third parties for making available
director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

No loans, quasi-loans or other dealings were entered into
by the Group in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such directors
during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those disclosed in Note 34, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 or at any time during the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

37 EESEARERZ®

(a)

E5M (@

H E20249F K2023%F12A318 1L F
o AfREYERAESIHEAEE
YER DA SKIE I A A S5 B 85 /) 2B 3k 1
BERAE TEESREXRERE
R -

EERRINMEERER

H E2024F %2023F12A318 1L 4F
B BERENES I TRARBERE
F o

MEREEERBMAIE =T
T E
B 220249 N2023%F12A31H It F
B HEREREEEREMAE=F
IREHEIE -

EF%M%% EEEFIHEAR
&ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ%ﬁ%*ﬂ/\mf
CEERHEMBR HEHE R

H E20249F K%2023%F12A318 1L F
E o AEBMEIINES  E2EH
KA A B 88 I KB aﬁzﬁx SABE
o EERREMZ

FERRS  BHRANNEIA
2
BRMRE34PTIREE &SN - NARIBLEAT L

WMALEERER MARAESHE
SEEREFHEEENER + A1R2024
F%2023F 12 B31 B E2024F K
2023F12A31 B EFEMEMFEF
BHNEARS  THRED -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Registered Shareholders, Shanghai Beauty Farm and the
Medical Institutions have entered into exclusive operation
services agreements with Shanghai Liernuo on June 13, 2022.
In 2024, Registered Shareholders, Naturade Group and the
Medical Institutions have entered into exclusive operation
services agreements with Shanghai Liernuo on July 1, 2024
(together as the "Exclusive Operation Services Agreement”),
pursuant to which, the Medical Institutions, Registered
Shareholders, Shanghai Beauty Farm and Naturade Group
agreed to engage Shanghai Liernuo as their exclusive provider
of technical support, consulting services and other services in
exchange for a service fee. Further details of the Contractual
Arrangements are set out in Note 2.1.4.

The Company held direct or indirect equity interests in the
following subsidiaries.

38

A5 A B R I AR

B RFE

ERBRE LEEERAEREREREDRN
20226 13 HE IBERAR LEZKESER
ek - R2024F BERBRE - =HAEE
MEBERER2024F7R1RE FBEBEME]
UEFKELEREHE (BB BERELRBER
) UL BERE - BRRE - LEXERE
HEERGAEERERR LBERB AR
BRI - RS REMRGHER
N ERFE - &N LTHNE—LFBHRN
BaE2.1.4 -

ARREEFEEFE ATHEB A R AR -

Effective interest held

FRERER
As at December 31,
Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 128318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
NEER ERMAY/RUFERR S 2R/ ERATREHEL 20245 03%F FEEBREEBY
(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fr MAREH
BIERFER)

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Cayman Islands, limited liability UsD50 — 100% 100%  Holding company in Cayman

Industry Inc. company Islands
FERERERRESARAR REHS ARLA 50X - 100% 100% HERAF) FHEHS
Directly hold:
E&RE:
Beauty Farm Medical and Health Hong Kong, China,limited HKD10 — 100% 100%  Products sales in Hong Kong

Industry Limited liability company
Beauty Farm Medical and Health HEEE  ARAA 1087 - 100% 100% REFENERHE

Industry Limited
Aiyumei (Shanghai) Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 3,800 — 100% 100%  Holding company in the PRC

Management Co., Ltd.
LEX(LB) FERERAA AR BRAF 3,800 - 100% 100%  BRAF - READ
Shanghai Beauty Farm Medical PRC, limited liability company 102,041 102,041 100% 100%  Management company in the

Healthcare Industry Co., Ltd. PRC
PEXERERRREEZERAR  HEAMNM ARAA 102,041 102,041 100% 100%  BEAF RERKG
Beautyfarm Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, China, limited 12,204 12,204 100% 100%  Holding company in Hong Kong

liability company

FEMEERBRAT PEEE  ERAT 12,04 12,204 100% 100%  BRAFEE
Beijing Beauty Farm Beauty Technology  PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 93% 95%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
HRXEREXSHMRARAT AR BRAF 2,000 2,000 93% 95%  RRERREXENRERSE
Beijing Beauty Farm Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 93% 95%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Management Consulting Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
IREBRECRXERANERAR  PEAY ARLA 2,000 2,000 93% 95%  RRERREXENRERSE
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38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 KB BFHE @

Effective interest held

FEEgRER
As at December 31,
Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 124318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
DRER ERAL/RUFEAR HE 2R/ ERATREHEL 20245 03F  FEXBREEBY
(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fr MARE:
BEREED)
Beijing Limei Farm Beauty Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 69% 72%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
ERBXBRXRERAT MERL BRAR 1,000 1,000 69% %  RPERBREEANRERS
Beijing Limei Farm Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 500 500 69% 72%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Management Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
HRBEXAECRERARLHA REAY BRAA 500 500 69% %  ARERERERENRERSE
Beijing Manshu Enterprise Management  PRC, limited liability company 500 500 80% 82%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
ERERCEERRBARAR MERL BRAR 500 500 80% 8%  RPERGREXSNRERS
Beijing Palaispa Business Management  PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 96% 96%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
HRERFERERAR LA REAY BRAF 10,000 10,000 96% %%  RPEAMRATENRERE
Changchun Zhuoyan Beauty PRC, limited liability company 500 500 67% 66%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Service Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
REERXARBERAF MERL BRAR 500 500 67% 66%  RPERBREXANRERS
Changsha Meili Pastoral Beauty PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 51% 51%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
E)XEMEZAERAT REAY BRAF 2,000 2,000 51% 51%  ARERLRERENRERE
Changsha Yuhua Xiukeer Medical PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 60% 60%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.” services in the PRC
EYRERATREBRERDMH MER BRAR 1,000 1,000 60% 60% REEAMRAERXARE
BRATF
Chengdu Jiahao Beauty Service PRC, limited liability company 500 500 95% 97%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
KAEHERREERLA REA - BRAA 500 500 95% 97%  RRERLRAEANRRERS
Chengdu Meishu Beauty Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 1,000 100 95% 97%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
RBERZAERAF AR BRAR 1,000 100 95% 97% R EARAEZANRERE
Chongging Beauty Farm Beauty PRC, limited liability company 5,600 5,600 88% 90%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Development Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
EEZEMRZARREARLA REA - ARAA 5,600 5,600 88% 90% KA EANLRAEANRRRS
Chongging Liyan Medical Beauty PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 NA 90%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Clinic Co., Ltd." services in the PRC
EREMBRZAMDIERAAY AL ARAF 2,000 2,000 TER 0% REERNBREEEXTRE
Haikou Limei Beauty Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 98% 98%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
BOBEEAERNAA HEIAN - BRAR 1,000 1,000 98% 98%  RAEANMRAEANRRERHS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S AR A R

DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MERAFE@®
Effective interest held
FEERER
As at December 31,
Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 12318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
PEEL: ERMAY/RUFERR #E 2R/ ERATREHEL 20245 03%F FEEBREEBY
(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fro MARB:
BIESFRA)

Hainan Meirui International Medical & ~ PRC, limited liability company 30,000 30,000 100% 100%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Health Industry Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
BEERERBERRELERAT  RERM FRAF 30,000 30,000 100% 100%  RREAREEAMRRERS
Hangzhou Beauty Farm Beauty Co., Ltd.  PRC, limited liability company 1,577 1,577 92% 97%  Provision of beauty and wellness

services in the PRC

MNEBEREERARAA PEAY BRAF 1,577 1577 92% 97%  RPEALRERENRERSR
Hefei Beauty Farm Beauty Service PRC, limited liability company 4,200 3,000 62% 63%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
AEXEEEXARBERAT RERL BRAR 4,200 3,000 62% 63% R ERbREEENRERE
Jinan Xiukeer Medical Beauty PRC, limited liability company 9,000 9,000 59% 54%  Provision of aesthetic medical

Co., Ltd? services in the PRC
BRERREERARAAY PEAY BRAF 9,000 9,000 59% 54%  RPERBRAREERRS
Nanchang Xiukeer Medical Beauty PRC, limited liability company 3,000 3,000 60% 60%  Provision of aesthetic medical

Co., Ltd? services in the PRC
HEANABREIRERATY RERL BRAR 3,000 3,000 60% 60% RPEALRHEEEERRE
Nanning Xiukeer Medical Beauty PRC, limited liability company 750 750 60% 60%  Provision of aesthetic medical

Clinic Co., Ltd.? services in the PRC
HEFURBEEAYFARLTY  PERM - ARAT 750 750 60% 60% RPEALRHEBEIZRE
Ningbo Haishu New Beautiful PRC, limited liability company 500 500 97% 100%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Farm Beauty Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
ERERNZBRRAXTARLA RERL BRAR 500 500 97% 100% R ERbRERSNRERE
Qingdao Tianyuanmeili Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 100 100 96% 100%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Management Service Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
FEARAXBLRERRBERLA  HEAMY FRAA 100 100 96% 100%  APEALRERENRERSR
Sanya Beauty Farm Beauty Service PRC, limited liability company 500 500 51% 51%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
SOXEBEEXARBERAT RER BRAR 500 500 51% 51% R ERbREEENRERSE
Shanghai Beauty Farm Information PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  Consulting Services in the PRC

Consulting Service Co., Ltd.
IEXERRESAARBERLR  fEAM BERARF 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  RAPERBERESERS
Shanghai Lingxiu Business Management ~ PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 96% 96%  Management company in the

Co., Ltd. PRC
LEBABEERERAR RER BRAR 1,000 1,000 96% %% EEAF RENKG
Shanghai Luanmei E-Commerce PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 100% 100%  Provision of E-business in the

Co., Ltd. PRC
TREXETABARAT HEIR - BERAR 2,000 2,000 100% 100% RAERBEEEFESES
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38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 KB BFHE @

Effective interest held

FEEgRER
As at December 31,
Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 124318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
RAER ERAL/RUFEAR HE 2R/ ERATREHEL 20245 03F  FEXBREEBY
(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fr MARE:
BEREED)

Shanghai Meiju Medical Technology PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  Products sales in the PRC

Development Co., Ltd.
LERBERNBERERAR MERL BRAR 1,000 1,000 100% 100% REEABETEREE
Shanghai Meili Tianyuan Beauty PRC, limited liability company 5,000 5,000 96% 9%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Development Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
PEEEMEEARRARLA REAY BRAA 5,000 5,000 96% %%  RPEAMRATANRERE
Shanghai Palaispa Beauty Service PRC, limited liability company 100 100 96% 96%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
LERRSEARBERAT MERL BRAR 100 100 96% %%  RPERGREXSNRERS
Shanghai Palaispa Business PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 96% 9%  Management company in the

Management Co., Ltd. PRC
LEAREARERARAA REAY BRAF 1,000 1,000 96% %% ERELNF REKM
Shanghai Palaispa Health Management  PRC, limited liability company 100 100 96% 96%  Provision of beauty and wellness

Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
LERRSERERERAT MERL BRAR 100 100 96% %%  RPEALRATANRERE
Shanghai Pengyiying Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 100 100 100% 100% [T service in the PRC

Service Co., Ltd.
LBRPEERBERAR TR BRAR 100 100 100% 100%  MARERERERESKITRS
Shanghai Ranyou Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 50 50 100% 100%  Management company in the

Management Co., Ltd. PRC
LEBRELEERERAR MER BRAR 50 50 100% 100%  EERE - RERG
Shanghai Ronglin Information PRC, limited liability company 10,000 2,000 100% 100% [T service in the PRC

Technology Co., Ltd.
PERBESMRARDA REA - ERAA 10,000 2,000 100% 100%  RPERBREESRERSE
Shanghai Shuonan Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 30 30 93% 95%  Management company in the

Management Co., Ltd. PRC
LafmtEERERAR MER BRAR 30 30 93% 95%  EEAA REAN
Shanghai Xuanyan Business PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 96% 9%  Management company in the

Management Co., Ltd. PRC
LEEBREERARAT REAY BRLA 1,000 1,000 96% %% EBANF REA
Shanghai Xiujia Business Management  PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 96% 9%  Management company in the

Co., Ltd. PRC
LEAEREERERAR MER BRAR 1,000 1,000 96% %% EEAA REAN
Shanghai Yigao Industrial Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  Products sales in the PRC
FERREEARAA REA - ERAA 1,000 1,000 100% 100% RPEMDETERHE
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R B S AR A R

DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MiE D BFE @

Effective interest held
FRERES
As at December 31,

Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 12318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
PEEL: EMAYL/HIfEER Y 2R/ EROTREHELR 20245 03%F FEEBREEBY

(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)

(Fr - HARKE

K¥EREED)
Shanghai Yingsong Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 50 50 100% 100%  Management company in the
Management Co., Ltd. PRC
LERRGEERERAR RERL BRAR 50 50 100% 100%  EERA- RERG
Shanghai Yiyan Enterprise Management  PRC, limited liability company 30 30 92% 93%  Management company in the
Co., Ltd. PRC
EZHERERERRA PEAY BRAF 30 30 92% 93% ERLF REMD
Shanxi Lixing Tianxia Beauty Co., Ltd. ~ PRC, limited liability company 3,673 3,673 51% 51%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
WEBTRTXABRAR RERL BRAR 3,673 3673 51% 51% R ERbREEENRERE
Shenzhen Beauty Farm Beauty Co., Ltd.  PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 96% 96%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
ATEBREXRERAA PEAY BRAF 2,000 2,000 96% %% RPEALRERENRERR
Taiyuan Xiaodian Yanpan Medical PRC, limited liability company 2,105 2,105 58% 60%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.” services in the PRC
AR NEEFERRXADH RERL BRAR 2,105 2,105 58% 60% RPEABRABEXZES
BRARF
Tianjing Beauty Farm Enterprise PRC, limited liability company 3,636 3,636 78% 81%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Management Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
AEZERECRERRBERLR  HEAMY FRAA 3,636 3,636 8% 81%  MPERREXENRRRSR
Wuhan Beautiful Countryside PRC, limited liability company 500 500 100% 100%  Consulting Services in the PRC
Information Consulting Service
Co., Ltd.
HEMXEABEESHARBERAR PERM ARAF 500 500 100% 100% A ERBREEARE
NG
Wuhan Handerui Beauty Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 700 700 67% 68%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
HEMERREAERAR RER BRAR 700 700 67% 68% M ERbREAEENRERE
Wuhan Meiju Beauty Development PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 87% 88%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
HEXRXAERERLA PEAY BRAF 2,000 2,000 87% 8%  MPEALREXENRRERSR
Wuhan Mengze Jingru Beauty Co., Ltd.  PRC, limited liability company 700 700 64% 65%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
HEBRAMEABRAR RER BRAR 700 700 64% 65% M ERbREEENRERE
Wuhan Yijiang Tianyuan Beauty PRC, limited liability company 800 800 47% 47%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co, Ltd® services in the PRC

RENIARZEAERAFY HER - BRAA 800 800 47% 47%  RHRERBREXANRERS
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38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 KB BFHE @

Effective interest held
FRERES
As at December 31,

Country/Place of Registered/Issued and R124318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
DRER EMAY/HIfEER Y 2R/ EROREHELR 20245 03F  FEXBREEBY

(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)

(F7 - BARKE

BEREED)
Wuhan Yijiangpan Beauty Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 778 778 83% 83%  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
HERIHXABRAR MERL BRAR 778 778 83% 83%  RPERGREXSNRERS
Wuxi Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic PRC, limited liability company 2,450 2,450 60% 60%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Co., Ltd? services in the PRC
ERFRBEIROMARARY  hEAMN ARAF 2,450 2,450 60% 60% RPEARREBEXIZRE
Xiamen Siming Xiukeer Medical PRC, limited liability company 5,000 5,000 60% 60%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd. @ services in the PRC
EFEAATREREXADM MERL BRAR 5,000 5,000 60% 60% REEAMRAERXZRE
BRARF
Xian Beauty Farm Beauty Service PRC, limited liability company 1,667 1,667 57% 59%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
B XEREEAREERAT REAYL BRAA 1,667 1,667 57% 59% AR ERRERENRERSE
Yanyi (Shanghai) Industrial Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 100% 100%  Products sales in the PRC
g (L8 EEBRAR MERL BRAR 10,000 10,000 100% 100% REEABETERSEE
Zhengzhou Beauty Farm Trading PRC, limited liability company 1,500 1,500 94% 95%  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
BNEEMERZERAA REAY BRAF 1,500 1,500 94% 95% R EAMRATANRRRE
Chengdu Yayu Beauty Service Co., Ltd.  PRC, limited liability company 500 500 90% NA  Provision of beauty and wellness
services in the PRC
RERBXRRBERAT MER BRAR 500 500 90% TER  RARERBRAEENRERE
Guangzhou Beauty Farm Healthy PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 100% NA Management company in the
Research Co., Ltd. PRC
EMZEREREFEARLA PENY - ERAF 1,000 1,000 100% TER  EELAE TEAL
Guangzhou Naturade Health PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 70% NA Management company in the
Management Co., Ltd. PRC
EMRREEFERARAA MER BRAR 2,000 2,000 70% TER  EERE REA
Guangzhou Naturade Health Research  PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 70% NA  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
BMRBRREHAERAA ENY - ERAF 10,000 10,000 70% TER  RhEREREXENRE RS
Naturade Beauty Technology (Shenzhen) ~ PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 70% NA  Provision of beauty and wellness
Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
FRAZEHE (R BRAR MER BRAR 10,000 10,000 0% TER  RRERBRAZENRRRS
Controlled by the Company pursuant to the Contractual Agreements (Note 2.1.4)
AR ERESNREEH (F2.1.4)
Shanghai Liernuo Industry PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  Holding company that holds no
Development Co., Ltd more than 30% equity

interest of Restricted Medical

Institutions in the PRC
TEEREERERARAA REM - ERAA 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  REERLEEXRABERE

TRB0%MRENERAR
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38 MIBRARFHE®

Effective interest held

FEERER
As at December 31,
Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 12318 Principle activities and
incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
EMEL/ RIAEER#Y 2R/ CRTREAER 20245 035 EBERREENHD

(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fr MAREE
BEREER)

Controlled by the Company through directly hold and pursuant to the Contractual Agreements (Note 2.1.4)
HERAEBERRERBESHRFEN (HE2.14)

Beijing Hexin Medical Beauty Clinic
Co., Ltd.
FRAREEERFDBERAT
Beijing Meishu Laser Medical Clinic
Co., Ltd.
IRERAABRDHAERAR
Beijing Yanyuan Clinic Co., Ltd.

ERHELHARLA
Changchun Meiju Medical Technology
Development Co., Ltd.
REZRBANRERARLR
Chengdu Gaoxin Meicheng Medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.
RBRHFAREERMDEERAA
Chengdu Gaoxin Xiukeer Medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.
RBRHATIREREZRDARLA
Chengdu Gaoxin Yanyuan Clinic
Co., Ltd.
REASHHELRBRAR
Chongging Xiukeer Comprehensive
Outpatient Department Co., Ltd.

ERAUREAMDHERRA

Haikou Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic
Co., Ltd.

BOAIREREAFIDHBERAA

Haikou Yanyuan Clinic Co., Ltd.

BORRDHAERLA

Hangzhou Liyan Medical Beauty Clinic
Co., Ltd.

MMBHEEXAYMERAR

Hefei Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic
Co., Ltd.

ARAURERXADMARAT

PRC, limited liability company 5,000 5,000 100% 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REM - ERAA 5,000 5,000 100% 100%  RPERBRESEXARE
PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 86% 86%  Provision of subhealth medical
services in the PRC
HER - ERAR 1,000 1,000 86% 86%  RREMNMRAGERERRE
PRC, limited liability company 5,000 5,000 100% 100%  Provision of subhealth medical
services in the PRC
REM - ERAA 5,000 5,000 100% 100%  RREARESRERERE
PRC, limited liability company 8,000 1,350 90% 90%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
mER BRAR 8,000 1,350 90% 0% RPEARREBEZARE
PRC, limited liability company 9,000 6,300 100% 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REM - ERAA 9,000 6,300 100% 100%  RPERBRESEXARE
PRC, limited liability company 746 746 100% 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
mER BRAR 746 746 100% 100% RPEALRUEBEEIRG
PRC, limited liability company 9,000 6,300 100% 100%  Provision of subhealth medical
services in the PRC
REM - ERAA 9,000 6,300 100% 100%  RREARESRERERS
PRC, limited liability company 20,000 20,000 95% 95%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
RER BRAR 20,000 20,000 95% 95%  RPERbREREEARER
TRFBERY
PRC, limited liability company 7,000 7,000 100% 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
PEAY - ERAT 7,000 7,000 100% 100% RPEALREEEXERE
PRC, limited liability company 1,200 1,200 100% 100%  Provision of subhealth medical
services in the PRC
AR BRAR 1,200 1,200 100% 100% RPERBREGERERRS
PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 100% 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
PEAY - ERAT 1,000 1,000 100% 100% RPEALREEEXZRE
PRC, limited liability company 1,000 700 100% 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
AR BRAR 1,000 700 100% 100% RPEALREEEZARE

49
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38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

NAER

Effective interest held

38 MIBRARFHE®

Principle activities and
place of operation

TEXBRERBE

Nanjing Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic

Co., Ltd.
ARANRBRXRDMEARLA
Ningbo Jiangbei Yongjiang Xiukeer

Medical Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.

ERIIBIATREREEDHAR

R
Qingdao Aimei Medical Beauty
Co., Ltd.
EENEREZAERLA
Shanghai Xiukeer Clinic Co., Ltd.

LEEARMAZHERAR

Shenzhen Xiukeer General Outpatient

Department
ANEAREAFD

Tianjin Heping Meicheng Medical
Beauty Clinic Co., Ltd.

RENTEABRREDMARRA

Wuhan Qiyan Comprehensive
Outpatient Department Co., Ltd.

HERREAPDBERAT

Xian Beilin Xiukeer Comprehensive
Outpatient Department Co., Ltd.
BRBHRENRGANDBERLA
Xian Meiju Medical Technology
Development Co., Ltd.
ERERBENAERARLA
Zhengzhou Xiukeer Medical Beauty
Clinic Co., Ltd.
BHAREEERMYERAT

Zhengzhou Liyan Medical Beauty Service

Co, Ltd®
INERERERRBEERAAC

P ERER
As at December 31,

Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 124318

incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023
EREYL/KIFEER$% 2R/ CRIREMESR 2024% 2035F

(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fre BARBEE
BREREER)

PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 100% 100%
FER BRAR 2,000 2,000 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 1,500 1,500 100% 100%
mERM - BRAT 1,500 1,500 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 5,900 5,900 100% 100%
TER ERAR 5,900 5,900 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 30,000 30,000 100% 100%
BRI BRAF 30,000 30,000 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 100% 100%
HEIR - BRAR 10,000 10,000 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 4,000 2,800 100% 100%
FER BRAR 4,000 2,800 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 21,053 21,053 90% 90%
FER BRAR 21,053 21,053 90% 90%
PRC, limited liability company 10,000 8,826 82% 82%
HEIAN - BRAR 10,000 8,826 82% 82%
PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 84% 84%
AR BRAR 2,000 2,000 84% 84%
PRC, limited liability company 7,000 3,500 100% 100%
mERM - BRAF 7,000 3,500 100% 100%
PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 NA 100%
AR BRAR 1,000 1,000 TER 100%

Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC

R BRI R EREEZARS

Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC

RPERERABEZ AR

Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REBERDREEEEA RS
Provision of aesthetic medical
services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
RAEARREEZRRER
DREBRERE
Provision of aesthetic medical
services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
RAERMRREEERRER
DREEERE
Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REBERDREREXE RS
Provision of aesthetic medical
services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
R BRI RREBEXDRBER
DRERERE
Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REBERBREREXE RS
Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REBERBREEEXA RS
Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC
REBERBREREXE RS
Provision of aesthetic medical
services in the PRC

RPEABREBRXRRE
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38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

38

Effective interest held

o BB i R M R

AN
A%/T\ =

M =PNGIEIEC )

P ERER
As at December 31,
Country/Place of Registered/Issued and 12318 Principle activities and
Company name incorporation/establishment paid-up capital 2024 2023 place of operation
PEEL: EMAYL/HIfEER Y 2R/ EROTREHELR 20245 03%F FEEBREEBY
(000, in RMB unless
otherwise stated)
(Fro MARB:
BIESFRA)
Guangzhou Naturade Huangzhou PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 70% NA  Provision of subhealth medical
Traditional Chinese Medicine Clinic services in the PRC
Co., Ltd.
BNRBRENTEDHARAR ERL BRAR 1,000 1,000 70% TER  RRERRETRREERSE
Guangzhou Naturade Jiangnan West PRC, limited liability company 1,000 1,000 70% NA  Provision of subhealth medical
Traditional Chinese Medicine Clinic services in the PRC
Co., Ltd.
BARGZIRATEDHERAR  SERY FRAF 1,000 1,000 70% TER  REBRGRATRRERRE
Guangzhou Naturade Medical Clinic PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 70% NA  Provision of aesthetic medical
Co Ltd. services in the PRC
IR ERFYBERAR REM - ERAA 10,000 10,000 70% TER  RPEREREREZERE
Guangzhou Naturade Medical PRC, limited liability company 8,000 8,000 70% NA  Products sales in the PRC
Instrument Co., Ltd.
BMABRERERARAA PERNN BRAR 8,000 8,000 70% TER  RRERETERKE
Guangzhou Naturade Xinmei Clinic PRC, limited liability company 10,000 10,000 70% NA  Provision of aesthetic medical
Co., Ltd. services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
BNRGREEMYBERLA RERM - BRAT 10,000 10,000 70% TR RPEAREBERARER
DREEERE
Nanjing Xuanwu Meicheng PRC, limited liability company 9,000 6,300 100% NA  Provision of aesthetic medical
Comprehensive Clinic Co., Ltd. services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
HRZBREAGAMIDARLA AR BRAF 9,000 6,300 100% TER  RPERGRABERERER
DRERBERE
Shenzhen Naturade Best Medical Beauty  PRC, limited liability company 4,000 4,000 70% NA  Provision of aesthetic medical
Clinic Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
AIRBR AL ERRREDM RER BRAR 4,000 4,000 70% TER  ReENERESEZARE
Shenzhen Naturade Hongli Clinic Co.,  PRC, limited liability company 5,000 5,000 70% NA  Provision of aesthetic medical
Ltd. services and Subhealth
medical services in the PRC
EYIES FREARE ER - BRAR 5,000 5,000 70% TER  RhERREEEEERER
TREERRE
Shenzhen Naturade Medical Beauty PRC, limited liability company 2,000 2,000 70% NA  Provision of aesthetic medical
Clinic Co., Ltd. services in the PRC
MIFREEEZEMD D REM - ERAA 2,000 2,000 70% TER  RPEREREREXERE
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38 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:
(1)
)

3)
)

(5)

(6)

The entity was deregistered on June 19, 2024.

The effective interest held was no more than 70%, which is the
level of equity interest permitted under the Foreign Ownership
Restriction, thus no Contractual Arrangements were entered into
for these entities.

The entity was deregistered on October 12, 2024.

Although the Group’s shareholding in the entity is lower than
50%, the Group can still control the entity because 4% of the
non-controlling shareholders of the entity act in concert with a
subsidiary of the Group, which makes the voting power reach
51%.

All companies comprising the Group have adopted December 31,
as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the reporting period.

38 MIBRARFHE®

GEE
0
@

3)
)

(5)

(6)

3

ZERCN2024F1 B19B S -

i

P BB ER T HiB70% (RIINE AT A 1R
BT AFFOBREKTE) AR ERAZEE
BRI AHZH -

ZEEDN2024F108 12854 °

BREAEERZELEPNEFRLHER
50%  EHRZEEBNIFIERBRRESI% A
AEBHBRARZ —BITBHAL  EFEIERE
HES1%  AUASEDIEGZERE -

REBEETHEARCRAI12A3HABER
BFEEHER -

RBEMR  BEMBARBITEFNEEE
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CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s subsidiaries had
provided certain corporate guarantees and equity pledge
guarantees to each other with respect to the borrowings. The
Directors believe that the subsidiaries have sufficient financial
resources to settle their debts.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
(a) Disposal of Guangzhou Xiukeer

In September 2024, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with Shanghai Huaxiu Medical
Management Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Huaxiu”), pursuant to
which the Group transferred total equity interest in its
subsidiary Guangzhou Xiukeer Medical Beauty Clinic Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Xiukeer”), to Shanghai Huaxiu, at the
total consideration of RMB210,000.

The Group derecognise the assets and liabilities of
Guangzhou Xiukeer from its consolidated balance sheets
upon losing control. The consideration was determined
based on arm’s length negotiation between the parties by
reference to the net asset of Guangzhou Xiukeer at the
time of the disposal.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no material subsequent events during the period
from January 1, 2025 to the approval date of these
consolidated financial statements by the Board of Directors.

A5 A B R I AR

39 HAEE
HZE202412A318 - AATRMB AT S %
EREHRMEE TR RER I EERIER -
BEEREMBARERECHBEREERS
R ETE -

40 LHE—RBMEBARTE
(a) WEREIMNFZTR
R2024F 98 - AEEE g EFEE
EERBRAR ([ LEBESF]) T RAEE
EaE Bl AEEBHERFER
WMBAREMNEIREEXTZAR
Ral([BNFAR]) Bz T
EEES - BEEAARK210,0007T °

AEERRERHRENEGAEER
BERVEBERREMNBFIRNEERR
& REBTOT2EHEREMER
ENEEFEREATVENEE -

41 #£ERESEHE

H2025F 1 A 1B EHERAM B RREES
St E BE LM WESAHPERERE -
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42 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company

(a)

2 ARREERBERRREEED

(a

ARelEERER

As at December 31,

M12831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
ii=s AR T ARET T
ASSET BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Right-of-use assets CREEE 81 —
Financial assets recognised in RARBERERERR
profit or loss at fair value ERMEE 7,548 —
Investment in a subsidiary R—RHMBRARMHNEKE (i) 113,207 114,199
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 120,836 114,199
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables E 5 W FIA 1,904 —
Prepayments, deposits and other FEf3kIE - & K H A
receivables FE WA 812 56
Financial assets recognised in RO BENERERD
profit or loss at fair value TREE 57,776 198,747
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESFEY 7,757 8,048
Term deposits with initial terms  #]38 A BB =@ A K
of over three months TEHTFE 5K 365,271 308,360
Total current assets MBEEBE 433,520 515,211
Total assets EEHE 554,356 629,410
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H A & BB 34,377 34,034
Lease liabilities HEAE 109 —
Total current liabilities FEBAEHAE 34,486 34,034
Total liabilities EE8E 34,486 34,034
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2 ARREERBRRREREED

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
(a) Balance sheet of the Company (Continued) (@ ARAIEEBERE)
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
k=2 ARET ARET T
EQUITY =
Share capital &N 8 8
Treasury stock E 17 — (6,816)
Share premium It 4 (8 359,802 467,769
Other reserves Hh#F & 143,767 134,876
Retained earnings/(Accumulated REE&F],/ (25t E518)
losses) 16,293 (461)
Total equity M 519,870 595,376
Total equity and liabilities EzkAEEE 554,356 629,410
Net current assets REBEEFE 399,034 481,177
Total assets less current EEHAERABAR
liabilities 519,870 595,376

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on March 26, 2025 and was signed on

its behalf:

KRB EERABEREN202543H26
AiEEed it THUATEEAAER
= -

Mr. Li Yang

FhEEE
Chairman
*E

Mr. Lian Songyong
BMXEE
Director

BF

U,
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42 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(@) Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)

(i) Investment in a subsidiary

42 {ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ%ﬁ

(%
(@) ARREERMEBERXR@E

(i) R-—RWBRAWKE

As at December 31,

R12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARBEF T
Deemed investment arising from AR5 2 A~ &9 RN 53 2
share-based compensation EEMGERE
expenses 25,754 28,618
Investment in subsidiaries REBRARIMIRE 87,453 85,581
113,207 114,199
(b)  Equity movement of the Company by AAFERZEH
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
KRREANERER
Share Other Retained
capital  Treasury shares reserves  Share premium earnings Total
R EFR& Hit G Pyt REEF @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%ETR
Balance at January 1, 2023 R2023F181ANES 7 —* 97,465 84,358 (20,209) 161,621
Profit for the year FRHE - — — — 19,748 19,748
Other comprehensive income 2 EfE - - 28,395 - — 28,395
Total comprehensive income 2HNEAE — — 28,395 — 19,748 48,143
Transactions with owners HEBARS
Issuance of ordinary shares upon global A2 &% BTEREMR
offering 1 — — 506,544 — 506,545
Listing fees through equity AR ETER - - - (33,928) — (33,928)
Treasury shares purchased EREETR — (12,012) — — — (12,012)
Treasury shares cancelled BHEERR —* 5,19 - (5,196) - -
Share-based payment expenses MR XA 8RS — — 9,016 — — 9,016
Dividends declared BEERRSE - - - (84,009) — (84,009)
1 (6,816) 9,016 383,411 — 385,612
Balance at December 31, 2023 R2023F12A31 A& 8 (6,816) 134,876 467,769 (461) 595,376

* Less than RMB1,000

* LA AR 1,0007T
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42 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Equity movement of the Company (Continued)

A5 A B R I AR

EEERERRARELEDY

bl

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

EARBEAEERR

Share Treasury Other Share Retained
capital shares reserves premium earnings Total
RE EFR Hitt B R EE REEH act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTR AR¥TR ARETRE AR®TnT ARETR
Balance at January 1, 2024 R2024F151AMES 8 (6,816) 134,876 467,769 (461) 595,376
Profit for the year FRFE = = = = 16,754 16,754
Other comprehensive income HEth2mElaE - - 11,755 - - 11,755
Total comprehensive income 2AKRREE = = 11,755 = 16,754 28,509

Transactions with owners HEBARS

Treasury shares cancelled BHHERR = 6,816 = (6,816) = =
Share-based payment expenses IR E A RS = - (2,864) - - (2,864)
Dividends declared BERRS = = = (101,151) = (101,151)
=6 6,816 (2,864) (107,967) = (104,015)
Balance at December 31, 2024 R20245 1231 B Eeh 8 = 143,767 359,802 16,293 519,870

* Less than RMB1,000

43 OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

43.1

43.2

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable. Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision
maker of the Company assesses the financial
performance and position of the Group, and makes
strategic decisions. The chief operating decision maker of
the Group consists of the executive directors and the
chief financial officer.

* PR AREE,0007T

43 HAiEstBE

431

43.2

J8 3 B 7 R

PP B A B Y1 & 42 K AR E R E A
fR o ABRERXBERERA - (B
RAEMEABAR AR W R KRR
HEEAR - W BBHMBARRE IR
fe SHIR 2 S AR - SIB I B
WERPREREEBHEAS M B RERM
TEEHREEFE (BERE) NRE
B AIERBEZSREVRESR 4
M A R EEITRERIR -

BRRHOALRE T~ - NAFN
IBRERRETEARENT BRI
R - WA BERE - REEME
BRERREBRATEERERYT

=
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43 OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

43.3 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The Company’s functional currency is
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"). As the majority of the
assets and operations of the Group are located in
the PRC, the consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (RMB).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of profit
or loss, within finance costs. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of profit or loss on a net basis within
other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

43

HMEstBE @

433 HNEBRE

(i)

(ii)

Y E It
FARKEERBMBREANA
B RREBKEMENTER
BRENEE ([T E % )&t
E-ARAYEEERET(E
T c ARAKREABNEERK
EBAMRPE - BURE P HR
RUARBE(ARE) 27 -

INER B A ERIGE
Rz A EZBEINEEHE
WEBEENAGEMNELMNINE
Woak N B 1R — RN IB R FERR o

B TRA R ME U & R B IR R
BREARNVBREARNZY - A
H M HME Woas R BRI R IBEE R
M E MYz (B 1R) RS R
5I) o

BRAREE S RAIMNEFHED
FEREARREEAAEEES
BRERBE - 2R BEIIK
MEERABREZEERAR
AEERDELEEN D
o FEREENRBE (WRAR
BEFABSHAENEE) WEE
ZENERaNERR/AABER
HEBEN LD MIEEKE
E (WD BREARBEFFAEMD
PERSHIELS) MIRE ERENE
b 2 s N RERR
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43 HgBER )
433 HNE]E (8)
(i) Group companies (i) &

D ERE25EE TR EH

43 OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

43.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

J i
D
el

The results and financial position of foreign

operations (none of which has the currency of a ¥ (BT ETWEBEERE
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional BELBRBOEE) E2ERMBRK
currency different from the presentation currency NIBAT T EBRERZNNEE
are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet

income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

43.4 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally leasehold office
buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and are not
occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and
where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Depreciation of the investment properties is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate cost over their
estimated useful lives of 20 to 50 years.

- SHARREREMEE
PaEn A B B % e T
ERH (5 UL TR R T
352 5 FHAEE % ¢ ZA B
EHABOK  ELER
TRERZSABS
%) R

. FRERLEENELZR
HREMPEKEESR -

43.4 I EYF
REYE (FEAEERQIKE) BKER
EPASREMEE  WIEMRERN
A REMENSRRA (BIFERER
SRAREBRRA(WER))EHE - &
% REYERRARZHITE RRE
BRI -

BREWMEREERBERLTE  URE
fEEH A6 & 33 (20 50F ) W 73 Bd AX
o o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

A7 A B R T AR

43 OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

43.5

43.6

43.7

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included
in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets, see
Note 22.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43 OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

43.7

43.8

43.9

Interest income (Continued)

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is
earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at
the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the
related assets.
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DEFINITIONS

&

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have the following meanings.

"AGM"

[BRBFAE]

“Audit Committee”
[EZZET]

"Beauty Farm”, “Group”,

noou "

“our Group”, “our”,

" "

we”, or "us”

[XEEE]  [AEE] -
[SRE]  T3 )=k
[ 4F

“Board” or “Board of
Directors”

E5g]

"CG Code”
[ RE8 A

“China” or “PRC"
[ ]
“Company” or “our

Company”

NI AN

“Director(s)”

[E%)

“dual beauty + dual wellness

business model”

X+ EREHEERN]

"EUR"
BT )

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EARFEHRA  BXESEREN > TIHFREEEMA
RCE-

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday,
June 27, 2025
ARRHNR2025F6 A278 (EMH) BONEERRBFRE

the audit committee of the Board
ExeEkELEY

the Company and its subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may require
or, where the context refers to any time prior to its incorporation, the business
which its predecessors or the predecessors of its present subsidiaries, or any one of
them as the context may require, were or was engaged in and which were
subsequently assumed by it

ARAFIREMBAR  skEPEM—KAF (WMXEEERE) - (X EIEBET
AR MBS ) Hp 5 ARk HIREHBARNAE AR skEFA T —K
NAI (A EFREATE) BN ER AR A AENER

the board of directors of the Company
KRAREEE

the “Corporate Governance Code” as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

L RRIM ERC1 PR [ R EVR TR

the People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this annual report and
for geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
HREARKNE RAFHREERMBZENS  TREEE  RFARAE

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc., an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 10, 2022
FEHNRBREREELERAR  M2022F210BRHASESEMA I NERR
BRAF

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

ARAEEFREPEMN—BRES

the Group's latest upgraded and iterative business model, whereby the Group
attracts quality customers through premium beauty service stores and premium Al-
Powered wellness services stores, thereby fostering customer loyalty to the brand
and identifying their in-depth needs. The Company provides aesthetic medical
services and subhealth medical services to meet the escalating needs of customers
throughout their lifecycle

REBESAATERNBEEN - KB BSIRETRBFIE S & R
EEGEENER HMREYEFAMEBERELEREFRER K - AAFREB
REBREAULGRERBEREMEEF 2 aBERNTRET X

Euro, the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union
BT BB B RREE



“Global Offering”

[2IREE

“Guangzhou Naturade
Group”

- ES e

"HK$", “HKD" or
“Hong Kong dollars”

[%7T]

"HKFRS"
(BB B HE 2R

"Hong Kong”
[&#]

“Listing”
[ £

“Listing Rules”
[EAR A
"LPG BF+ Program”

[LPG BF+IE A |

“Model Code”
[1Z%E=F A

“Naturade”

ESrA

20245k XEBHEBERREXBFRAR 263

DEFINITIONS

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering, details of which are
set forth in the Prospectus

FEELHBEENREREE  ARFABIANARER

Guangzhou Naturade Health Consulting Co., Ltd. (BMNERREEEEER A R)
and its subsidiaries, branch companies of its subsidiaries
BENEmZREEEERATREMBEAR - MEBAR S AA

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BILREBI  BEBEEEEE

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
EB B mE 4R

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B F B RITTBUR

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Pty A B S P £ R £ TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

EEMERSMBRAREZ EMARMNETRER - R U E g

aesthetic instrument program tailored by LPG SYSTEMS, SOCIETE ANONYME for the
Company

LPG SYSTEMS, SOCIETE ANONYME GEBILPG R4 {3 AR A B)) B4R BE Hl#y 3
AiEeRIEAE

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FARBIMERCIPTEM [ L BEITAEFTETESRR HNIRETA

Guangzhou Naturade Health Consulting Co., Ltd. (EM=ImR@EEEERAR),
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, which together with its subsidiaries
operate the Group’s premium Al-powered wellness services under the Naturade
brand

BNRHEREREBERAG  RAKEIFZEMBE LG  EREMB R BARE
RmEEEREESHmEREERYE



"

264

DEFINITIONS

“Over-allotment Option”

[ 768 %R i IS

“Palaispa”

"“Prospectus”

[ =z

“R&D"
[ % |

"

“Reporting Period
[ ¥ & HAH

“RMB”
TAR®]

“Share(s)”
%15 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2 |

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 32 FAr

“Subsidiary”
[ B &8 2 7]

"US$"” or "USD”
=

nop
[% ]

Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

the option granted by us to the International Underwriters exercisable by the
Overall Coordinators on behalf of the International Underwriters under the
International Underwriting Agreement. On February 3, 2023, the Group allotted
6,080,000 Shares at a price of HK$19.32 per Share. The Company received
additional net proceeds of approximately HK$111.1 million from the exercise of the
Over-allotment Option. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated January 13, 2023 and February 5, 2023, respectively

AP ER B S R L A B AR - AT BB R A AR BB B B B AR U B R B 8 1
BT - 20232 A3H - AREIZEA19.328 A% 6,080,000/ A& (5 © A2 7]
BITERAEREEGRINIERIEFENNABEET - FEH2HEARAH
B35 5 /202341 A13H k202362 A5H 2 A%

a beauty brand under Beijing Palaispa Commercial Management Co., Ltd., mainly
focus on providing high-end facial care and European imported products to
customers

IRERFHEETEBRARMETERMIE - FEFF RN A = i 1 50 22 K BUM
¥ O EE fa (A B = 4R 1 AR 7%

the prospectus of the Company dated December 30, 2022
ANABHEA2022F12 A30H BB ER

research and development
9t K FA B

the year ended December 31, 2024
HE2024F12A31HILEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR HBEEE

ordinary share(s) in the capital of our Company with a nominal value of
US$0.000005 each
AN A B BE AN FR AR T 1E.0.000005 35 7T MY 38 A%

holder(s) of the Share(s)
EEUESTEWN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBERSHMABR AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

HAB EWRRIAE T HRE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XBDEEER

per cent
Aot
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